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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

General
The information below is for general guidance only and it is the responsibility of any person or persons in
possession of this document to inform themselves of, and to observe, all applicable laws and regulations of
any relevant jurisdiction.

This document contains statements that are or may be forward-looking statements. All statements other
than statements of historical facts included in this document may be forward-looking statements, including
statements that relate to the Company’s future prospects, developments and strategies.

Forward-looking statements are identified by their use of terms and phrases such as “believes”, “targets”,
“expects”, “aims”, “anticipates”, “projects”, “would”, “could”, “envisages”, “estimates”, “intends”, “may”,
“plans”, “will” or the negative of those, variations or comparable expressions, including references to
assumptions. The forward-looking statements in this document are based on current expectations and are
subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance and
achievements to differ materially from any results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those described in
the Risk Factors set out in Part 1 of this document. These forward-looking statements are based on
numerous assumptions regarding the present and future business strategies of such entity and the
environment in which each will operate in the future. All subsequent oral or written forward-looking
statements attributed to the Company or any persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by the cautionary statement above.

Each forward-looking statement speaks only as at the date of this document. Except as required by law,
regulatory requirement, the listing rules of the CISEA, the AIM Rules or the Market Abuse Regulation, neither
the Company nor any other party intends to update or revise these forward-looking statements, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

You are advised to read this document and, in particular, the Risk Factors, for a further discussion of the
factors that could affect the Company’s future performance and the markets in which it operates. In light of
these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forward-looking statements in this
document may or may not occur. You should note that the contents of these paragraphs relating to forward-
looking statements are not intended to qualify the statements made as to sufficiency of working capital in
this document.

The Company is not offering any Ordinary Shares or any other securities in connection with Admission.
Ordinary Shares will not be generally made available or marketed to the public in the UK or any other
jurisdiction in connection with Admission. This document does not constitute, and may not be used for the
purposes of, an offer to sell or issue or the solicitation of an offer to buy or subscribe for any Ordinary Shares
to or from any person in any jurisdiction.

Nothing contained in this document is intended to constitute investment, legal, tax, accounting or other
professional advice. This document is for information only and nothing in this document is intended to
endorse or recommend a particular course of action. Prospective investors must rely upon their own
professional advisers, including their own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, financial or tax.
Statements made in this document are based on the law and practice currently in force in England and
Wales and in Guernsey, and are subject to change.

N+1 Singer is advising the Company only and will not provide any advice to any other person in relation to
any transaction or arrangement referred to in this document. Accordingly, recipients should note that N+1
Singer is neither advising nor treating as a client any other person and will not be responsible to anyone
other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to clients of N+1 Singer nor for providing
advice in relation to any transaction or arrangement referred to in this document. In particular, the provision
of this document by N+1 Singer to any person is not a personal recommendation in respect of any
investment in the Company and/or the Ordinary Shares; and N+1 Singer is not required to assess the
suitability of any transaction or arrangement referred to in this document, and no relevant person will benefit
from the protection of the rules on assessing suitability in relation thereto.
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THE ORDINARY SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED
STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY US STATE
SECURITIES LAWS. ORDINARY SHARES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO,
OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, US PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT) UNLESS THE OFFER AND SALE OF THE SHARES HAS BEEN
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND THE COMPANY IS REGISTERED UNDER THE
US INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED (THE “US INVESTMENT COMPANY
ACT”) OR AN APPLICABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT AND THE US INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT IS AVAILABLE.

The Ordinary Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the SEC, any US state securities
commission or any other US regulatory authority nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or
endorsed the merits of the offering of the Ordinary Shares or the accuracy or adequacy of this document.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

The Ordinary Shares are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale within the United States and
may not be transferred or resold in the United States except pursuant to a valid exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act, the US Investment Company Act and state securities laws.

FATCA
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH UNITED STATES TREASURY DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR 230,
EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IN THE COMPANY IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT: (A) ANY
DISCUSSION OF US TAX ISSUES HEREIN IS NOT INTENDED TO BE RELIED UPON, AND CANNOT
BE RELIED UPON, BY A PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES
THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON SUCH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR UNDER APPLICABLE TAX LAW;
(B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS INCLUDED HEREIN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR
MARKETING (WITHIN THE MEANING OF TREASURY DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR 230) OF THE
OFFER TO SELL SHARES BY THE COMPANY; AND (C) A PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IN SHARES
IN THE COMPANY SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES
FROM AN INDEPENDENT ADVISER.

US source payments to the Company may be subject to withholding as a result of the Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (“FATCA”) provisions of the US Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act. FATCA is an
automatic exchange of information regime aimed at foreign financial institutions (“FFIs”) and other financial
intermediaries to prevent tax evasion by US citizens and residents through use of offshore accounts. For
the purposes of the FATCA rules and regulations, the Company expects that it will be treated as a FFI.

FATCA generally imposes a new reporting regime and potentially a 30 per cent. withholding tax with respect
to certain US source income (including dividends and interest) and gross proceeds from the sale or other
disposal of property that can produce US source interest or dividends (“Withholdable Payments”). As a
general matter, the new rules are designed to require US Persons’ direct and indirect ownership of non-US
accounts and non-US entities to be reported to the US Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). The 30 per cent.
withholding tax regime applies if there is a failure to provide required information regarding US ownership.

Generally, the new rules will subject all Withholdable Payments received by the Company to 30 per cent.
withholding tax (including the share that can be allocated to non-US Persons) unless compliance with the
new rules by the Company is pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement between the jurisdiction in which
the Company is based and the US (as to which see references to the US-Guernsey IGA and referred to
below) or the Company enters into an agreement (an “FFI Agreement”) with the IRS to provide information,
representations and waivers of non-US law as may be required to comply with the provisions of the new
rules, including information regarding its direct and indirect US accountholders.

US-Guernsey Intergovernmental Agreement
On 13 December 2013 the Chief Minister of Guernsey signed an intergovernmental agreement with the US
(the “US-Guernsey IGA”) regarding the implementation of FATCA, under which certain disclosure requirements
are imposed in respect of certain investors in the Company who are, or being entities that are controlled by
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one or more, residents or citizens of the US. The US-Guernsey IGA has been implemented through Guernsey’s
domestic legislation, in accordance with guidance which is currently published in draft form.

The first reporting deadline applicable to the Company in respect of calendar year 2016 information for US
reportable accounts is 30 June 2017 and will take place annually thereafter, although the Company will have
certain other obligations with which to comply from the date it is incorporated.

UK-Guernsey Intergovernmental Agreement
On 22 October 2013 the Chief Minister of Guernsey signed an intergovernmental agreement with the UK
(the “UK-Guernsey IGA”) under which certain disclosure requirements will be imposed in respect of certain
investors in the Company who are, or being entities that are controlled by one or more, residents of the UK.
The UK-Guernsey IGA has been implemented through Guernsey’s domestic legislation, in accordance with
guidance which is currently published in draft form.

It is expected that the UK-Guernsey IGA will be amended to reflect the Common Reporting Standard, which
may result in some changes to the Company’s reporting obligations under this intergovernmental agreement.
The Company’s reporting obligations towards the UK and other participant jurisdictions under the new CRS
regime will commence in 2017.

Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”)
On 13 February 2014, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development released a Common
Reporting Standard (“CRS”) designed to create a global standard for the automatic exchange of financial
account information, similar to the information to be reported under FATCA. On 29 October 2014, Guernsey
signed a Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement (“Multilateral Agreement”) pursuant to which certain
disclosure requirements will be imposed in respect of certain investors in the Company who are, or are
entities that are controlled by one or more, residents of any of the signatory jurisdictions.

Guernsey is committed to the adoption of the global Common Reporting Standard on Automatic Exchange
of Information with effect from 1 January 2016, with first reporting taking place in 2017. Guernsey issued
domestic regulations for the implementation of the CRS on 25 November 2015, followed by the publication
of the local CRS Guidance Notes on 24 December 2015. The full impact of the CRS on the Company, as it
will be implemented in each jurisdiction, is currently uncertain.

Request for Information
The Company reserves the right to request from any investor or potential investor such information as the
Company deems necessary to comply with FATCA, any FFI Agreement from time to time in force, or any
obligation arising under the implementation of any applicable intergovernmental agreement, including the
US-Guernsey IGA, the UK-Guernsey IGA and the Multilateral Agreement.

FATCA, THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS AND THE CRS ARE PARTICULARLY
COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE COMPANY, INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY AND
THE HOLDERS THEREOF IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS TIME. EACH POTENTIAL INVESTOR SHOULD
CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF FATCA, THE
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS AND THE CRS AND HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT
AFFECT A POTENTIAL INVESTOR IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

The Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2001
Pursuant to The Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2001, as amended, (the “DP Law”) the
Company and/or its Registrar may hold personal data (as defined in the DP Law) relating to past and present
Shareholders. Such personal data held is used by the Registrar to maintain the Company’s register of
Shareholders and mailing lists and this may include sharing such data with third parties in one or more of
the countries mentioned below when: (a) effecting the payment of dividends and other moneys to
Shareholders; and (b) filing returns of Shareholders and their respective transactions in Ordinary Shares with
statutory bodies and regulatory authorities. Personal data may be retained on record for a period exceeding
six years after it is no longer used. The countries referred to above include, but need not be limited to, those
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in the European Economic Area or the European Union and any of their respective dependent territories
overseas, Andorra, Argentina, Canada, Faroe Islands, State of Israel, New Zealand, Switzerland and the
Eastern Republic of Uruguay. By becoming registered as a holder of Ordinary Shares a person becomes a
data subject (as defined in the DP Law) and is deemed to have consented to the processing by the Company
or its Registrar of any personal data relating to them in the manner described above.
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Publication of this document 25 August 2016
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Notes:

1. The times and date(s) set out in the above timetable and mentioned in this document are subject to change by the Company
(with the agreement of N+1 Singer).

2. References to times in this document are to Guernsey times unless otherwise stated.
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ISIN for Ordinary Shares GG00BZ6VP173

SEDOL (LSE) BZ6VP17
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PART 1

RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other relevant information set out in this document, the following specific factors
should be considered carefully by potential investors in evaluating whether to make an investment
in the Company.

The Directors believe the risks set out below to be the most significant for potential investors.
The risks listed, however, do not necessarily comprise all those associated with an investment in
the Company and are not intended to be presented in any assumed order of priority. In particular,
the Company’s performance may be materially adversely affected by changes in legal, regulatory
and tax requirements in any of the jurisdictions in which it operates or intends to operate as well
as overall global financial conditions. In such cases, the market price of the Ordinary Shares
could decline due to any of these risks and investors could lose all or part of their investment.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Directors, or that the Directors
currently deem immaterial, may also have an adverse effect on the Company.

An investment in the Ordinary Shares is only suitable for financially sophisticated investors who are capable
of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment, or other investors who have been professionally
advised with regard to investment, and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses which
may arise therefrom (which may be equal to the whole amount invested). Such an investment should be
seen as complementary to existing investments in a wide spread of other financial assets and should not
form a major part of an investment portfolio. Investors should not consider investing in the Ordinary Shares
unless they already have a diversified investment portfolio.

Higher risk in shares quoted on AIM than those quoted on the Official List
Following Admission, the Ordinary Shares will be admitted to AIM. An investment in shares quoted on AIM
may be less liquid and may carry a higher risk than an investment in shares quoted on the Official List of the
UK Listing Authority. The rules of AIM are less demanding than those of the Official List. Further, the London
Stock Exchange has not itself examined or approved the contents of this document. A prospective investor
should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after careful consideration and, if appropriate, consultation with an independent financial adviser.

Volatility in the price of the Ordinary Shares
The price of Ordinary Shares will fluctuate and may not always reflect the prospects of the Company. The
price of Ordinary Shares may fall in response to market appraisal of the Company’s current strategy or if the
Company’s results and/or prospects from time to time are below the prior expectations of market analysts
and investors. In addition, stock markets have, from time to time, experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations that have affected the market price of securities for reasons unrelated to their operating
performance and prospects. A number of factors outside the control of the Company may have an impact
on its performance and the price of the Ordinary Shares, which may rise or fall rapidly. The factors which
may affect the share price include (but are not limited to): (i) the Group’s expected and actual performance;
(ii) speculation regarding the intentions of the Company’s major Shareholders or significant sales of Ordinary
Shares by such Shareholders; and (iii) general economic and market conditions. Investors may, therefore,
not be able to sell at a price which permits them to recover their original investment and could lose their
entire investment.

Currency risk
The Group’s reporting currency and Ordinary Shares will be denominated in Sterling. Through its activities
in emerging markets the Group will have underlying exposure to a range of emerging market currencies.
Accordingly, the Group’s earnings may be affected favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency
rates.

The Board may engage in currency hedging in seeking to mitigate foreign exchange risk although there can
be no guarantees or assurances that the Group will successfully hedge against such risks.

AI 4
AIII 2
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The Company has no operating history
The Company is newly incorporated, has not commenced operations and has no operating history. No
historical financial statements or other meaningful operating or financial data upon which prospective
investors may base an evaluation of the likely performance of the Company have been prepared. An
investment in the Company is therefore subject to all the risks and uncertainties associated with a new
business.

Liquidity risk
Notwithstanding the admission of the Ordinary Shares to listing on the CISEA and to AIM, the Ordinary
Shares may have limited liquidity. An investment in shares quoted on AIM may be less liquid and may carry
a higher risk than an investment in shares quoted on the Official List of the United Kingdom Listing Authority.
AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies. The rules of this market are less
demanding than the Official List. In particular, the market for Ordinary Shares may become or may be
relatively illiquid and therefore, such Ordinary Shares may be or may become difficult to sell.

Shareholders’ ability to realise their investment is dependent on the existence of a liquid market in the
Ordinary Shares and on the extent of its liquidity. Investors should not expect that they will necessarily be
able to realise, within a period which they would otherwise regard as reasonable, their investment in the
Ordinary Shares, nor can they be certain that they will be able to realise their investment on a basis that
necessarily reflects the value of the Group’s portfolio.

There can be no certainty of any liquidity in the Ordinary Shares admitted to listing on the CISEA and to
AIM. There can be no guarantee that a liquid market in the Ordinary Shares will develop. If such a market
does not develop, relatively small transactions may have a significant negative impact on the price of the
Ordinary Shares while transactions or intended transactions related to a significant number of Ordinary
Shares may be difficult to execute at a stable price.

Dilution risk
The Company may issue additional shares from time to time, including pursuant to any incentive plan which
may be adopted by the Company following Admission. Any additional issuances by the Company, or the
possibility of such issues, may cause the market price of the existing Ordinary Shares to decline and will
dilute the voting rights of the holders of Ordinary Shares.

Although there are pre-emption rights in the Articles in respect of the allotment of Ordinary Shares, these
rights have been disapplied in respect of 7,805,500 Ordinary Shares and do not, in any event, apply to
Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to any incentive plan.

The Ordinary Shares may be subject to significant forced transfer provisions
The Ordinary Shares have not been registered and will not be registered in the United States under the US
Securities Act or under any other applicable securities laws. Moreover, the Ordinary Shares have only been
offered and sold outside the United States to non-US Persons (as defined in Regulation S under the US
Securities Act).

If at any time the holding or beneficial ownership of any shares in the Company by any person (whether on
its own or taken with other shares), in the opinion of the Directors: (i) would cause the assets of the Company
to be treated as “plan assets” of any benefit plan investor under section 3(42) of ERISA or the US Code; or
(ii) would or might result in the Company and shares issued by the Company being required to register or
qualify under the US Investment Company Act and/or the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and/or any
laws of any state of the US that regulate the offering and sale of securities; or (iii) may cause the Company
not to be considered a “Foreign Private Issuer” under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Directors
may require the holder of such shares to dispose of such shares and, if the shareholder does not sell such
shares, may dispose of such shares on their behalf. These restrictions may make it more difficult for a US
Person to hold and shareholders generally to sell the Ordinary Shares and may have an adverse effect on
the market value of the Ordinary Shares.
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Emerging markets
The Group will carry on its business in global emerging markets. The economies of individual emerging
countries may differ favourably or unfavourably from the economies of more developed or other emerging
market countries in such respects as growth of gross domestic product, higher rates of inflation, rapid
interest rate fluctuations, currency appreciation or depreciation, asset reinvestment, state of technological
development, resource self-sufficiency, dependency upon international trade, capital flows and balance of
payments position.

Government and political regimes, local laws and regulations, central bank policies, social and economic
stability, protection of legal rights and the effectiveness of the legal and financial system differ materially
across many emerging market countries, and are often subject to change at a faster pace than in more
developed countries. Government intervention in the private sector and financial markets varies between
different emerging market countries, and may include nationalisation, expropriation, confiscatory levels of
taxation, imposition of withholding or other taxes on dividends, interest, capital gains or other income as
well as capital. Emerging market governments may introduce new or impose additional registration
requirements for domestic investments and restrictions on the repatriation of foreign direct or indirect
investments, wage and price controls, trade barriers and other protectionist measures.

Similarly, emerging market countries have been and may continue to be adversely affected by trade barriers,
exchange controls, managed adjustments in relative currency values and other protectionist measures
imposed or negotiated by the countries with which they trade, as well as by shifts in the social, economic
conditions and policies in the countries with which they trade. In addition, the Group may be subject to the
possible adoption of governmental restrictions which might adversely affect payments on securities or restrict
payments to investors located outside the country of the issuers, whether from currency blockage or
otherwise and with respect to any emerging market country in which the Group operates, there is the
possibility of limitations on the removal of funds or other assets of the Group. All these and related factors
remain volatile and there can be no assurance that future developments in emerging markets or more
developed markets will not lead to social, economic or political developments in emerging markets that are
or may become detrimental to and adversely affect the value of the Group’s portfolio.

Where the Group holds or acquires securities of issuers based in certain emerging markets, this may carry
a greater degree of risk than an acquisition of securities of issuers based in more developed countries.
Among other things, such emerging market securities may carry the risks of less publicly available and less
reliable information, lower liquidity, significantly more volatile markets and temporary trading suspensions,
less strict securities market and other financial regulation, less favourable tax provisions, settlements being
slower and subject to greater risk of failure, intermediaries being less experienced or technologically
equipped, as well as custodians not offering the level of service, administration and safe-keeping that is
customary in more developed markets. The Group may not always be recognised as the owner of securities
held by local custodians.

Regulatory controls and corporate governance of companies in emerging markets may confer little protection
on minority shareholders. Anti-fraud and anti-insider trading legislation is often rudimentary. The concept of
fiduciary duty to shareholders by officers and directors may also be limited when compared to such concepts
in developed markets. In certain instances management may take significant actions without the consent
of shareholders and anti-dilution protection also may be limited.

Many of the laws that govern private investment, securities transactions and other contractual relationships
in emerging markets are new and largely untested. As a result, the Group may be subject to a number of
unusual risks, including inadequate investor protection, contradictory legislation, incomplete, unclear and
changing laws, ignorance or breaches of regulations on the part of other market participants, lack of
established or effective avenues for legal redress, lack of standard practices and confidentiality customs
characteristic of developed markets and lack of enforcement of existing regulations. Furthermore, it may be
difficult to obtain and enforce a judgment in certain of the emerging markets in which assets of the Group
may be located. There can be no assurance that this difficulty in protecting and enforcing rights will not have
a material adverse effect on the Group and its operations.

Fraud, bribery and corruption are more common in some jurisdictions than in others. Doing business in
international developing markets brings with it inherent risks associated with enforcement of obligations,
fraud, bribery and corruption. Although the Company will put in place policies in respect of fraud, bribery
and corruption, it may not be possible for the Group to detect or prevent every instance of fraud, bribery

12



and corruption in every jurisdiction to which it has exposure. The Group may therefore be subject to civil
and criminal penalties and to reputational damage. Instances of fraud, bribery and corruption, and violations
of laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Group may operate could have a material adverse
effect on its business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Concentration risks
There are no limits on the Group’s level of activities within any particular country, region or sector and no
limits on the level of exposure to individual companies or assets. Where the Group has a large exposure to
a particular country, region, sector, company, asset or asset class, this may lead to greater volatility of
earnings to the Group and adverse events impacting such exposure will materially and adversely impact
the earnings of the Company.

Valuation risk
From time to time, certain assets may be difficult to value, or may be attributed a zero value where the
Directors, at their absolute discretion, believe that such valuation would be appropriate and in the absence
of any reliable market valuation.

Derivatives

The Group may utilise both exchange-traded and over-the-counter derivatives for risk management and
hedging purposes, including, but not limited to, futures, forwards, swaps, options and contracts for
differences. These instruments can be highly volatile and expose investors to a high risk of loss. The low
initial margin deposits sometimes required to establish a position at the outset in such instruments may
permit a high degree of leverage. As a result, depending on the type of instrument, a relatively small
movement in the price of a contract may result in a profit or a loss which is high in proportion to the amount
of funds actually placed as initial margin and may result in potentially unquantifiable further loss exceeding
any margin deposited. In the event that a call for further margin exceeds the amount of cash available in the
Group, the Group will be required to close out the relevant contract. In addition, daily limits on price
fluctuations and speculative position limits on exchanges may prevent prompt liquidation of positions
resulting in potentially greater losses. Transactions in over-the-counter contracts may involve additional risk
as there is no exchange market on which to close out an open position. It may be impossible to liquidate
an existing position, to assess the value of a position or to assess the exposure to risk. Contractual
asymmetries and inefficiencies can also increase risk, such as break clauses. The Group may also sell
covered and uncovered options on securities and other assets. To the extent that such options are
uncovered, the Group could incur an unlimited loss.

Borrowing risk
The Group may employ borrowings in connection with its business activities. Prospective investors should
be aware that in the event that the Group’s income falls for whatever reason, the use of borrowings will
increase the impact of such a fall on the net revenue of the Group. The Group will pay interest on any
borrowing it incurs. As such, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing
market rates. Interest rate movements may affect the level of income receivable by the Company and the
interest payable on the Group’s variable rate borrowings.

Key person risk
The Group believes that its performance will greatly depend upon the expertise and continued services of
certain key personnel, in particular Bart Turtelboom and other members of senior management. The Group
cannot guarantee the retention of such key and industry specialist personnel who are not obligated to remain
employed in their roles. If Bart Turtelboom or any other members of senior management were to resign or
otherwise be unable for any reason to devote sufficient time to providing services to the Group, the Group’s
future success would depend on the continued service of the remaining individuals and their ability to recruit,
retain and motivate new talented personnel.

Risks relating to the acquisition of APQ Alexandria
Pursuant to the terms of a share purchase agreement dated 10 August 2016, the Company acquired the
entire voting share capital of APQ Alexandria and ultimately the Master Fund.

AXV 2.8
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APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund are subject to the risk of the inability of any of their counterparties to
perform with respect to transactions, whether due to bankruptcy, insolvency or other causes.

The Master Fund may invest in credit default swaps. Credit default swaps carry specific risks, including
credit risk events such as bankruptcy or failure to pay, high levels of gearing, the possibility that premiums
are paid for credit default swaps which expire worthless, wide bid/offer spreads and documentation risks.
The Master Fund may invest in debt securities which may be unrated or below investment grade and which
are subject to greater loss of principal and interest than higher-rated debt securities. The Master Fund may
use both exchange-traded and over-the-counter derivatives, including, but not limited to, futures, forwards,
swaps, options and contracts for differences. These instruments can be volatile and expose investors to a
high risk of loss. The Master Fund may employ leverage for investment purposes. This exposes to the Group
to the risks associated with borrowings.

The Master Fund may invest in economies where the risks associated with holding currency are structurally
greater than in other countries. Currency exchange rates are highly volatile and subject to severe event risks,
as the political situation with regard to the relevant foreign government may itself be volatile. Moreover, if the
cash flow of the relevant assets is contingent, it may be difficult to quantify the attendant cross-currency
risk, compounding the risk of changes in underlying currencies by the other risks in the Master Fund’s
portfolio.

Where the Master Fund’s securities are registered or recorded in the name of its custodian or a sub-
custodian, they may not be segregated and hence may not be as well protected as if they were registered
or recorded in the name of the Master Fund. In addition, the Master Fund’s cash held with its custodian
may not be segregated from the custodian’s own cash and in such circumstance may be used by the
custodian in the course of its business. The Master Fund will therefore rank as an unsecured creditor in
relation thereto, and accordingly the Master Fund may be unable to recover such cash from the insolvent
estate of the custodian in full, or at all.

Dividend risk
There is no guarantee that any dividends will be paid in respect of any financial year or period. The ability to
pay dividends is dependent on a number of factors including the level of income returns from the Group’s
businesses. There can be no guarantee that the Group will achieve the target rates of return referred to in
this document or that it will not sustain any capital losses through its activities.

Possible changes in the tax position of the Company
Any change in the Company’s tax position or status or in tax legislation (including tax rates), or in the
interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities or courts could adversely affect the value of assets held by
the Group (including the Master Fund) or affect the Company’s ability to implement its strategy. Any such
change could adversely affect the net amount of any distributions payable to Shareholders or the tax
treatment of distributions received by Shareholders. Furthermore, the Company may incur costs in taking
steps to mitigate this effect. As a result, any such change may have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s performance, financial condition or prospects.

Taxes imposed in jurisdictions where the Group will operate
The jurisdictions in which the Group may operate may impose withholding taxes on income received by the
Group or otherwise seek to tax the Group by reason of the activities undertaken in those jurisdictions.
Although the Company intends to take reasonable steps to minimise such taxes, this may not be possible
in all cases. Any such taxes could materially affect the after-tax profits of the Group and, consequently, the
returns to Shareholders.

FATCA
FATCA is US legislation aimed at reducing tax evasion by US citizens. In broad terms, FATCA requires
financial institutions outside the US to pass information about their US customers to the US tax authorities.
A 30 per cent. withholding tax is imposed on the US source income of any financial institution that fails to
comply with this requirement. The Company is a financial institution for these purposes.
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Guernsey and the United States have entered into an intergovernmental agreement (“US-Guernsey IGA”)
on 13 December 2013 to facilitate compliance by Guernsey resident financial institutions with the reporting
requirements imposed by FATCA. Under the US-Guernsey IGA, as implemented in Guernsey through
domestic legislation, certain disclosure requirements are imposed in respect of certain investors in the
Company who are, or are controlled by one or more residents or citizens of the US. Provided the Company
complies with the terms of the US-Guernsey IGA, as implemented in Guernsey, it should not suffer the 30
per cent. withholding tax imposed under FATCA. It should be noted, however, that the rules relating to
FATCA are new and subject to change and compliance by the Company cannot be guaranteed. Were the
30 per cent. withholding tax to be imposed on any US source payments received by the Company, this
could have a material adverse effect on the level of returns to all Shareholders.

As FATCA is a particularly complex area, each Shareholder should consult their own tax advisors to
understand how the legislation may affect their own circumstances.

The first reporting deadline applicable to the Company in respect of calendar year 2016 information for US
reportable accounts is 30 June 2017 and will take place annually thereafter, although the Company has
certain other obligations with which to comply from the date it was incorporated.

In addition, Guernsey is committed to the adoption of the global Common Reporting Standard on Automatic
Exchange of Information (the “CRS”) with effect from 1 January 2016, with first reporting taking place in
2017.

Whilst the Company will seek to satisfy its obligations under the relevant intergovernmental agreement and
the CRS, the ability of the Company to satisfy such obligations will depend on receiving relevant information
and/or documentation about each investor and where appropriate the direct and indirect beneficial owners
of the interests held in the Company and other entities within the Group. There can be no assurance that
the Company or other entities within the Group will be able to satisfy such obligations.

Local laws or regulations may mean that the status of the Company and the Ordinary Shares are
uncertain or subject to change, which could adversely affect investors’ ability to hold the Ordinary
Shares
For regulatory, tax and other purposes, the Company and the Ordinary Shares may be treated differently in
different jurisdictions. Furthermore, in certain jurisdictions, the status of the Company and/or the Ordinary
Shares may be uncertain or subject to change, or it may differ depending on the availability of certain
information or disclosures by the Company. Changes in the status or treatment of the Company or the
Ordinary Shares may affect the ability of investors to hold the Ordinary Shares or the consequences of so
doing.
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PART 2

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW

1. The Company’s business strategy

The objective of the Company is to steadily grow its earnings to seek to deliver attractive returns and capital
growth through a combination of building growing businesses in emerging markets as well as earning
revenue from income generating operating activities.

The Company will focus its activities in emerging markets globally (in Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe,
the Middle East and Africa). The Company intends to:

(i) develop lending activities to sovereign, corporate and banking entities in emerging markets for a range
of business purposes, including for acquisition financing, working capital and investment purposes.
The terms of any loans will vary but are typically expected to range from six months to five years. The
Company expects that its loans will typically be secured;

(ii) take operational control of businesses through the acquisition of minority and majority stakes in public
and private companies in emerging markets; and

(iii) acquire and operate real estate and commodity companies.

The Group may utilise borrowings in connection with its business activities. Although there is no prescribed
limit in the Articles or elsewhere on the amount of borrowings that the Group may incur, the Directors will
adopt a prudent borrowing policy and oversee the level and term of any borrowings of the Company and
will review the position on a regular basis.

The Company has no restrictions and no maximum exposure limits will apply to any investments made by
the Company, unless otherwise determined and set by the Board from time to time. No material change will
be made to the Company’s objective or investing policy without the approval of Shareholders by ordinary
resolution.

2. Corporate strategy and risk management

The Board will periodically assess the business opportunities available to the Company. In evaluating those
opportunities, the Board will consider and assess the following factors:

� the macroeconomic and political risks that may affect each proposed business opportunity;

� the absolute and relative valuations that support each proposed business opportunity;

� the relevant non-market risks, including convertibility risk, expropriation risk, taxation risk, counterparty
restrictions as imposed by sanctions lists and other bilateral or multilateral legislation; and

� an assessment of the overall suitability of each business opportunity, including counterparty risk.

On a quarterly basis, the Board will also assess these risks in relation to its on-going activities. It will evaluate
these risks and adopt overall guidelines and hedging strategies to preserve the Company’s capital and
support its overall growth strategy.

3. APQ Alexandria
On CISEA Admission, the Company acquired the entire voting share capital of APQ Alexandria. APQ
Alexandria invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund which invests in stocks, bonds, foreign
exchange, commodities and derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, the Middle East, Africa
and developed markets. Each of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund is a Cayman Islands exempted
company with limited liability that was incorporated on 14 March 2013. The Master Fund invests mainly,
though not exclusively, in liquid securities and in listed and over-the-counter derivatives.

Pursuant to a management agreement dated 19 April 2013, APQ Capital Management Limited was
appointed to act as manager of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund (the “Management Agreement”).
By way of an agreement dated 19 April 2013, as amended, between APQ Capital Management Limited
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and APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment Management Agreement”), APQ Partners LLP was appointed
to act as investment manager of APQ Alexandria’s and the Master Fund’s portfolio on a discretionary basis.

As at 31 July 2016, APQ Alexandria’s top credit, equity and currency exposures via the Master Fund were
as follows*:

Credit Exposure
Issuer

EMD US 5.8%
EDD US 4.6%
Banco do Brasil 3.2%
Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A. 1.5%

Equity Exposure
Issuer

CLIG LN Equity ML GBP (CFD) 9.9%
EWZ US Equity 8.0%
B RUS Equity (ADR) 7.2%
Vale US Equity 6.9%
UCG IM Equity 5.4%

Currency Exposure
Mexican Peso 20.0%
South African Rand 8.0%
Euro (18.0%)
Brazilian Real (20.0%)
British Pound (26.6%)

* Single-name exposure in per cent. of net asset value as calculated by APQ Partners LLP. Excludes index exposure.

The net asset values of the Master Fund and APQ Alexandria for the 12 months prior to the date of this
document are set out in the table below:

Master Fund APQ Alexandria
Month US$ NAV per share US$ NAV per share

Aug-15 90.00 87.84
Sep-15 83.99 81.90
Oct-15 91.34 88.99
Nov-15 89.60 87.21
Dec-15 87.05 84.66
Jan-16 82.77 80.42
Feb-16 86.69 84.15
Mar-16 102.64 99.33
Apr-16 115.35 109.21
May-16 105.69 101.56
Jun-16 110.00 104.86
Jul-16 119.10 117.52

APQ Alexandria holds its assets and cash positions with major financial counterparties who serve as prime
brokers or ISDA counterparties. The prime brokers are currently Citigroup Global Markets Limited and
Deutsche Bank AG. Current ISDA counterparties include Deutsche Bank AG, Citigroup Markets Limited,
Merrill Lynch International, JP Morgan Chase NA and Barclays Bank Plc.

Since CISEA Admission, all management and performance fees payable by APQ Alexandria to APQ Capital
Management Limited pursuant to the Management Agreement ceased to be payable. Each of the
Management Agreement and the Investment Management Agreement will terminate with effect from the
date on which the Company acquires the entire issued share capital of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited,
the parent company of APQ Partners LLP. Details of the intended acquisition are set out in paragraph 4
below.
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4. Operational infrastructure
The Company has a Board consisting of four directors, two of whom are executive directors and two non-
executive directors. The Board will be responsible for setting corporate strategy and will oversee the
implementation of that strategy. The day to day running of the Company’s business will be supported by a
team of professionals based in Guernsey and the UK. Further details on the Directors and other relevant
individuals and service providers to the Company are set out in Part 3 of this document.

It is currently expected that, within a period of six months following CISEA Admission, the Company will
acquire the entire issued share capital of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited, the parent company of APQ
Partners LLP, the current investment manager of APQ Alexandria, for a nominal consideration. This entity,
which will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, will act as the employing entity for UK based
individuals providing services to the Company. This acquisition is conditional on APQ Partners LLP, which
is currently authorised and regulated by the FCA, no longer being authorised by the FCA. APQ Partners
LLP will commence an application to cancel its FCA authorisation shortly following Admission. To the best
of the knowledge and belief of the Directors, having been advised by APQ Partners LLP, there are no
circumstances which exist at the date of this document which would prevent the FCA authorisation of APQ
Partners LLP being cancelled.

The Company also has arrangements in place with certain service providers, including the Registrar and
the Corporate Services Provider providing company secretarial and regulatory support. Further details on
these arrangements are set out in Part 5 of this document.

5. Dividend policy

On the basis of current market conditions as at the date of this document, the Company will target an
annualised dividend yield of 6 per cent. per annum based on the Firm Placing Issue Price. This is a target
only and not a profit forecast and there can be no assurance that it will be met. Dividends are expected to
be payable in respect of each calendar quarter, payable in the month following the end of such quarter.

6. Management incentive scheme
Following Admission, the Board intends to implement a share plan for the Company’s management team
that will reward management with new Ordinary Shares, based on the Company’s performance. Any new
Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the incentive scheme will be subject to vesting conditions.

Although the Articles contain pre-emption rights which require, save to the extent dis-applied, new Ordinary
Shares to be first offered to existing Shareholders pro rata to their shareholdings, those rights do not apply
to any new Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant to a share incentive plan to be adopted by the Company.

To the extent that any proposed award of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the incentive scheme would result in
the recipient, and any parties acting in concert with them (within the meaning of the Takeover Code), owning
(in aggregate) in excess of 29.99 per cent. of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue, any performance
awards may instead be payable in cash.

7. Valuation policy

The Company’s book value will be measured at the Directors’ estimate of fair value at the reporting date
using IFRS.

Publicly traded securities listed in an active market are valued at their bid price on the reporting date. When
a bid price is unavailable, the price of the most recent transaction will normally be used. Unlisted exposure
is valued by applying an appropriate valuation technique, which makes maximum use of market-based
information, is consistent with models generally used by market participants and is applied consistently from
period to period, except where a change would result in better estimation of fair value. The fair value estimate
of an unlisted company is based on the assumed realisation of the underlying business at the reporting
date, based on the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (December 2012).
Estimating the fair value of unlisted companies is inherently uncertain and appropriate caution is applied.
Enterprise value is normally determined either using the price of recent transactions, multiples or the net
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assets methodology. For other exposure, appropriate valuation techniques are adopted and used
consistently.

If the Directors consider that any of the above bases of valuation are inappropriate in any particular case,
and where permitted by accounting standards, they may adopt such other valuation procedures as they
consider reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors will determine the timing of any valuations. Any valuations will be notified through a Regulatory
Information Service.

8. Meetings, accounts and reports to Shareholders
Notices convening the annual general meeting in each year will be sent to Shareholders at their registered
address or given by advertisement not later than 14 clear days before the date fixed for the meeting. Other
general meetings may be convened from time to time by the Directors by sending notices to Shareholders
at their registered addresses or by Shareholders requisitioning such meetings in accordance with Guernsey
law, and may be held in Guernsey or elsewhere.

The first accounting period of the Company will run until 31 December 2016 and subsequent accounting
periods will end on 31 December in each year. It is expected that the audited annual accounts will be sent
to Shareholders within six months of the year end to which they relate. Unaudited half-yearly reports, made
up to 30 June each year, will be sent to Shareholders within three months thereof. The audited annual
accounts and half-yearly reports will be prepared in consolidated form and will also be available at the
registered office of the Company.

The Company has adopted IFRS.

9. Share buybacks and tender offers
The Board has authority to purchase up to 14.99 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Share capital of the
Company. The Board intends to seek a renewal of this authority at each annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Board will, from time to time, consider the Company’s share price with a view to determining whether
the Company should buy back any Ordinary Shares, which shall be at the complete discretion of the Board.

An ordinary resolution for the continuation of the Company will be proposed at the seventh annual general
meeting of the Company and, if passed, every three years thereafter. Upon any continuation resolution not
being passed, proposals will be put forward to the effect that the Company be wound up or liquidated. If
the resolution for the continuation of the Company is passed at the seventh annual general meeting of the
Company, the Directors may, at their discretion, implement an annual tender offer thereafter for at least 15
per cent. of the Ordinary Shares then in issue.

10. Profile of a typical investor

An investment in the Ordinary Shares is only suitable for financially sophisticated investors who understand
and are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment, or other investors who have been
professionally advised with regard to investment, and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any
losses (which may equal the whole amount invested) that may result from such an investment. Such an
investment should be seen as complementary to existing investments in a wide spread of other financial
assets and should not form a major part of an investment portfolio.

11. Further information
Prospective investors should read the whole of this document, which provides additional information on the
Company and the Ordinary Shares, and not rely on summaries or individual parts only. In particular, the
attention of prospective investors is drawn to Part 1 headed “Risk Factors”.
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PART 3

OPERATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE

1. The Board
The Board will be responsible for setting corporate strategy and will oversee the implementation of that
strategy. The Directors are as follows:

Bart Turtelboom (aged 50) (Non-Executive Chairman)

Bart is the co-founder and Chief Investment Officer of APQ Partners LLP. Prior to APQ Partners LLP, Bart
was Co-Head of the Emerging Markets business at GLG and Co-Portfolio Manager of the GLG emerging
markets funds. He was previously the Global Co-Head of Emerging Markets at Morgan Stanley, where he
ran a multi-billion US Dollar business spanning Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa, and head of
its Global Capital Markets Group. Prior to that Bart was a Portfolio Manager at Vega Asset Management
and a Director at Deutsche Bank, where he held several roles culminating in coverage of the bank’s largest
European clients. Bart was an Economist for the International Monetary Fund in Washington D.C. from 1994
until 1997. Bart received a Ph.D. in Economics from Columbia University.

Wayne Bulpitt (aged 55) (Executive Director and CEO)

Wayne Bulpitt has around 35 years of experience in business leadership in banking, investment and
administration services. Having left National Westminster Bank Plc in 1992 to join CIBC Bank & Trust
Company, he developed and launched CIBC Fund Managers (Guernsey) Limited in 1994. As Managing
Director, Wayne spent the next four years managing and developing the offshore funds and building a third
party fund administration capacity.

In 1998 this experience was to prove crucial for the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce where, as Director
of Offshore Investment Services Global Private Banking & Trust Division, his main priority was to restructure
the delivery of their investment management services outside of Canada.

Wayne founded Active Group Limited in 2002 after his careers with NatWest and CIBC. Under his leadership,
Active is an innovative provider of practical and professional support services such as compliance, corporate
secretarial and management services to the offshore finance industry. Wayne is on the boards of various
investment management companies and funds (both listed and un-listed), overseeing a diverse range of
investment activities.

Richard Bray (aged 49) (Executive Director and Finance Director)
Richard Bray has over 30 years in depth experience in the fund and investment management sectors,
including 13 years with a major Swiss financial institution. Richard has worked on a wide variety of investment
vehicles, from relatively simple long only bond and equity funds, through to complex structured products
and including private equity, commodity, derivative, and hedge funds of various strategies.

Richard sits on the boards of a variety of funds, investment management companies and fund administration
companies acting in both executive and non-executive capacities. In these roles he has variously overseen
the day to day operations, provided risk management advice and oversight, and overseen the investment
activities of those entities.

Richard is a Member of the Chartered Management Institute and the Institute of Directors. He is also a
member of administration and technical sub-committees of the Guernsey Investment Fund Association
(“GIFA”). As part of the GIFA technical committee, Richard worked on the team that produced Guernsey’s
AIFM rules and regulations.

Philip Soulsby (aged 50) (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Philip Soulsby is a mathematics graduate. He qualified as a chartered accountant in London with BDO
Binder Hamlyn, before transferring to KPMG in Guernsey in 1990. There he spent two years specialising in
the audit of financial services companies and offshore mutual funds. In 1992 he joined Credit Suisse Fund
Administration Limited in charge of finance and compliance, later moving to a role more involved in structuring
and marketing mutual fund services, helping the business grow from 12 staff to over 130. During this time
he acted as director to a number of funds and fund managers, and gained a broad knowledge of hedge
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funds, derivatives and risk control. In 2006, he left Credit Suisse to establish his own business, The Mundi
Group Ltd, a fair-trade and ethical products business. He remains a director of several funds and fund
management companies and is also Constable and Douzenier to the Parish of St Martin.

2. Lock-In and Orderly Market Deed
By way of a deed between the Company, N+1 Singer and Bart Turtelboom dated 22 August 2016, Bart
Turtelboom has agreed that he will not sell, grant options over or otherwise dispose of any interest in any of
the Ordinary Shares issued to him, save in certain circumstances, including: (i) in acceptance of a general
offer made for the entire issued share capital of the Company in accordance with the City Code on Takeovers
and Mergers or (ii) pursuant to an intervening court order, prior to the first anniversary of Admission.

The Lock-In and Orderly Market Deed is governed by English law.

3. Corporate governance

The Directors recognise the importance of robust corporate governance and will meet regularly to review
corporate strategy, the risk profile of the Group and its operating businesses and to monitor the performance
of the service providers appointed to the Company.

There is no applicable regime of corporate governance to which the Directors must adhere over and above
the general fiduciary duties and duties of care, diligence and skill imposed on such directors under Guernsey
law; however, the Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance and will seek to take
appropriate measures to ensure that the Company complies with the UK Code on Corporate Governance
to the extent appropriate and taking into account the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

The Company has adopted a share dealing code (as required by the AIM Rules) and the Company will take
all proper and reasonable steps to ensure compliance by the Directors.

The Company has adopted an anti-bribery policy and will adhere to the requirements of the Prevention of
Corruption (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2003 and the UK Bribery Act 2010.

Audit committee
The audit committee will be chaired by Philip Soulsby, the independent Director, with all the other Directors
as members. The audit committee will meet no less than twice a year and, if required, meetings can also be
attended by the Auditors.

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing the half-year and annual financial statements before their
submission to the Board. In addition, the audit committee is specifically charged under its terms of reference
to advise the Board on the terms and scope of the appointment of the Auditors, including their remuneration,
independence, objectivity and reviewing with the Auditors the results and effectiveness of the audit, and in
ensuring that the Company’s annual report and financial statements are fair, balanced and understandable.

Nomination and remuneration committee
The nomination and remuneration committee will be chaired by Philip Soulsby, the independent Director,
with all other Directors as members. Its principal duties will be to consider the framework and policy for the
remuneration of the Directors, employees and consultants and to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board on an annual basis. The nomination and remuneration committee will meet at least once a
year.

Risk committee
The Board has adopted a risk policy with regard to the Company’s business activities and will formally
consider its policy at least four times per year. The risk committee will be chaired by Philip Soulsby, the
independent Director, with all other Directors as members. The purpose of the risk committee will be to seek
to ensure that the Company will take a measured approach to its business activities, taking into account
factors including, but not limited to, the risks associated with jurisdictions in which it operates or has interests
(e.g. political and economic risks, currency risks and sector risks).
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4. Employees and other relevant individuals
The day to day running of the Company’s business will be supported by a team of professionals based in
Guernsey and the UK. The individuals engaged to provide services to the Group will be responsible for
executing the Group’s corporate strategy, as determined by the Directors and within guidelines established
from time to time by the Board.

The Company has entered into an agreement with Active Services (Guernsey) Limited pursuant to which
the Corporate Services Provider will make available to the Group the services of a number of Guernsey-
based professionals who will be responsible for providing company secretarial and regulatory support. A
summary of the Corporate Services Agreement is set out in paragraph 6.8 of Part 5 of this document.

It is currently expected that, within a period of six months following CISEA Admission, the Company will
acquire the entire issued share capital of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited, the parent company of APQ
Partners LLP, the current investment manager of APQ Alexandria, for a nominal consideration. This entity,
which will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, will act as the employing entity for all UK
based individuals providing services to the Group. This acquisition is conditional on APQ Partners LLP, which
is currently authorised and regulated by the FCA, no longer being authorised by the FCA. APQ Partners
LLP will commence an application to cancel its FCA authorisation shortly following Admission. Until the
acquisition by the Group of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited, the UK based individuals providing their services
to the Group will provide their services pursuant to a services agreement between the Company and APQ
Partners LLP (the “Services Agreement”). APQ Partners LLP will assist the Board and the Group’s
management based in Guernsey with the implementation of its business strategy, provide research on
business opportunities in emerging markets and provide support for cash management and risk
management purposes. A summary of the terms of the Services Agreement is set out in paragraph 6.11 of
Part 5 of this document.

Biographies of those individuals who, in addition to Bart Turtelboom, are based in the UK and will provide
services to the Group pursuant to the Services Agreement are set out below:

Karim Abdel-Motaal
Prior to co-founding APQ Partners LLP, Karim was Co-Head of the Emerging Markets business at GLG and
Co-Portfolio Manager of the GLG emerging markets funds. He was previously the Global Co-Head of
Emerging Markets at Morgan Stanley, where he ran a multibillion US dollar business spanning Asia, Latin
America, and the Middle East and Africa. Prior to that Karim was a Portfolio Manager at Tudor Capital,
Global Head of Emerging Local Markets Research at J.P. Morgan, and a member of the Firm’s Emerging
Markets Management Committee. During this time, he was responsible for building J.P. Morgan’s local
currency research effort and developing a suite of models and indices that have become benchmarks for
the asset class. Karim received a Ph.D. in Economics from Harvard University.

Lennart Kaltenbach
Lennart co-founded APQ Partners LLP in February 2013 and is a senior portfolio manager. Previously he
was an asset manager at GLG Partners, specialising in emerging market credit and currency markets. He
joined GLG in December 2007 as a Risk Manager for the Emerging Market and Macro Fund range. He
moved to the Emerging Markets desk as an Asset Manager in July 2011. Prior to joining GLG he was working
for 15 months at Dresdner Kleinwort in several risk management roles. Lennart holds a BSc in Finance from
Nuertingen-Geislingen University, Germany.

Maria O’Connor
Maria co-founded APQ Partners LLP and serves as Legal Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer. Previously
Maria was in the legal department of GLG Partners LP from 2011 to 2013. Prior to GLG, she was a Director
of Product Development at BlackRock from 2006 to 2010 where she was head of the team and managed
all legal matters related to offshore funds. Maria also worked at Merrill Lynch from 2006-2007 as Legal
Counsel for the MAP Platform. Maria started her career at Barclays Bank PLC in 2004-2006 where she was
Legal Counsel to the Wealth Management Department. Maria was admitted as a Barrister and Solicitor of
the New Zealand High Court in 2002, after receiving her LLB/Bcom from University of Otago in 2000.
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Tal Sandhu
Tal co-founded APQ Partners LLP in February 2013 and serves as Senior Portfolio Manager. Previously he
was an Asset Manager at GLG Partners, specialising in Emerging Market Interest Rate and Currency
Markets. He joined GLG in December 2008 from Morgan Stanley where he was an Executive Director and
Head of Complex Products in Emerging Markets. Before joining Morgan Stanley, Tal was Co-Head of Equity
Structured Product Trading at Banca Intesa in London. Prior to this, he traded Interest Rate Derivatives at
Sanpaolo IMI Bank. Tal graduated with a MSc. Economics and Finance from the University of Warwick and
a BSc (Hons) in Economics and Finance from Brunel University.

5. Fees and expenses
Initial expenses
The initial expenses of the Company are those which are necessary for Admission. These expenses include
a corporate finance fee payable to N+1 Singer on Admission, admission fees, printing, legal and accounting
fees and any other applicable expenses which will be met by the Company and paid on or around Admission.

Ongoing expenses
The Company will also incur ongoing annual fees and expenses payable to the Company’s service providers,
which will include the following:

N+1 Singer

N+1 Singer has been appointed to act as the Company’s nominated adviser and broker in connection with
Admission. In consideration of N+1 Singer’s agreement to act as nominated adviser and broker to the
Company, the Company has agreed to pay N+1 Singer an ongoing retainer fee for the first two years
following Admission.

Corporate Services Provider

The Corporate Services Provider has been appointed to provide the Company with company secretarial,
administrative and regulatory support. The Company has agreed to pay the Corporate Services Provider a
fee, payable monthly in arrears, determined by reference to the number of hours worked based on the
Corporate Services Provider’s standard hourly charging rates, subject to a minimum annual fee of £15,000.

Registrar

The Registrar shall be entitled to receive from the Company an annual maintenance fee of £2.00 per
shareholder account, subject to an annual minimum fee of £5,500.

Other ongoing operational expenses of the Company will include travel, printing, audit, finance costs,
insurance, due diligence and legal fees.

6. Conflicts of interest

The Company’s service providers and their officers and employees may from time to time act for other clients
which may have similar objectives and strategies to that of the Company. The Directors have satisfied
themselves that these service providers have procedures in place to address potential conflicts of interest
and that, where a conflict arises, each of the service providers will allocate their time and resources fairly
and ensure that they continue to provide the services required under the terms of their respective
appointments described in paragraph 6 of Part 5 of this document.

AXV 3.1
AXV 3.2

AXV 3.5

23



PART 4

TAXATION

The following information, which relates only to UK and Guernsey taxation, is applicable to the Company
and certain types of investors.

Prospective investors should note that the statements below are of a general nature and are based on
current tax law and current published tax authority practice, as of the date of this document, both of which
are subject to change, possibly with retrospective effect. In particular, the levels and basis of, and reliefs
from, taxation may change and this may alter the benefits of investment in the Company.

The information does not constitute legal, tax or investment advice and is not exhaustive and, if prospective
investors are in any doubt as to the tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of their investments,
they should consult their professional advisers without delay.

It is the responsibility of all persons interested in purchasing Ordinary Shares to inform themselves regarding
any tax consequences arising in the jurisdictions in which they are resident or domiciled for tax purposes,
as well as any foreign exchange or other fiscal or legal restrictions, which are relevant to their particular
circumstances in connection with the acquisition, holding or disposal of Ordinary Shares.

Guernsey taxation
The following summary of the anticipated tax treatment in Guernsey of the Company and Shareholders is
based on Guernsey taxation law and practice in force at the date of this document and does not constitute
legal or tax advice. Prospective investors should consult their professional advisers on the implications of
subscribing for, buying, holding, selling, redeeming or disposing of Ordinary Shares under the laws of the
jurisdictions in which they may be liable to taxation. Prospective investors should be aware that tax rules
and practice and their interpretation may change.

The Company
The Company does not intend to apply for tax exempt status and is subject to Guernsey income tax at the
standard rate of zero per cent. The Company will not pay any Guernsey income tax on its income and gains
on the basis that no investments will be made in Guernsey property and the Company will not engage in
any of the regulated activities which fall outside the scope of the zero rate regime.

Capital taxes and stamp duty
Guernsey does not currently levy taxes on capital inheritances, capital gains (with the exception of dwellings
profit tax, which is currently suspended), gifts, sales or turnover, nor are there any estate taxes, save for
registration fees and ad valorem duty for a Guernsey Grant of Representation where the deceased dies
leaving assets in Guernsey (which required presentation of such a grant). No stamp duty is chargeable in
Guernsey on the issue, transfer, switching or redemption of shares in the Company.

EU Savings Tax Directive
The Council of the European Union has repealed Directive 2003/48/EC, which had implemented the EU
Savings Directive (“EUSD”). The repealing Council Directive (EU) 2015/2060 was made on 10 November
2015 and this decision will also affect the equivalent agreements that Guernsey has implemented with all
EU Member States (“EUMS”).

For most EUMS, the EUSD will cease to apply after 2015 (the 2016 exchange, of 2015 data, being the last).
For these EUMS, the intention is that the EU version of the Common Reporting Standard (the “CRS”), which
is the Directive on Administrative Cooperation (the “DAC”), will replace the EUSD seamlessly from 1 January
2016 (with the first exchange of 2016 data, under the DAC, taking place in 2017). Although not part of the
DAC, Guernsey is committed to implement reporting under CRS from 1 January 2016 (with the first
exchange of 2016 data, taking place in 2017). Consequently, Guernsey authorities have sent letters to these
EUMS to obtain their confirmation that the repeal of the Directive also suspends the equivalent agreements
that they have with Guernsey.
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Shareholders
Non-Guernsey resident Shareholders will not be subject to any income tax in Guernsey in respect of or in
connection with the acquisition, holding or disposal of any Ordinary Shares owned by them. Such
Shareholders will receive dividends without deduction of Guernsey income tax.

As the Company is subject to the zero rate of tax for companies, it will be treated as resident for Guernsey
income tax purposes and any Shareholders who are resident in Guernsey will be subject to Guernsey income
tax of up to 20 per cent. on any dividends paid to such persons which will be deducted by the Company
and remitted to the Director of Income Tax in Guernsey.

At present Guernsey does not levy taxes upon capital gains, capital transfer, wealth, inheritance, gifts, sales
or turnover, nor are there any duties save for an ad valorem fee for the grant of probate or letters of
administration. No stamp duty is chargeable in Guernsey on the issue, transfer, switching or redemption of
Ordinary Shares.

Information reporting
Guernsey has entered into international agreements with a number of jurisdictions which provide for the
exchange of information in order to combat tax evasion and improve tax compliance. These include, but
are not limited to, the US-Guernsey IGA, the UK-Guernsey IGA and the Multilateral Competent Authority
Agreement that activates the automatic exchange of information in line with the Common Reporting Standard
developed by OECD. Additional details on these regimes can be found in the sections above. In connection
with such international agreements the Company may, among other things, be required to collect and report
to tax authorities certain information regarding Shareholders and other account holders of the Company
which may be passed on to tax authorities in other jurisdictions in accordance with the relevant international
agreements.

UK taxation
The following statements are intended to address only certain general aspects of the UK tax treatment of
the Company and certain UK tax consequences of the holding and disposing of Ordinary Shares by
Shareholders who are resident and, in the case of individuals, resident and domiciled in the UK and to whom
“split year” treatment does not apply, who are absolute beneficial owners of their Ordinary Shares and the
dividends on those Ordinary Shares and who hold their Ordinary Shares as an investment (and not as
securities to be realised in the course of a trade). They may not apply to certain classes of Shareholders
including (but not limited to): (i) dealers in securities; (ii) persons who have acquired their Ordinary Shares by
reason of any office or employment; (iii) persons who control or hold, either alone or together with one or
more associated or connected persons, directly or indirectly, (a) 25 per cent. or more of the Ordinary Shares,
(b) 25 per cent. or more of the voting power of the Company, or (c) any other interests in the Company,
whether debt, equity or otherwise; or (iv) persons who acquire Ordinary Shares other than for bona fide
commercial reasons or who have a tax avoidance purpose or motive. Such persons may be subject to a
materially different tax treatment.

If Shareholders are resident or domiciled for tax purposes in a jurisdiction other than the UK, or if
Shareholders are unsure as to any aspect of their tax treatment, they should consult their own professional
tax advisers.

The Company
The Directors intend to conduct the affairs of the Company so that it does not become resident in the UK
for UK tax purposes and does not become subject to UK tax on its profits or gains as a result of carrying
on any trade in the UK. On that basis, the Company is not expected to be subject to UK corporation tax or
income tax, other than in respect of certain types of UK source income which may be received subject to
deduction of income tax at source.

The Directors do not consider the Company to be an “offshore fund” for UK tax purposes. If the Company
were to be treated as an “offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, gains on disposals of Ordinary Shares may
be taxable as income, rather than capital gains. The statements below assume that the Company is not an
“offshore fund”.
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Taxation of dividends
The Company is not required to withhold UK tax at source when paying a dividend.

UK resident individual Shareholders

The UK Government has announced that with effect from 6 April 2016, UK resident individuals will be entitled
to a £5,000 (tax year 2016/2017) annual tax free dividend allowance. In outline, dividends received in excess
of this threshold will be taxed, for the tax year 2016/17, at 7.5 per cent. (basic rate taxpayers), 32.5 per
cent. (higher rate taxpayers) and 38.1 per cent. (additional rate taxpayers).

Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax

Shareholders within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax which are ‘‘small companies’’ (for the
purposes of United Kingdom taxation of dividends) will be subject to UK corporation tax on dividends paid
by the Company on the Ordinary Shares.

Other Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax will not be subject to corporation tax on
dividends paid by the Company on the Ordinary Shares so long as the dividends fall within an exempt class
and certain conditions are met. Although it is likely that dividends paid by the Company on the Ordinary
Shares would qualify for exemption from corporation tax for other Shareholders, it should be noted that the
exemption is not comprehensive and is subject to anti-avoidance rules. Shareholders should therefore
consult their own professional advisers where necessary.

Taxation of disposals
A disposal of Ordinary Shares by a Shareholder who is resident in the UK for tax purposes may, depending
on the Shareholder’s circumstances, and subject to any available exemption or relief, give rise to a chargeable
gain (or allowable loss) for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains.

UK resident individuals may be subject to UK capital gains tax on any chargeable gains realised but are, for
each tax year, entitled to an exemption from UK capital gains tax for a specified amount of gains realised in
that tax year. The current annual exempt amount (for tax year 2016/17) is £11,100.

Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax may be subject to UK corporation tax on any
chargeable gains made on disposal or deemed disposal of the Ordinary Shares. Indexation allowance may
reduce the amount of any chargeable gain arising on a disposal or deemed disposal of Ordinary Shares
(but cannot give rise to or increase the amount of an allowable loss). No indexation allowance will be available
to individual Shareholders.

ISAS and SIPPS
With effect from 1 July 2014, the new ISA (“NISA”) regime commenced in the UK which, amongst other
things, removed the concept of stocks and shares and cash components of an ISA. For the 2016/17 tax
year, NISAs have a subscription limit of £15,240, all of which can be invested in stocks and shares.

Ordinary Shares acquired in the market should be eligible for inclusion in a NISA.

Ordinary Shares should be eligible for inclusion in a SIPP, subject to the discretion of the trustees.

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)
The following comments are intended as a general guide to the UK stamp duty and SDRT position and do
not relate to persons such as market makers, brokers, dealers, intermediaries and persons connected with
depository arrangements or clearance services, to whom special rules may apply.

In principle, UK stamp duty may be chargeable (generally at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or the
value of the consideration for the transfer, rounded up to the nearest £5) on any instrument transferring
Ordinary Shares which is executed in the UK or which relates to any property situated, or any matter or
thing done or to be done, in the UK. In practice, it may not be necessary to pay such stamp duty but
Shareholders should note that if an instrument of transfer is chargeable to UK stamp duty, that instrument
may not be produced in civil proceedings in the United Kingdom, and may not be available for any other
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purpose in the United Kingdom (other than criminal proceedings), until any United Kingdom stamp duty that
is due, and any interest and penalties for late stamping, have been paid.

Any agreement to transfer Ordinary Shares, including any transfer effected through CREST, should not be
subject to SDRT, provided that the Ordinary Shares are not registered in any register of the Company kept
by or on behalf of the Company in the UK and that the Ordinary Shares are not paired with shares issued
by a company incorporated in the UK.

Any person who is in any doubt as to his/her tax position or requires more detailed information than the
general outline above should consult his/her professional advisers.

Prospective purchasers of Ordinary Shares who are citizens of, or domiciled or resident in (or otherwise
subject to the tax or other laws of), a jurisdiction outside the UK should consult their own professional
advisers with respect to the potential tax, exchange control and other consequences to them of acquiring,
holding and disposing of Ordinary Shares under the laws of their country of citizenship, domicile or residence.

27



PART 5

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

1. The Company

1.1 The Company was incorporated, with an unlimited number of shares of no par value, and registered
in Guernsey with registered number 62008 on 10 May 2016 under the name APQ Global Limited.

1.2 The Company is domiciled in Guernsey. The registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is 1st Floor, Tudor House, Le Bordage, St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 1DB. Statutory records
of the Company are located at the registered office of the Company. The Company’s telephone number
is +44 (0)1481 711822.

1.3 The principal legislation under which the Company operates is the Companies Law together with the
ordinances and regulations made under the Companies Law. The liability of the Company’s members
is limited.

1.4 The Company acquired the entire issued share capital of APQ Alexandria on 11 August 2016 pursuant
to the terms of a share purchase agreement dated 10 August 2016.

1.5 As at the date of this document, the Company does not have any employees.

1.6 The Company’s accounting reference date is 31 December.

1.7 Save for the entry into the material contracts summarised in paragraph 6 of this Part 5 and certain
non-material contracts and as disclosed at paragraph 8 of this Part 5, since its incorporation, the
Company has not carried on business, incurred any borrowings or granted any charge, mortgages or
security interests.

2. Share capital
2.1 The share capital of the Company is represented by an unlimited number of shares of no par value.

On incorporation, the issued share capital of the Company was £1.00 consisting of one Ordinary Share,
fully paid up.

2.2 On 11 August 2016, the Company issued 78,055,000 Ordinary Shares at a price of 100p per Ordinary
Share in connection with the acquisition of APQ Alexandria (the Consideration Shares) and the Firm
Placing. The issued share capital as at the date of this document, and as it will be at Admission, is
78,055,000 Ordinary Shares of no par value. All Ordinary Shares are fully paid. No share or loan capital
of the Company has been issued or agreed to be issued, or is now proposed to be issued for cash or
any other consideration and no commissions, discounts, brokerages, or other special terms have been
granted by the Company in connection with the issue or sale of any such capital and no share or loan
capital of the Company is under option or agreed, conditionally or unconditionally, to be put under
option.

2.3 No Ordinary Shares are held in treasury.

2.4 The following special resolutions of the Company were passed on 8 August 2016:

2.4.1 the Directors were generally and unconditionally authorised to issue up to 100 million Ordinary
Shares in connection with the Firm Placing and acquisition of APQ Alexandria as if the pre-
emption rights conferred by the Articles did not apply to the issue;

2.4.2 subject to the Companies Law, the Directors were generally and unconditionally authorised
to issue and/or sell from treasury for cash up to such number of Ordinary Shares as is equal
to 10 per cent. of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately following
completion of the Firm Placing and acquisition of APQ Alexandria as if the pre-emption rights
conferred by Articles did not apply to the issue and/or sale, such authority to expire at the
first annual general meeting of the Company save that the Company may, at any time prior
to the expiry of such authority, make an offer or enter into an agreement which would or might
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require the issue and/or sale of Ordinary Shares in pursuance of such an offer or agreement
as if such authority had not expired; and

2.4.3 the Company was authorised generally to purchase up to such number of Ordinary Shares
which represents 14.99 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company
immediately following CISEA Admission, such purchases to be made in accordance with the
Companies Law. This authority will expire on 8 February 2018 or, if earlier, at the conclusion
of the first annual general meeting of the Company.

2.5 The Ordinary Shares are capable of being held in uncertificated form. In the case of Ordinary Shares
held in uncertificated form, the Articles permit the holding and transfer of Ordinary Shares under CREST.
CREST is a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by
certificate and transferred otherwise than by written instrument. The records in respect of Ordinary
Shares held in uncertificated form are maintained by Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited and the Registrar.
Settlement of transfers in the Ordinary Shares may take place within the CREST system if any
Shareholder so wishes. The Company does not guarantee that at any particular time market maker(s)
will be willing to make a market in the Ordinary Shares, nor does it guarantee the price at which a
market will be made in the Ordinary Shares.

2.6 Application has been made for all of the issued Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is
expected that Admission will become effective, and dealings will commence on AIM, on 26 August
2016.

2.7 As at the date of this document no capital of the Company is under option or is agreed, conditionally
or unconditionally, to be put under option.

2.8 No Ordinary Shares are subject to any arrangement under which future dividends are waived or have
agreed to be waived.

2.9 Other than through the exercise of options and/or warrants or pursuant to any share incentive plan
adopted by the Company, no Ordinary Shares will be issued at a price which is less than the traded
price per Ordinary Share at the time of such issue, unless authorised by an ordinary resolution of
Shareholders or offered first on a pro rata basis to Shareholders.

2.10 There are no rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares which provide for them to be converted into shares
of a different class. All of the Ordinary Shares are capable of trading on an equal basis.

2.11 Application will be made for any Ordinary Shares issued following Admission to be admitted to listing
on the CISEA and to trading on AIM.

3. Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation
3.1 General

The Articles were adopted on 8 August 2016. The Articles and the Memorandum contain, inter alia,
provisions as summarised below. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the Articles. Defined terms
where used in this section shall, unless otherwise defined, bear the meaning ascribed to them in the
Articles.

3.2 Unrestricted objects

The objects and powers of the Company are not restricted.

3.3 Ordinary Share rights
The holders of Ordinary Shares shall have the following rights:

3.3.1 Dividends: Holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive, and participate in, any dividends
or other distributions resolved to be distributed in respect of any accounting period or other
period.

3.3.2 Winding Up: On a winding up, the holders of Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to the surplus
assets remaining after payment of all the creditors of the Company.

AI 21.2.1
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3.3.3 Voting: The holders of Ordinary Shares shall have the right to receive notice of and to attend,
speak and vote at general meetings of the Company and each holder of Ordinary Shares
being present in person or by proxy or by a duly authorised representative (if a corporation)
at a meeting shall upon a show of hands have one vote and upon a poll each such holder
present in person or by proxy or by a duly authorised representative (if a corporation) shall
have one vote in respect of each Ordinary Share held by him.

3.3.4 Variation: The rights attached to any class of shares may be varied with the consent in writing
of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a
special resolution of the holders of the shares of that class.

3.3.5 Further issues of shares: the Company will not allot any shares in the capital of the Company
which are unissued from time to time (“Unissued Shares”) to any person unless it has
previously offered to each holder of Ordinary Shares to allot to him on the same or more
favourable terms a proportion of those Unissued Shares which is as nearly as practicable
equal to the proportion held by him of the aggregate Ordinary Shares in issue at such date.
Subject to the foregoing, the Unissued Shares shall be at the disposal of the Board which is
authorised to allot, grant options, warrants or other rights over or otherwise dispose of them
to such persons on such terms and conditions and at such times as the Board determines.

3.4 Restrictions on Members
3.4.1 No Member shall be entitled to be present or take part in any proceedings or vote, either

personally or by proxy, at any meeting unless all calls due from him have been paid.

3.4.2 The Directors shall have the power by notice in writing to require any Member to disclose to
the Company the identity of any person other than the Member (including, without limitation,
any ultimate beneficial owner) who has any interest in the shares and the nature of such
interest. Any such notice shall require any information in response to such notice to be given
in writing within the prescribed period which shall be 28 days after the service of the notice,
or 14 days if the shares concerned represent 0.25 per cent. or more in value of the issued
shares of the relevant class, or such other reasonable time period as the Directors may
determine. Where the Member fails to comply with the notice within the period of time
prescribed by the Articles, the Company may give the holder of those shares (the “default
shares”) a direction notice, which imposes restrictions while the default continues. Such
restrictions may include restrictions on that Member’s entitlement to attend or vote at any
general meeting of the Company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of the
shares of that class, in person or by proxy, or to exercise any privilege as a Member in relation
to meetings of the Company. Where the default shares represent at least 0.25 per cent. of
the class of shares concerned, the direction notice may additionally impose restrictions on
any dividend, distribution or other payment which would otherwise be paid on the default
shares and restrictions on the transfer of any shares held by such Member.

3.5 Representatives of corporations
Any corporation which is a Member may, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, authorise
such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the Company or of any class
of Members of the Company or to approve any resolution submitted in writing and the person so
authorised shall be entitled to exercise on behalf of the corporation which he represents the same
powers (other than to appoint a proxy) as that corporation could exercise if it were an individual Member
of the Company.

3.6 General meetings

3.6.1 Subject to the Companies Law, the Board may convene a general meeting whenever it thinks
fit.

3.6.2 A general meeting (including an annual general meeting) of the Company (other than an
adjourned meeting) must be called by notice of at least 14 clear days.

3.6.3 The ordinary business of an annual general meeting shall be to receive and consider the profit
and loss account and the balance sheet of the Company and the reports of the Directors
and the Auditors, if any, to elect or re-elect Directors and appoint Auditors in the place of
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those retiring, to fix the remuneration of the Directors and Auditors, to sanction or declare
final dividends (if required by the Articles) and to transact any other ordinary business which
ought to be transacted at such meeting. All other business of an annual general meeting shall
be deemed special and shall be subject to notice as hereinbefore provided. The quorum for
a general meeting shall be one or more Members present in person or by proxy and holding
five per cent. or more of the voting rights available at such meeting whether or not the
Company has one Member.

3.7 Uncertificated shares
Subject to the Companies Law, the Directors without further consultation with the holders of any shares
or securities of the Company may resolve that any class or classes of share or other securities of the
Company from time to time in issue or to be issued may be in uncertificated form and no provision in
the Articles will apply to any uncertificated share or other securities of the Company to the extent they
are inconsistent with the holding of such shares or other securities in uncertificated form or the transfer
of title to any such shares or other securities by means of a relevant system.

3.8 Electronic communications
All Members shall be deemed to have agreed to accept communication from the Company by
electronic means in accordance with sections 524 and 526 and Schedule 3 of the Companies Law
unless a Member notifies the Company otherwise. Notice under this paragraph must be in writing and
signed by the Member and delivered to the Company’s Office or such other place as the Board directs.

3.9 Dividends
3.9.1 Subject to compliance with section 304 of the Companies Law, the Board may at any time

declare and pay such dividends as appear to be justified by the position of the Company.
The Board may also declare and pay any fixed dividend which is payable on any shares of
the Company quarter-yearly or otherwise on fixed dates whenever the position in the opinion
of the Board so justifies.

3.9.2 The method of payment of dividends shall be at the discretion of the Board.

3.9.3 No dividend shall be paid in excess of the amounts permitted by the Companies Law or
approved by the Board.

3.9.4 Unless and to the extent that the rights attached to any shares or the terms of issue thereof
otherwise provide, all dividends shall be declared and paid pro rata according to the number
of shares held by each Member. For the avoidance of doubt, where there is more than one
class of share in issue, dividends declared in respect of any class of share shall be declared
and paid pro rata according to the number of shares of the relevant class held by each
Member.

3.9.5 The Board may deduct from any dividend payable to any Member on or in respect of a share
all sums of money (if any) presently payable by him to the Company on account of calls or
otherwise.

3.9.6 The Board may retain any dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share on
which the Company has a lien and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the
liabilities or obligations in respect of which the lien exists.

3.9.7 The Board may retain dividends payable upon shares in respect of which any person is
entitled to become a Member until such person has become a Member.

3.9.8 With the sanction of the Company in general meeting, any dividend may be paid wholly or in
part by the distribution of specific assets and, in particular, of paid-up shares of the Company.
Where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, the Board may settle the same as it
thinks expedient and in particular may issue fractional shares and fix the value for distribution
of such specific assets and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any Members
based on the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of Members and may vest any such
specific assets in trustees for the Members entitled as may seem expedient to the Board.
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3.9.9 Any dividend interest or other monies payable in cash in respect of shares may be paid by
cheque or warrant sent through the post to the registered address of the holder or, in the
case of joint holders, to the registered address of that one of the joint holders who is first
named on the Register. Any one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for
any dividends, interest or other monies payable in respect of their joint holdings. In addition,
any such dividend or other sum may be paid by any bank or other funds transfer system or
such other means (including, in relation to any dividend or other sum payable in respect of
shares held in uncertificated form, by means of a relevant system in any manner permitted
by the rules of the relevant system concerned) and to or through such person as the holder
or joint holders (as the case may be) may in writing direct, and the Company shall have no
responsibility for any sums lost or delayed in the course of any such transfer or where it has
acted on any such directions. Any one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts
for any dividends interest bonuses or other monies payable in respect of their joint holdings.

3.9.10 No dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share shall bear interest against
the Company.

3.9.11 All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for the
benefit of the Company until claimed and the Company shall not be constituted a trustee in
respect thereof. All dividends unclaimed for a period of six (6) years after having been declared
shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.

3.9.12 The Board may, pursuant to section 306 of the Law or if authorised by an ordinary resolution
of the Company, offer any holders of any particular class of shares (excluding treasury shares)
the right to elect to receive further shares (whether or not of that class), credited as fully paid,
instead of cash in respect of all or part of any dividend (a “Scrip Dividend”).

3.10 Untraced shareholders
3.10.1 The Company shall be entitled to sell (at a price which the Company shall use its reasonable

endeavours to ensure is the best obtainable) the shares of a Member or the shares to which
a person is entitled by virtue of transmission on death or insolvency or otherwise by operation
of law if and provided that:

(a) during the period of not less than 12 years prior to the date of the publication of the
advertisements referred to below (or, if published on different dates, the first thereof) at
least three dividends in respect of the shares in question have become payable and no
dividend in respect of those shares has been claimed; and

(b) the Company shall following the expiry of such period of twelve (12) years have inserted
advertisements in a national newspaper and/or in a newspaper circulating in the area in
which the last known address of the Member or the address at which service of notices
may be effected under the Articles is located giving notice of its intention to sell the said
shares; and

(c) during the period of three months following the publication of such advertisements (or,
if published on different dates, the last thereof) the Company shall have received
indication neither of the whereabouts nor of the existence of such Member or person;
and

(d) notice shall have been given to the stock exchanges on which the Company is listed or
admitted to trading, if any.

3.10.2 The foregoing provisions of this paragraph are subject to any restrictions applicable under
any regulations relating to the holding and/or transferring of securities in any paperless system
as may be introduced from time to time in respect of the shares of the Company or any class
thereof.

3.11 Distributions of assets otherwise than in cash
If the Company is wound up whether voluntarily or otherwise the Liquidator may with the sanction of
a special resolution divide among the Members in specie any part of the assets of the Company and
may with the like sanction vest any part of the assets of the Company in trustees upon such trusts for
the benefit of the Members as the Liquidator with the like sanction shall think fit.
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3.12 Transfer and transmission of shares

3.12.1 The Directors shall have the power to implement such arrangements as they may, in their
absolute discretion, think fit in order for any class of shares to be admitted to settlement by
means of the CREST UK system. Where they do so, paragraph 3.12.2 shall commence to
have effect immediately prior to the time at which Euroclear admits the class to settlement
by means of the CREST UK system. The Articles are subject to, and do not limit or restrict
the Company’s powers to transfer shares in accordance with the CREST Guernsey
Regulations on such terms as the Board may deem fit.

3.12.2 In relation to any class of shares which, for the time being, Euroclear has admitted to
settlement by means of the CREST UK system, and for so long as such class remains so
admitted, no provision of the Articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any
respect inconsistent with:

(a) the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;

(b) the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of the CREST UK system; or

(c) the CREST Guernsey Regulations.

3.12.3 Subject to such of the restrictions of the Articles as may be applicable:

(a) any Member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant
system authorised by the Board in such manner provided for, and subject as provided,
in any regulations issued for this purpose under the Companies Law or such as may
otherwise from time to time be adopted by the Board on behalf of the Company and
the rules of any relevant system and accordingly no provision of the Articles shall apply
in respect of an uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the
effecting of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the production of a certificate for
the shares to be transferred;

(b) any Member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer
in any usual form or in any other form which the Board may approve; and

(c) an instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the
transferor and, unless the share is fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee. An
instrument of transfer of a certificated share need not be under seal.

3.12.4 All transfers of shares may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common form or
in any other form acceptable to the Board or by any other manner as the Board may accept
and permitted by the Companies Law and the rules of each stock exchange on which the
relevant shares may be listed or admitted to trading. Any instrument of transfer shall be signed
by or on behalf of the transferor who shall be deemed to remain the holder until the name of
the transferee is entered in the Register. A transfer in respect of shares which are not fully
paid shall also be signed by the transferee.

3.12.5 Every instrument of transfer shall be left at the registered office of the Company or such other
place as the Board may prescribe with the certificate (if applicable) of every share to be
transferred and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to prove the title
of the transferor or his right to transfer the shares; and the transfer and certificate shall remain
in the custody of the Board but shall be at all reasonable times produced at the request and
expense of the transferor or transferee or their respective representatives.

3.12.6 The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving a reason, refuse to register a
transfer of any share in certificated form or uncertificated form which is not fully paid or on
which the Company has a lien, provided, in the case of a listed or publicly traded share that
this would not prevent dealings in the share from taking place on an open and proper basis.
In addition, the directors may refuse to register a transfer of shares unless:

(a) it is in respect of only one class of shares;

(b) it is in favour of a single transferee or not more than four joint transferees; and
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(c) it is delivered for registration to the registered office of the Company or such other place
as the Board may decide, accompanied by the certificate(s) for the shares to which it
relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to prove title of
the transferor and the due execution by him of the transfer or, if the transfer is executed
by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that person to do so.

3.12.7 The Board may only decline to register a transfer of an uncertificated share in the
circumstances set out in the CREST Guernsey Regulations, and where, in the case of a
transfer, to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to
be transferred exceeds four.

3.12.8 If the Board refuse to register the transfer of a share they shall, within two months after the
date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company, send notice of the refusal to the
transferee.

3.12.9 Subject to the provisions of the CREST Guernsey Regulations the registration of transfers
may be suspended at such times and for such periods (not exceeding 30 days in any one
year) as the Board may decide and either generally or in respect of a particular class of share.
Any such suspension shall be communicated to Members, giving reasonable notice of such
suspension, by means of a recognised regulatory news service.

3.12.10 No fee shall be payable to the Company in respect of the registration of any transfer, probate,
letters of administration, certificate of marriage or death, power of attorney, instruction or
other document relating to or affecting the title to any shares.

3.12.11 The Company shall keep the Register in accordance with sections 123 to 128 of the
Companies Law and the CREST Guernsey Regulations. The Register may be closed during
such periods as the Board thinks fit not exceeding in all 30 days in any year.

3.12.12 On the death of a Member the survivors where the deceased was a joint holder and the
executors of the deceased where he was a sole holder shall be the only persons recognised
by the Company as having any title to or interest in his shares; but nothing herein shall release
the estate of a deceased joint holder from any liability in respect of any share jointly held.

3.12.13 A person so becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death, bankruptcy or
incapacity of a Member shall have the right to receive and may give a discharge for all
dividends and other money payable or other advantages due on or in respect of the share,
but he shall not be entitled to receive notice of or to attend or speak or vote at meetings of
the Company, or save as aforesaid, to any of the rights or privileges of a Member unless and
until he shall be registered as a Member in respect of the share PROVIDED ALWAYS that
the Board may at any time give notice requiring any such person to elect either to be
registered himself or to transfer the share and if the notice is not complied with within 90 days
the Board may thereafter withhold all dividends or other monies payable or other advantages
due in respect of the share until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

3.12.14 Nothing in the Articles shall preclude the Board from recognising the renunciation of the
allotment of any share by the allottee in favour of some other person.

3.12.15 The Directors may, in their absolute discretion, refuse to register a transfer of any shares to a
person that they have reason to believe is (i) an “employee benefit plan” (within the meaning
of section 3(3) of ERISA) that is subject to Part 4 of Title 1 of ERISA, (ii) a plan, individual
retirement account or other arrangement that is subject to section 4975 of the US Internal
Revenue Code or any other state, local laws or regulations that would have the same effect
as regulations promulgated under ERISA by the US Department of Labor and codified at 29
C.F.R. section 2510.3-101 to cause the underlying assets of the Company to be treated as
assets of that investing entity by virtue of its investment (or any beneficial interest) in the
Company and thereby subject the Company to laws or regulations that are similar to the
fiduciary responsibility or prohibited transaction provisions contained in Title I of ERISA or
section 4975 of the US Internal Revenue Code, or (iii) an entity whose underlying assets are
considered to include “plan assets” of any such plan, account or arrangement (each of (i), (ii)
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and (iii), a “Plan”) or (iv) a US Person in circumstances where the holding of shares by such
person would (a) give rise to an obligation on the Company to register as an “investment
company” under the Investment Company Act; (b) preclude the Company from relying on
the exception to the definition of “investment company” contained in section 3(c)(7) of the
Investment Company Act; (c) give rise to an obligation on the Company to register under the
Exchange Act, as amended; (d) result in the Company not being considered a “Foreign Private
Issuer” as that term is defined by Rule 3b-4(c) promulgated under the Exchange Act; or (e)
may cause the Company to suffer any pecuniary disadvantage (including any excise tax,
penalties or liabilities under ERISA or the US Code, including as a result of the Company’s
failure to comply with FATCA as a result of that person failing to provide information
concerning itself as requested by the Company in accordance with the Articles) (each such
US Person, a “Prohibited US Person”). Each person acquiring shares shall by virtue of such
acquisition be deemed to have represented to the Company that they are not a Prohibited
US Person.

3.12.16 If any shares are owned directly or beneficially by a person believed by the Board to be a
Prohibited US Person, the Board may give notice to such person requiring them either (i) to
provide the Board within 30 days of receipt of such notice with sufficient satisfactory
documentary evidence to satisfy the Board that such person is not a Prohibited US Person
or (ii) to sell or transfer their shares to a person qualified to own the same within 30 days and
within such 30 days to provide the Board with satisfactory evidence of such sale or transfer.
Where condition (i) or (ii) is not satisfied within 30 days after the serving of the notice, the
person will be deemed, upon the expiration of such 30 days, to have forfeited their shares.

3.12.17 For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Articles shall require the shares to be transferred
by written instrument if the Companies Law provides otherwise and the Board shall be
empowered to implement such arrangements as they consider fit in accordance with and
subject to the Companies Law to evidence and regulate the transfer of title to shares in the
Company and for the approval or disapproval as the case may be by the Directors or the
operator of any relevant system of the registration of those shares.

3.13 Alteration of capital
The Company may by ordinary resolution: consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into
shares of larger or smaller amounts than its existing shares; subdivide all or any of its shares into shares
of a smaller amount subject to the paragraph below; cancel shares which, at the date of the passing
of the resolution, have not been taken up or agreed to be taken up by any person, and diminish the
amount of its share capital by the amount of shares so cancelled; convert all or any of its shares, the
nominal amount of which is expressed in a particular currency or former currency, into shares of a
nominal amount of a different currency, the conversion being effected at the rate of exchange
(calculated to not less than three significant figures) current on the date of the resolution or on such
other day as may be specified therein; where its share capital is expressed in a particular currency or
former currency, denominate or redenominate it, whether by expressing its amount in units or
subdivisions of that currency or former currency, or otherwise and convert shares into stock and vice
versa.

In any subdivision under the paragraph above, the proportion between the amount paid and the
amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share shall be the same as that proportion in the case of the
share from which the reduced share was derived.

The Company may reduce its share capital, any capital account or any share premium account in any
manner and with and subject to any authorisation or consent required by the Companies Law.

3.14 Repurchase of shares
The Company may, at the discretion of the Board, purchase any of its own shares, whether or not they
are redeemable, and may pay the purchase price in respect of such purchase to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Law.
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3.15 Directors

3.15.1 The first Directors have been specified in the application for incorporation prepared in
accordance with section 17 of the Companies Law. Unless a sole Director is specified in the
application for incorporation and until otherwise determined by the Board, the number of
Directors shall be not less than two. At no time shall a majority of Directors, including any
duly appointed alternates, be resident in the United Kingdom, and a person shall not be
appointed a Director if as a result of such appointment the Board would cease to consist of
a majority of Directors resident outside the United Kingdom.

3.15.2 The ordinary remuneration of the Directors who do not hold executive office for their services
(excluding amounts payable under any other provisions of the Articles) shall not exceed in
aggregate £200,000 per annum or such higher amount as the Company may from time to
time by ordinary resolution determine. Such remuneration shall be deemed to accrue from
day to day.

3.15.3 The Board may at any time appoint one or more of their body (other than a Director in the
United Kingdom) to be holder of any executive office including the office of managing Director
on such terms and for such periods as they may determine. The Board may determine that
additional remuneration may be paid, from time to time, to any one or more Directors in the
event such Director or Directors are requested by the Board to perform extra or special
services on behalf of the Company.

3.15.4 The Directors shall also be paid all reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly
incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the Directors or any committee
of the Directors or general meetings of the Company or in connection with the business of
the Company.

3.15.5 At every annual general meeting any Director:

(a) appointed by the Board since the last annual general meeting; or

(b) who held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meetings and who did
not retire at either of them,

shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the Members.

3.15.6 A Director must, immediately after becoming aware of the fact that he is interested in a
transaction or proposed transaction with the Company, disclose to the Board in accordance
with section 162 of the Companies Law, the nature and extent of that interest.

3.15.7 Paragraph 3.15.6 does not apply if:

(a) the transaction or proposed transaction is between the Director and the Company; and

(b) the transaction or proposed transaction is or is to be entered into in the ordinary course
of the Company’s business and on usual terms and conditions.

3.15.8 A general disclosure to the Board to the effect that a Director has an interest (as director,
officer, employee, member or otherwise) in a party and is to be regarded as interested in any
transaction which may after the date of the disclosure be entered into with that party is
sufficient disclosure of interest in relation to that transaction.

3.15.9 Nothing in paragraphs 3.15.6 to 3.15.8 applies in relation to:

(a) remuneration or other benefit given to a Director;

(b) insurance purchased or maintained for a Director in accordance with section 158 of the
Companies Law; or

(c) a qualifying third party indemnity provision provided for a Director in accordance with
section 159 of the Companies Law.
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3.15.10 Subject to paragraph 3.15.11, a Director is interested in a transaction to which the Company
is a party if the Director:

(a) is a party to, or may derive a material benefit from, the transaction;

(b) has a material financial interest in another party to the transaction;

(c) is a director, officer, employee or member of another party (other than a party which is
an associated company) who may derive a material financial benefit from the transaction;

(d) is the parent, child or spouse of another party who may derive a material financial benefit
from the transaction; or

(e) is otherwise directly or indirectly materially interested in the transaction.

3.15.11 A Director is not interested in a transaction to which the Company is a party if the transaction
comprises only the giving by the Company of security to a third party which has no connection
with the Director, at the request of the third party, in respect of a debt or obligation of the
Company for which the Director or another person has personally assumed responsibility in
whole or in part under a guarantee, indemnity or security.

3.15.12 Save as provided in the Articles, a Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in which he has any material interest otherwise
than by virtue of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of or otherwise through
the Company. A Director may be counted in the quorum at a meeting in relation to any
resolution on which he is debarred from voting.

3.15.13 A Director shall (in the absence of some other material interest than is indicated below) be
entitled to vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect of any resolution concerning any
of the following matters namely:

(a) the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity to him in respect of money lent or
obligations incurred by him at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries;

(b) the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity to a third party in respect of a debt or
obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for which he himself has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of
security;

(c) any proposal concerning an offer of shares or debentures or other securities of or by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries for subscription or purchase in which offer he is
or is to be interested as a participant in the underwriting or sub-underwriting thereof;

(d) any proposal concerning any other company in which he is interested, directly or
indirectly and whether as an officer or shareholder or otherwise howsoever, provided
that he is not the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of the
issued shares of such company (or of any third company through which his interest is
derived) or of the voting rights available to members of the relevant company (any such
interest being deemed for the purpose of this paragraph to be a material interest in all
circumstances).

3.15.14 Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment (including fixing or
varying the terms of appointment) of two or more Directors to offices or employment with the
Company or any company in which the Company is interested the Directors may be counted
in the quorum for the consideration of such proposals and such proposals may be divided
and considered in relation to each director separately and in such case each of the Directors
concerned (if not debarred from voting under the provisions of paragraph 3.15.12 above)
shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect of each resolution except
that concerning his own appointment.

3.15.15 If any question shall arise at any meeting as to the materiality of a Director’s interest or as to
the entitlement of any Director to vote and such question is not resolved by his voluntarily
agreeing to abstain from voting, such question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting
and his ruling in relation to any other Director shall be final and conclusive except in a case
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where the nature or extent of the interests of the Director concerned have not been fairly
disclosed.

3.15.16 The Company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of paragraphs
3.15.12 and 3.15.13 above to any extent or ratify any transaction not duly authorised by
reason of a contravention of any of the said paragraphs.

3.15.17 Subject to paragraph 3.15.12 above the Directors may exercise the voting power conferred
by the share in any other company held or owned by the Company or exercisable by them
as directors of such other company in such manner in all respects as they think fit (including
the exercise thereof in favour of any resolution appointing themselves or any of them director,
managing director, managers or other officer of such company or voting or providing for the
payment or remuneration to the directors, managing director, manager or other officer of such
company).

3.15.18 A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the
office of Auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director on such terms as to tenure of office
or otherwise as the Directors may determine.

3.15.19 Subject to due disclosure in accordance with this paragraph 3.15, no Director or intending
Director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting with the Company as vendor,
purchaser or otherwise nor shall any such contract or arrangement entered into by or on
behalf of the Company in which any Director is in any way interested render the Director liable
to account to the Company for any profit realised by any such contract or arrangement by
reason of such Director holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established.

3.15.20 Any Director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company and
he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a
Director PROVIDED THAT nothing herein contained shall authorise a Director or his firm to
act as Auditor to the Company.

3.15.21 Any Director may continue to be or become a director, managing director, manager or other
officer or member of any company in which the Company may be interested and (unless
otherwise agreed) no such Director shall be accountable for any remuneration or other
benefits received by him as a director, managing director, manager or other officer or member
of any such other company.

3.16 Appointment, disqualification and retirement of Directors

The Directors have power at any time to appoint any person eligible in accordance with section 137
of the Companies Law to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

No person other than a Director retiring at a general meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors, be eligible for election by the Company to the office of Director unless, not less than 14 clear
days before the date appointed for the meeting there shall have been left at the registered office of the
Company notice in writing signed by a Member duly qualified to attend, speak and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election together with notice
in writing signed by that person of his willingness to be elected.

Without prejudice to the powers of the Board, the Company in general meeting may appoint any person
to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.

A share qualification for a Director may be fixed by the Company in general meeting and unless and
until so fixed no qualification shall be required.

No person other than a Director retiring at a general meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors, be eligible for election by the Company to the office of Director unless, not less than 14 clear
days before the date appointed for the meeting there shall have been left at the Company’s registered
office notice in writing signed by a shareholder duly qualified to attend, speak and vote at the meeting
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for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election together with notice
in writing signed by that person of his willingness to be elected.

A Director shall cease to hold office: (i) if the Director (not being a person holding for a fixed term an
executive office subject to termination if he ceases for any reason to be a Director) resigns his office by
written notice signed by him sent to or deposited at the registered office of the Company, (ii) if he shall
have absented himself from meetings of the Board for a consecutive period of 12 months and the
Board resolves that his office shall be vacated, (iii) if he dies or becomes of unsound mind or incapable,
(iv) if he becomes insolvent, suspends payment or compounds with his creditors, (v) if he is requested
to resign by written notice signed by all his co-Directors, (vi) if the Company in general meeting shall
declare that he shall cease to be a Director, (vii) if he becomes resident in the United Kingdom and, as
a result thereof, a majority of the Directors are resident in the United Kingdom or (viii) if he becomes
ineligible to be a Director in accordance with section 137 of the Companies Law.

3.17 Borrowing powers
The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage,
hypothecate, pledge or charge all or part of its undertaking property and uncalled capital and to issue
debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any liability or obligation
of the Company or of any third party.

3.18 Liability of shareholders
The liability of the shareholders of the Company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares
held by them.

3.19 Indemnities
3.19.1 The Directors, Company Secretary and officers of the Company and their respective heirs

and executors shall, to the extent permitted by section 157 of the Companies Law, be fully
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions
expenses and liabilities which they or their respective heirs or executors may incur by reason
of any contract entered into or any act in or about the execution of their respective offices or
trusts except such (if any) as they shall incur by or through their own negligence, default,
breach of duty or breach of trust respectively and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts receipts neglects or defaults of the others of them or for joining in any receipt for the
sake of conformity or for any bankers or other person with whom any moneys or assets of
the Company may be lodged or deposited for safe custody or for any bankers or other
persons into whose hands any money or assets of the Company may come or for any defects
of title of the Company to any property purchased or for insufficiency or deficiency of or defect
in title of the Company to any security upon which any moneys of the Company shall be
placed out or invested or for any loss misfortune or damage resulting from any such cause
as aforesaid or which may happen in or about the execution of their respective offices or
trusts except the same shall happen by or through their own negligence, default, breach of
duty or breach of trust.

3.19.2 The Directors may agree to such contractual indemnities for the benefit of the Secretary,
officers, employees and other agents and contracting parties as they may from time to time,
deem fit.

3.19.3 Notwithstanding paragraph 3.19.1, the Board may purchase and maintain, at the expense
of the Company, insurance for the benefit of the Directors, Secretary, officers (other than the
Auditors), employees and other agents and/or to cover corporate reimbursement of such
Directors, Secretary, officers, employees and other agents.

3.19.4 For the avoidance of doubt, the above paragraphs shall apply to both current and former
Directors, Secretary, officers, employees and other agents.

3.20 Notifiable interests in shares

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Articles, but subject always to the provisions of Chapter 5
of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules Source Book (as amended and varied from time
to time) of the FCA Handbook, any Shareholder who acquires an interest in the Company equal to or
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exceeding three per cent. of the number of shares in issue of the class of shares concerned (a
“Notifiable Interest”) shall forthwith notify the Company of such interest and having acquired a
Notifiable Interest, a Shareholder shall forthwith notify the Company if he ceases to hold a Notifiable
Interest and where a Shareholder has a Notifiable Interest he shall notify the Company of any increase
or decrease to the nearest whole percentage number in his Notifiable Interest.

4. Directors’ and others’ interests in shares

4.1 At the date of this document the Directors held the following numbers of Ordinary Shares:

Number of
Name Ordinary Shares

Bart Turtelboom 22,000,000
Wayne Bulpitt Nil
Richard Bray Nil
Philip Soulsby Nil

4.2 At the time of Admission, the following persons are expected to hold, directly or indirectly, more than
3 per cent. of the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital:

Percentage of 
Number of issued Ordinary

Name Ordinary Shares Share capital

Bart Turtelboom 22,000,000 28.19
Vega Absolute Return Fund 22,000,000 28.19
Old Mutual 18,000,000 23.06
Merseyside Pension Fund 10,000,000 12.81
TC Asset Management 2,700,000 3.46

The Company is not aware of any other person who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercises
or could exercise, control over the Company.

5. Directors
5.1 Details of the service contracts of the executive directors are set out below:

Date of agreement Notice period Salary (£)

Wayne Bulpitt 10 August 2016 3 months 30,000
Richard Bray 10 August 2016 3 months 30,000

There are no benefits payable to the Directors on the termination of their service contracts.

5.2 Each of the non-executive Directors has been appointed pursuant to a letter of appointment entered
into with the Company. Pursuant to the letters of appointment, Philip Soulsby’s appointment may be
terminated by giving three months’ notice in writing and Bart Turtelboom’s appointment may be
terminated by giving six months’ notice in writing. The Articles further provide that the office of Director
shall be terminated by, among other things: (i) unauthorised absences from board meetings for 12
consecutive months or more; or (ii) written request of all of the other Directors. Each of the non-
executive Directors is entitled to remuneration of £15,000 per annum. Bart Turtelboom has agreed to
waive this fee in respect of his appointment as non-executive Chairman. There are no other
arrangements under which any Director has waived or agreed to waive future emoluments nor have
there been any such waivers of emoluments prior to the date of this document.

5.3 Wayne Bulpitt is an owner and director of Active Group Limited which, via Active Management Services
Limited is the owner of Active Services (Guernsey) Limited. Richard Bray is a director of Active
Management Services Limited.

5.4 Save as disclosed in paragraph 5.3 above, there are no contracts or arrangements at the date of this
document in which any of the Directors is materially interested and which is significant to the business
of the Company.
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5.5 There are no loans outstanding from the Company to the Directors and no guarantees have been
provided by the Company for the benefit of any of the Directors.

5.6 Over the five years preceding the date of this document, the Directors hold or have held the following
directorships (apart from their directorships of the Company) or memberships of the following
administrative, management or supervisory bodies and/or partnerships:

Name Current Previous

Bart Turtelboom APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited Laurel Heights LLP
APQ Partners LLP
The Hampshire Film LLP
PBAC Limited
TCAM Asset Management Group 
Limited

Wayne Bulpitt Active Fund Services Limited Active Management Services Limited
Active Group Limited Active Services (Malta) Limited
Agricom Borcea SA Albis Asset Management Limited
Excelsior Consulting Limited Arrow Global Guernsey Limited
Global Farmland Fund Ltd Arrow Global Guernsey Holdings 
Guernsey Community Foundation Limited
Guernsey Employment Trust LBG Arrow Global Guernsey Management 
Guernsey Youth LBG Limited
Hansa Capital GmbH Aztec Financial Services Guernsey 
Hansa Capital Limited Limited
Hansa Fund PCC Limited BlueCrest BlueTrend Limited
Hanseatic Asset Management LBG BNP Paribas Fund Services (G) Ltd
Harmsworth Investment Advisors Burton Court Capital Management 
Limited Limited

IGFF Dairy Holdco BV Decaf LBG
IGFF Holdco Cooperative U.A. Denjoy Integral Fund Limited
Insight Consumer Debt Recovery GP II Denjoy Integral Master Fund Limited
Limited Distribution Partners (Guernsey) 

Insight Investment Management Limited
(Channel Islands) Limited First Avenue Partners Management 

Invista Real Estate Investment (Guernsey) Limited
Management (CI) Limited HRS Asset Management Limited

Lacteos Tamesis Limitada HRS Diversified Limited
Mare Baltic PCC Limited HRS Diversified Fund PCC Limited
Ruffer CP Trust HRS Holdings Limited
Ruffer Illiquid Multi Strategies Fund HRS France
2015 Limited Insight Consumer Debt Recovery 

Ruffer Illiquid Strategies Fund 2011 Ltd GP I Ltd
Ruffer Multi Strategies Fund Limited Marson Strategic Growth Fund PCC 
Scout Insurance (Guernsey) Limited Ltd
Thames Farming Enterprise BV Novator Credit Management Limited
Thames Pastoral Company PTY Ltd Novator Guernsey Limited
Youth Commission for Guernsey & Odey Wealth Management (C.I.) 
Alderney Limited

Ridley Park Capital (UK) Limited
Ridley Park Paragon Fund Limited
Ridley Park Paragon Master Fund 
Limited

RIN HAML GP Ltd
Ruffer Illiquid Strategies 2009 Ltd
Ruffer Investment Fund plc
Swissvest (Guernsey) Limited
Swissvest PCC Limited
Sydney Charles Fund Managers 
Limited
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Name Current Previous

Wayne Bulpitt Vinum Fund Managers Limited
(continued) VIS Ltd

Waverton Holdings Ltd

Richard Bray Active Management Services Limited Burton Court Capital Management 
Albis Asset Management Limited Limited
Appex Fund Services (Guernsey) CE Holdings Limited
Limited C Student Services Limited

Capita Financial Administrators MSAF Carbon Reporting Limited
(Guernsey) Limited MSAF Holdco Limited

Citco Fund Services (Guernsey) MSAF Finance Company Limited
Limited MSAF001 St Andrews Liverpool 

Computershare Investor Services Limited
(Guernsey) Limited MSAF002 Cavendish Dantzic 

First Avenue Partners Management Manchester Limited
(Guernsey) Limited MSAF003 Cambridge Terrace Oxford 

GIM Investments PCC Limited Limited
GIM Investments (Cayman) SPC MSAF004 Russell Street Nottingham 
The International Mutual Fund PCC Limited
Limited MSAF005 Firhill Court Glasgow 

Karogo (Cayman) Limited Limited
TOPFER1 Limited MSAF006 Landale House London 
TOPMYO 1 Limited Limited
U.S. Bancorp Fund Services MSAF007 Mansion Studios 
(Guernsey) Limited Nottingham Limited

Valiance Asset Management Limited MSAF008 Mansion Brook Selly Oak 
Valiance Asset Management General Limited
Partner Limited MSAF009 Glasshouse Nottingham 

Valiance Special Opportunities Limited
Co-Investment Fund Limited MSAF010 Ben Russell Leicester 

Valiance Special Opportunities Fund Limited
of Funds Limited MSAF011 Mansion Tower Lambeth 

Valiance Special Opportunities Limited
Co-Investment General Partner MSAF012 Mansion SW3 Limited
Limited MSAF014 James Craig Court 

Edinburgh Limited
MSAF014 James Craig Leasehold 
Limited

MSAF015 Mansion Bloomsbury 
Limited

MSAF016 Park View Manchester
Limited
MSAF017 Windsor Court Liverpool 
Limited

MSAF018 Camden London Limited
MSAF019 Rockingham House 
Sheffield Limited

MSAF020 Beaverbank Edinburgh 
Limited

MSAF021 The Canalside Birmingham 
Limited

MSAF022 Alexandra Hall Aberystwyth 
Limited

MSAF023 Danesgate House Lincoln 
Limited

M&G REDF II GP
M&G REDF III GP
Oppenheim & Co. Limited
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Name Current Previous

Richard Bray Oppenheim & Co. (Custody) Limited
(continued) Park Lane Property Fund SPV Limited

Topcel 1 Limited
TOPZYN1 Limited

Philip Soulsby Fultura Limited Aviva Investors Channel Islands Limited
Moonraker Funds PCC Limited Brookwell Limited
The Mundi Group Ltd Ethical Junction CIC
Structured Products Management Ltd Finwind B Limited
Manor Park Guaranteed Investment Florin Capital Limited
Funds Ltd The International Investment Fund 

SEI Investments Guernsey Ltd PCC Limited
The Tradition (Music) Limited 
Moonraker Fund Management
(Guernsey) Limited 

5.7 Save as disclosed in paragraph 5.8 below, the Directors in the five years before the date of this
document:

(i) do not have any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences;

(ii) have not been associated with any bankruptcies or individual voluntary arrangements;

(iii) have not been associated with any receiverships, compulsory liquidations, creditors’ voluntary
liquidations, administrations, company voluntary arrangements or any composition or
arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors of any company where he
was a director at the time of or within the twelve months preceding such events;

(iv) have not been associated with any compulsory liquidations, administrations or partnership
voluntary arrangements of any partnerships where he was a director at the time of or within the
twelve months preceding such events;

(v) have not been associated with any details of receiverships of any asset or of a partnership of
which the director was a partner at the time of or within the twelve months preceding such events;
and

(vi) do not have any public criticisms by statutory or regulatory authorities (including recognised
professional bodies) and have never been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a
company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company.

5.8 The companies listed below have all been dissolved by way of creditors’ or members’ voluntary
liquidation, with no deficiencies to creditors, in the five years prior to the date of this document, of
which Richard Bray was a director at the time of or in the 12 months prior to such dissolution:

Name of company Date of liquidation

Burton Court Capital Management Limited 18 February 2015
Park Lane Property Fund SPV Limited 11 May 2015
Topcel 1 Limited in progress

The companies listed below have all been dissolved by way of creditors’ or members’ voluntary
liquidation, with no deficiencies to creditors, in the five years prior to the date of this document, of
which Wayne Bulpitt was a director at the time of or in the 12 months prior to such dissolution:

Name of company Date of liquidation

BlueCrest BlueTrend Limited in progress
Burton Court Capital Management Limited 18 February 2015
Denjoy Integral Fund Limited 8 December 2015
Denjoy Integral Master Fund Limited 8 December 2015
Distribution Partners (Guernsey) Limited 31 January 2013
First Avenue Partners Management (Guernsey) Limited 26 September 2012
HRS Asset Management Limited in progress
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Name of company Date of liquidation

HRS Diversified Fund PCC Limited in progress
HRS Diversified Limited 16 December 2014
HRS Holdings Limited in progress
Insight Consumer Debt Recovery GP I Ltd in progress
Novator Credit Management Limited 20 May 2013
Novator Guernsey Limited 29 August 2013
Ridley Park Paragon Fund Limited January 2013
Ridley Park Paragon Master Fund Limited August 2013
Ridley Park Capital (UK) Limited 7 June 2014
RIN HAML GP Ltd 17 February 2016
Sydney Charles Fund Managers Limited 13 March 2013
Vinum Fund Managers Limited 28 February 2013

6. Material contracts relating to the Company

Save as described below, the Company has not (i) entered into any material contracts (other than contracts
in the ordinary course of business) within the two years immediately preceding the publication of this
document; or (ii) entered into any contracts that contain provisions under which the Company has any
obligation or entitlement that is material to the Company as at the date of this document:

6.1 NOMAD and Broker Agreement
Pursuant to the terms of an engagement letter dated 22 August 2016, N+1 Singer was appointed as
the Company’s nominated adviser and broker for an initial period of 12 months from the date of
Admission following which their appointment is terminable by either party giving the other not less than
three months’ prior written notice. N+1 Singer has undertaken to provide the services of a nominated
adviser and broker as required under the AIM Rules and the Company and the Directors agree to
comply with their obligations under the AIM Rules. The Company will pay N+1 Singer an annual retainer
(plus applicable VAT) pursuant to the terms of the NOMAD and Broker Agreement.

6.2 Lock-In and Orderly Market Deed
By way of a deed between the Company, N+1 Singer and Bart Turtelboom dated 22 August 2016,
Bart Turtelboom has agreed that he will not sell, grant options over or otherwise dispose of any interest
in any of the Ordinary Shares issued to him, save in certain circumstances, including: (i) in acceptance
of a general offer made for the entire issued share capital of the Company in accordance with the City
Code on Takeovers and Mergers or (ii) pursuant to an intervening court order, prior to the first
anniversary of Admission.

The Lock-In and Orderly Market Deed is governed by English law.

6.3 Introduction Agreement
Pursuant to the Introduction Agreement dated 22 August 2016 between the Company and N+1 Singer,
the Company has agreed to appoint N+1 Singer as the financial adviser to the Company in connection
with Admission. The Introduction Agreement provides for the payment to the financial adviser of its
legal and all other expenses incidental to Admission (in each case plus VAT where applicable). The
Introduction Agreement also includes certain warranties and indemnities given by the Company to the
financial adviser which are customary for agreements of this nature.

The Introduction Agreement is governed by English law.

6.4 Placing Agreement
In connection with the Firm Placing, the Company and N+1 Singer entered into the Placing Agreement
on 10 August 2016. The Placing Agreement was conditional on, inter alia, CISEA Admission taking
place on 11 August 2016. CISEA Admission did take place on 11 August 2016. Pursuant to the terms
of the Placing Agreement, the Company gave certain warranties to N+1 Singer as to the accuracy of
the information in relation to certain matters relating to the Company in connection with CISEA
Admission. The Company also gave an indemnity to N+1 Singer in respect of any losses or liabilities
arising out of the proper performance by N+1 Singer of its duties under the Placing Agreement which
is customary for an agreement of this nature.
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CISEA Admission took place on 11 August 2016 and N+1 Singer is therefore entitled to a corporate
finance fee and a commission based on the gross proceeds of the Firm Placing Shares issued under
the Firm Placing.

The Placing Agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales.

6.5 Share Purchase Agreement
Under the Share Purchase Agreement dated 10 August 2016, between the Company, Bart Turtelboom
and APQ Capital Management Limited, the Company agreed to acquire (and did acquire) all of the
issued shares in the capital of APQ Alexandria at the net asset value of those shares on 4 August 2016,
in consideration for the issue, fully paid, of the Consideration Shares by the Company to Bart
Turtelboom at the Firm Placing Issue Price.

The Share Purchase Agreement was conditional on CISEA Admission.

The Share Purchase Agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales.

6.6 Registrar Agreement
The Registrar Agreement between the Company and Capita Registrars (Guernsey) Limited dated
10 August 2016, pursuant to which the Registrar has been appointed as registrar to the Company.
The Registrar shall be entitled to receive an annual maintenance fee from the Company of £2.00 per
Shareholder account, subject to an annual minimum charge of £5,500.

Either party may terminate the Registrar Agreement on not less than 12 months’ notice in writing to
the other party. Either party may terminate the Registrar Agreement immediately on notice in writing in
the event of material and continuing breach or insolvency.

The Registrar Agreement limits the Registrar’s liability thereunder to the lesser of £500,000 or an
amount equal to 5 times the annual fee payable to the Registrar pursuant to the Registrar Agreement.
The Company indemnifies the Registrar and its affiliates against all claims arising out of or connected
to the Registrar Agreement, save in the case of fraud, wilful default or negligence on the part of the
Registrar or its affiliates, which is customary for an agreement of this nature.

The Registrar Agreement is governed by the laws of the Island of Guernsey.

6.7 Sponsorship Agreement
A Sponsorship Agreement dated 10 August 2016 between the Company and Carey Commercial
Limited pursuant to which Carey Commercial Limited has agreed to act as the listing sponsor of the
Company in respect of the Company’s listing on the CISEA. In consideration for its services thereunder,
Carey Commercial Limited is entitled to be paid a fee of £8,000 for the initial listing, an annual fee of
£3,000 and a fee determined by reference to the number of hours worked based on the Sponsor’s
standard hourly charging rates. The Sponsorship Agreement may be terminated by either party giving
not less than 60 days’ notice in writing. The Sponsorship Agreement may be terminated forthwith on
notice in the event of certain circumstances, including material and continuing breach or insolvency.
The Sponsorship Agreement contains an indemnity in favour of the Sponsor for losses it may suffer in
connection with the performance of its obligations under the agreement which is customary for an
agreement of this nature.

The Sponsorship Agreement is governed by the laws of the Island of Guernsey.

6.8 Corporate Services Agreement
A corporate services agreement dated 10 August 2016 between the Company and the Corporate
Services Provider pursuant to which the Corporate Services Provider has agreed to provide company
secretarial, administrative and regulatory support to the Company. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Corporate Services Provider is entitled to be paid a fee of £10,000 for its services in connection with
the incorporation of the Company and the listing on the CISEA and a fee, payable monthly in arrears,
determined by reference to the number of hours worked based on the Corporate Services Provider’s
standard hourly charging rates (subject to a minimum annual fee of £15,000). The Corporate Services
Agreement may be terminated by either party to it giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.
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The Corporate Services Agreement may be terminated earlier in the event of certain circumstances,
including material and continuing breach or insolvency. The Corporate Services Agreement contains an
indemnity in favour of the Corporate Services Provider for losses it may suffer in connection with the
performance of its obligations under the agreement which is customary for an agreement of this nature.

The Corporate Services Agreement has been amended by a side letter dated 22 August 2016 pursuant
to which it is agreed that the Corporate Services Provider will assist the Company with its compliance
with the provisions of the Market Abuse Regulation, required in connection with Admission.

The Corporate Services Agreement and side letter are governed by the laws of the Island of Guernsey.

6.9 Relationship Agreement
On 10 August 2016, the Company, N+1 Singer, the Sponsor and Bart Turtelboom entered into the
Relationship Agreement to manage the relationship between Bart Turtelboom and the Company
following CISEA Admission and Admission.

Under the Relationship Agreement, Bart Turtelboom has undertaken, inter alia, that, for such period or
periods as he is able to exercise or control the exercise of voting rights in respect of at least 20 per cent.
of the Company’s issued share capital he shall, and shall procure that his associates shall: (i) not exercise
his or its voting rights in favour of any resolution which would, if passed have the effect that the Company
is not capable of carrying on its business or making decisions independently; (ii) not exercise his or its
voting rights in favour of any resolution which would, if passed, have the effect that variations are made
to the Articles which would be contrary to the maintenance of the Company’s independence; (iii) not
propose or procure that the proposal of a shareholders’ resolution which is intended to effect any
cessation of admission to listing and/or trading of the Ordinary Shares or vote in favour of any such
resolution unless a majority of the independent Directors have voted in favour of such a proposal or
recommend that shareholders vote in favour of such proposal (or as part of certain offers to acquire the
entire issued share capital of the Company); (iv) not propose or procure the proposal, of a shareholder
resolution which is intended or appears to be intended to circumvent the proper application of the Listing
Rules; (v) not take any action that would have the effect of preventing the Company from complying
with the Listing Rules; and (vi) not acquire any further interest in Ordinary Shares where such additional
interest would mean that the aggregate interest of Bart Turtelboom and persons acting in concert with
him reaches or exceeds 30 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company.

Bart Turtelboom shall promptly notify the Company, N+1 Singer and the Sponsor of any actual or
potential transaction, dealing or relationship between him, his associates or the Group and shall use
his reasonable endeavours to ensure that such transaction, dealing or relationship shall be conducted
on arms’ length terms and on a normal commercial basis. The Relationship Agreement shall remain in
full force and effect for the period that the share capital of the Company remains admitted to listing or
trading on any stock exchange or platform.

The Relationship Agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales.

6.10 Orderly Market Deed
By way of a deed between N+1 Singer, Bart Turtelboom and the Company dated 10 August 2016,
Bart Turtelboom agreed that, subject to certain exceptions, he shall not, and shall procure that no
person who is a connected person will, from the date of the deed for a period of nine months, directly
or indirectly transfer the legal and/or beneficial ownership (or any interest therein) in any of the Ordinary
Shares owned by him or such a connected person immediately after CISEA Admission or any Ordinary
Shares which may accrue to him or such a connected person as a result of his or their holding of such
shares except through N+1 Singer, provided that the price and settlement terms offered by N+1 Singer
are no less favourable than the price and settlement terms offered by any other stockbroker or dealer
in securities in respect of the same disposal and so that N+1 Singer shall be given five Business Days
(which period N+1 Singer may in its discretion elect to waive) within which to match any such price
and settlement terms, and in accordance with the reasonable requirements of N+1 Singer so as to
ensure an orderly market for the issued share capital of the Company. The Orderly Market Deed will
be terminated upon Admission.

The Orderly Market Deed is governed by the laws of England and Wales.
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6.11 Services Agreement
With effect from CISEA Admission and until the acquisition by the Group of APQ Partners (Holdings)
Limited, certain UK based individuals providing services to the Group will provide their services pursuant
to the Services Agreement dated 10 August 2016. APQ Partners LLP will assist the Board and the
Group’s management based in Guernsey with the implementation of its business strategy, provide
research on business opportunities in emerging markets and provide support for cash management
and risk management purposes. APQ Partners LLP will be entitled to the reimbursement of expenses
properly incurred on behalf of APQ Global Limited in connection with the provision of its services
pursuant to the agreement.

The Services Agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales.

7. Related Party Transactions

The Company has not entered into any related party transactions of the type as set out in the Listing Rules
or the AIM Rules.

8. Financial Information and no significant change

The Company was incorporated on 10 May 2016 and, save for the material contracts described in paragraph
6 of this Part 5 above, the receipt of the proceeds of the Firm Placing, the acquisition of APQ Alexandria
and the payment of the expenses in connection with the Firm Placing and CISEA Admission, the Company
has not commenced operations. As at the date of this document no financial statements have been
prepared. As at the date of this document there has been no significant change in the Company’s financial
or trading position since the date of its incorporation save for the receipt of the proceeds of the Firm Placing,
the acquisition of APQ Alexandria and the payment of the expenses in connection with the Firm Placing and
CISEA Admission.

9. Working capital
Having made due and careful enquiry, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital available for its present requirements, that is, for at least 12 months following the date of
Admission.

10. Litigation

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) during the 12 months prior to the date of this
document, which may have, or have had, in the recent past a significant effect on the Company’s financial
position or profitability.

11. Mandatory offers and squeeze out rules
11.1 Mandatory offers

The Takeover Code applies to the Company.

Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, where (i) any person acquires, whether by a series of transactions
over a period of time or not, an interest in shares which (taken together with shares in which persons
acting in concert with him are interested) carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of a company
subject to the Takeover Code, or (ii) any person who, together with persons acting in concert with him,
is interested in shares which in the aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent., but holds shares in the
aggregate which carry not more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of such company, and such
person, or any person acting in concert with him, acquires an interest in any other shares which
increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in which he is interested, then, except with
the consent of the Takeover Panel, he, and any person acting in concert with him, must make a general
offer in cash to the holders of any class of equity share capital whether voting or non-voting and also
to the holders of any other class of transferable securities carrying voting rights to acquire the balance
of the shares not held by him and his concert parties.
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Save where the Takeover Panel permits otherwise, an offer under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code must
be in cash and at not less than the highest price paid within 12 months prior to the announcement of
the offer for any shares in the company by the person required to make the offer or any person acting
in concert with him. Offers in different classes of equity share capital must be comparable. The Takeover
Panel should be consulted in advance of such cases.

In the event that the Takeover Code should cease to apply, the Company will notify Shareholders
accordingly upon becoming so aware of this occurring.

In this paragraph 11.1, “persons acting in concert” comprise the persons who, pursuant to an
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate to obtain or consolidate control
or a company or to frustrate the successful outcome of an offer for the company. Certain categories
of people are deemed under the Takeover Code to be acting in concert with each other unless the
contrary is establishes, including a company and its parent.

11.2 Squeeze-out rules
The Companies Law provides that if an offer is made for the shares or any class of shares in the capital
of a company and if, within a period of four months after the date of making such offer, the offer is
approved or accepted by shareholders comprising not less than 90 per cent. in value of the shares
affected then the offeror may, within a period of two months immediately after the last day on which
the offer can be approved or accepted, send an acquisition notice to any dissenting shareholders
informing them that it wishes to acquire their shares (an “Acquisition Notice”). Where an Acquisition
Notice is given, the offeror is then entitled and bound to acquire the dissenting holder’s shares on the
terms of the offer; and, where the terms of the offer provided a choice of consideration, the Acquisition
Notice must give particulars of the choice and state: (a) the period within which, and the manner in
which, the dissenting shareholder must notify the offeror of his choice; and (b) which consideration
specified in the offer will apply if he does not so notify the offeror.

12. General

12.1 Where information has been sourced from third parties, the Company confirms that this information
has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain
from information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The sources of information have been disclosed.

12.2 N+1 Singer has given and not withdrawn its consent to the publication of this document with the
inclusion of its name and references to it in the form and context in which they appear.

12.3 The Auditors for the Company are Ernst & Young LLP whose office is at Royal Chambers, St Julian’s
Avenue, St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 4AF. Ernst & Young LLP are chartered accountants and a
member firm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

12.4 The Ordinary Shares were admitted to the CISEA on 11 August 2016. As a company whose shares
are admitted to listing on the CISEA, the Company is subject to the listing rules of the CISEA.

12.5 All Shareholders have the same voting rights in respect of the share capital of the Company.

12.6 The Company and the Directors are not aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company.

12.7 As at the date of this document, the Company does not have:

12.7.1 any debt securities issued and outstanding or otherwise created but unissued;

12.7.2 any term loans;

12.7.3 any borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowings;

12.7.4 any mortgages or charges it has granted; or

12.7.5 any contingent liabilities or guarantees which it has given.
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12.8 Save as disclosed in this document, no person has received, directly or indirectly, from the Company
since the date of its incorporation, or entered into contractual arrangements to receive, directly or
indirectly from the Company on or after Admission, fees totalling £10,000 or more, securities in the
Company with a value of £10,000 or more calculated by reference to the expected opening price of
the Ordinary Shares on Admission, or any other benefit with a value of £10,000 or more at the date of
Admission.
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PART 6

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT APQ ALEXANDRIA AND THE MASTER FUND

Part A: APQ Alexandria

1. APQ Alexandria

1.1 APQ Alexandria is a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability that was incorporated
with registration number 276181 on 14 March 2013. APQ Alexandria was registered as a regulated
mutual fund under section 4(3) of the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Law (as amended). APQ Alexandria
was de-registered as a regulated mutual fund on 26 May 2016. The principal legislation under which
APQ Alexandria operates is the Companies Law (2013 Revision) (the “Companies Law”). APQ
Alexandria is domiciled in the Cayman Islands. Its registered office address and principal place of
business is c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited, 94 Solaris Avenue, Camana
Bay, PO Box 1348, Grand Cayman KY-1108, Cayman Islands and its telephone number is +1 345
814 9103.

1.2 The current directors of APQ Alexandria are Todd Groome and Gary Linford. The manager of APQ
Alexandria is APQ Capital Management Limited and APQ Partners LLP is appointed as investment
manager. The current director of APQ Capital Management Limited is Roger Priaulx.

1.3 APQ Alexandria currently has no employees.

1.4 APQ Alexandria has no subsidiaries as at the date of this document. Following CISEA Admission, the
entire voting share capital of APQ Alexandria was acquired by the Company.

1.5 APQ Alexandria invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund which, directly or indirectly
through subsidiaries, serves as the primary trading vehicle for APQ Alexandria, investing in stocks,
bonds, foreign exchange, commodities and their derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern
Europe, the Middle East, Africa and the developed markets. The Master Fund invests mainly, though
not exclusively, in liquid securities and in listed and over-the-counter derivatives.

2. Share Capital
2.1 As at the date of this document, the issued share capital of APQ Alexandria was:

Nominal
Value Number

Class A (GBP) GBP£0.01 756,302.45

All shares are fully paid and are held by the Company.

2.2 No share or loan capital of APQ Alexandria has been issued or agreed to be issued, or is now proposed
to be issued for cash or any other consideration and no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other
special terms have been granted by APQ Alexandria in connection with the issue or sale of any such
capital and no share or loan capital of APQ Alexandria is under option or agreed, conditionally or
unconditionally, to be put under option.

3. Articles of association

The objects of APQ Alexandria are unrestricted in accordance with APQ Alexandria’s memorandum of
association.

A summary of the main provisions of the articles of association of APQ Alexandria is set out below:

3.1 Variation of rights

If at any time the share capital of APQ Alexandria is divided into different classes of shares, the rights
attached to any class may be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than
two thirds by par value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a resolution passed
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by a majority of at least two thirds of the votes cast at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares
of that class. The directors may vary or abrogate the rights attached to any class of shares without the
consent of the holders of that class of shares if the directors determine that such change or variation
is not materially adverse to such holders’ interests. At every such separate general meeting the
necessary quorum shall be one person holding or representing by proxy at least one-third by par value
of the issued shares of the class in question (but at any adjourned meeting any holder of shares of the
class present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum), any holder of shares of the class present in
person or by proxy may demand a poll and every such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every
share of the class held by him.

3.2 Voting rights

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares, on a show of hands every shareholder
present in person has one vote and every proxy present who has been duly appointed by a shareholder
entitled to vote has one vote, and on a poll every shareholder (whether present in person or by proxy)
has one vote for every share of which he is the holder. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior
holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the
vote of the other joint holders. For this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the
names of the holders stand in the register of members.

3.3 Transfer of shares

A share transfer may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common form in use in the
Cayman Islands or in any other form approved by the Directors, executed by or on behalf of the
transferor. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share(s) until the name of the
transferee is entered in the register of members in respect thereof.

The directors may, in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reasons therefor, refuse to
register a transfer of any share. Such circumstances include where, in the opinion of the directors, the
transfer is not or may not be consistent with any representation or warranty that the transferor of the
shares may have given to the company or may subject the company or the shareholders to adverse
tax or regulatory consequences under the laws of any country.

3.4 Directors’ interests
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and provided that the director has disclosed to the
other directors the nature and extent of any material interest, direct or indirect, of his, a director,
notwithstanding his office, may vote in respect of any contract or proposed contract or arrangement
notwithstanding that he may be interested therein and if he does so his vote shall be counted and he
may be counted in the quorum at any meeting of the directors at which any such contract or proposed
contract or arrangement shall come before the meeting for consideration.

3.5 Appointment of Directors

Unless APQ Alexandria determines otherwise by ordinary resolution in general meeting, the number of
directors shall be one (except in the event that the company is registered under the Mutual Funds Law,
in which case the minimum shall be two) and shall not be subject to any maximum.

APQ Alexandria may, by ordinary resolution, appoint a person who is willing to act as, and is permitted
by law to do so, to be a director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director and may by ordinary
resolution remove any director too. The directors may appoint a person who is willing to act, and is
permitted by law to do so, to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director provided
that the appointment does not cause the number of directors to exceed any number fixed by or in
accordance with the articles of association as the maximum number of directors.

3.6 Powers of Directors
The business and affairs of APQ Alexandria are managed by, or under the direction or supervision of
its directors who may exercise all such powers necessary for managing, and for directing and
supervising the management of, the business and affairs of APQ Alexandria as are not, by applicable
law or by its articles, required to be exercised by APQ Alexandria in a general meeting, subject,
nevertheless, to any of its memorandum, articles, the provisions of applicable law and to such
regulations as may be prescribed by APQ Alexandria by special resolution; but no regulation made by
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APQ Alexandria may invalidate any prior act of its directors which would have been valid if that
regulation had not been made.

3.7 General meetings

All general meetings shall be convened by at least seven clear days’ notice to all APQ Alexandria’s
members, manager, investment manager, administrator, custodian and auditors.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. One or more
shareholders (present in person or by proxy) entitled to attend and vote and representing not less than
twenty per cent. in par value of all of the shares in issue and carrying the right to vote at the meeting,
shall be a quorum. A representative of a corporation present at any meeting of APQ Alexandria shall
be deemed to be a shareholder present in person for the purposes of counting towards a quorum.

A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to exercise all or any of his rights to
attend and to speak and vote at a meeting of APQ Alexandria. A shareholder may appoint more than
one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached
to a different share or shares held by him. Any corporation (other than APQ Alexandria itself) which is
a shareholder may, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, authorise such person(s) to
act as its representative(s) at any meeting of APQ Alexandria, or at any separate meeting of the holders
of any class of shares.

Directors may attend and speak at general meetings and at any separate meeting of the holders of
any class of shares, whether or not they are shareholders.

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of
hands unless before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands, a poll is demanded by
the chairman or any other shareholder having the right to vote at the meeting.

3.8 Dividends
The directors may from time to time declare dividends (including interim dividends) and other
distributions on shares in issue and authorise payment of the same. The company may, by ordinary
resolution, declare dividends, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the directors.
Before recommending or declaring any dividend the directors may set aside a reserve or reserves out
of the funds legally available for distribution which shall remain available to the directors for meeting
contingencies, for use in the business of the company or for investment, or for any other purpose in
respect of which such funds may be properly applied. When paying dividends the directors can make
such payment in cash or in specie. All dividends shall be declared and paid in proportion to the net
asset value of the shares. All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the
directors for the benefit of the company until claimed. No dividend shall bear interest against the
company.

3.9 Indemnity
Every director (including any alternate director), secretary or other officer for the time being and from
time to time and the personal representatives of the same (each an “Indemnified Person”) shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and funds of the company against all actions,
proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by such
Indemnified Person, other than by reason of such Indemnified Person’s own dishonesty, wilful default
or fraud, in or about the conduct of the company’s business or affairs (including as a result of any
mistake or judgment) or in the execution or discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions,
including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or liabilities
incurred by such Indemnified Person in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any civil
proceedings concerning the company or its affairs in any court whether in the Cayman Islands or
elsewhere.

4. Interests in shares

4.1 As at the date of this document all of APQ Alexandria’s shares are held by the Company.
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4.2 APQ Alexandria is not aware of any other person who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercises
or could exercise control over APQ Alexandria.

4.3 As at the date of this document, insofar as known to APQ Alexandria, there are no parties known to
have a notifiable interest under the laws of the Cayman Islands in its capital or voting rights.

5. Directors’ appointments and remuneration

5.1 Todd Groome and Gary Linford are the directors of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund. Each of the
directors has served as director of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund since 14 March 2013, being
the date of their incorporation.

5.2 Each of Todd Groome and Gary Linford has entered into a director services agreement with APQ
Alexandria and the Master Fund (the “Director Services Agreements”). The Director Services
Agreements were entered into on 11 April 2013. Each Director Services Agreement may be terminated
by APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund upon three months’ notice and will terminate automatically upon
the director’s resignation from APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund. Any party may terminate the Director
Services Agreement on immediate written notice if, inter alia, (i) another party commits a material breach
of its obligations and fails to remedy the breach within 30 days of receipt of notice requiring the same, (ii)
another party goes into liquidation or (iii) the party has had a license revoked for cause or is subject to
disciplinary action by a regulator. The directors will not be liable for any damages, losses, costs or
expenses to or of APQ Alexandria and/or the Master Fund at any time from any cause whatsoever unless
caused by his own fraud, wilful default or dishonesty. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each of APQ
Alexandria and the Master Fund has undertaken to indemnify and hold harmless the directors on the
terms of the indemnity article contained in the articles of association of each of APQ Alexandria and the
Master Fund (as summarised above in paragraph 3.9 of this Part 6 in respect of APQ Alexandria and as
summarised below in paragraph 13.9 of this Part 6 in respect of the Master Fund).

5.3 The Director Services Agreements do not provide for any benefits to the directors upon termination of
their appointment. There are no amounts set aside or accrued by either of APQ Alexandria or the
Master Fund to provide pensions, retirement or similar benefits.

6. Material contracts

Save as described below, APQ Alexandria has not (i) entered into any material contracts (other than contracts
in the ordinary course of business) for the two years immediately preceding the date of this document; or
(ii) entered into any contracts that contain provisions under which APQ Alexandria has any obligation or
entitlement that is material to APQ Alexandria as at the date of this document.

6.1 Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agreement
An Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agreement dated 26 September 2014, between
APQ Alexandria, APQ Partners LLP in its capacity as AIFM of APQ Alexandria and Hedgeserv Limited
in its capacity as administrator of APQ Alexandria (“Hedgeserv”), pursuant to which Hedgeserv shall
provide certain administration, registrar and transfer agency services to APQ Alexandria and perform
the fund accounting, investor and other administration services required in connection with the
requirements of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive on behalf of APQ Partners LLP.

The Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agreement may be terminated at the end of any six
month period upon at least 60 days’ written notice by any party, provided that (i) APQ Alexandria may
terminate at any time after Hedgeserv, inter alia, (a) commits any material breach of its obligations and
fails to cure such breach within 15 days of receipt of notice served by APQ Alexandria requiring it to do
so, or (b) goes into liquidation, bankruptcy or insolvency or if a receiver is appointed over any of the assets
of Hedgeserv; (ii) Hedgeserv may terminate at any time upon at least 60 days’ prior written notice if, inter
alia, (a) APQ Alexandria, its affiliates or APQ Partners LLP commits any material breach of the software
license agreement or its obligations under this agreement and fails to cure such breach within 15 days;
or (b) immediately upon dissolution of APQ Alexandria; and (iii) APQ Partners LLP may terminate this
agreement at any time immediately upon written notice solely with respect to the provision of net asset
value services by Hedgeserv if such immediate termination is deemed by APQ Partners LLP to be in the
interests of investors, or (i) immediately upon dissolution of APQ Alexandria, (ii) any relevant supervisory
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authority withdraws authorisation of either party, or (iii) any other event occurs resulting in termination of
the agreement under the provisions of APQ Alexandria’s constitutional documents.

Hedgeserv will not be liable for any loss, liability, claim or expense suffered or incurred by APQ
Alexandria or APQ Partners LLP (including attorney’s fees and disbursements) unless caused by its
own fraud, wilful default, negligence or an intentional act or failure to act with intentional disregard of
the harm that could result thereof, or that of its agents or employees. Hedgeserv will also not be liable
for any special, indirect, incidental, punitive or consequential damages whether or not foreseeable. In
the absence of fraud, wilful default, negligence or an intentional act or failure to act with intentional
disregard of the harm that could result thereof, Hedgeserv will be indemnified from and against any
liability, claim or expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees and disbursements) suffered or incurred
by Hedgeserv in connection with the performance of its duties for APQ Alexandria and APQ Partners
LLP under the Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agreement.

The Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agreement is governed by Irish law.

6.2 Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement
An Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement dated 26 September 2014 and
entered into between APQ Capital Management Limited (“APQ Capital Management”) in its capacity
as manager of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund and APQ Partners LLP (“APQ Partners”) in its
capacity as investment manager of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund, relating to the management
of the assets of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund.

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement, APQ Capital
Management has appointed APQ Partners (i) to manage and invest the portfolios of APQ Alexandria
and the Master Fund in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive and on
a discretionary basis in accordance with the respective investment policies and (ii) to be responsible
for the proper valuation of the investments of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund and the publication
and disclosure to investors of the net asset value and net asset value per share in accordance with the
requirements of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive.

APQ Partners shall be liable for the acts or omissions of its delegates but shall not be liable in respect
of any act or omission of any person, firm or company through whom transactions in APQ Alexandria’s
and the Master Fund’s investments are effected, or the prime brokers and custodians or any other
party having custody or possession of APQ Alexandria’s and/or the Master Fund’s assets from time to
time. APQ Partners shall not be liable for any loss howsoever arising except to the extent that such
loss is due to its gross negligence, wilful default or fraud or that of any of its employees.

APQ Capital Management shall indemnify APQ Partners, its members, officers and employees, against
any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, suits and expenses which may be incurred or
asserted against APQ Partners in its capacity as investment manager, other than those resulting from
the gross negligence, wilful default or fraud on its or their part.

The Amended and Restated Management Agreement may be terminated by either party on not less
than 60 days’ written notice. The agreement may be terminated immediately if either party (i) commits
a material breach of its obligations and fails to remedy such breach (if such breach is capable of being
made good) within 15 days of receipt of written notice from the other party requiring it to do so, or (ii)
is liquidated or dissolved (except a voluntary liquidation or a voluntary dissolution for the purposes of
reconstruction or amalgamation on terms previously agreed by the notifying party) or becomes unable
to pay its debts as they fall due or commits any act of bankruptcy under the laws of any jurisdiction to
which that party may be subject, or if a receiver is appointed over any of its assets. The Amended and
Restated Management Agreement shall also terminate immediately in the event of (i) termination of the
Management Agreement (referred to in paragraph 6.3 below) or (ii) if APQ Partners ceases to be
authorised by the FCA or (iii) if the FCA requires APQ Partners to cease acting as AIFM of APQ
Alexandria and the Master Fund.

Notwithstanding the above, the Investment Management Agreement will terminate with effect from the
date on which the Company acquires the entire issued share capital of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited,
the parent company of APQ Partners LLP as more fully described in paragraph 4 of Part 2 of this
document.
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The Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement is governed by and construed in
accordance with English law.

6.3 Management Agreement
A Management Agreement dated 19 April 2013 between APQ Alexandria, the Master Fund and APQ
Capital Management as manager, pursuant to which APQ Capital Management has agreed to act as
manager of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund, subject to the overall control and supervision of the
directors and has been authorised to appoint APQ Partners LLP as investment manager to manage
and invest the assets of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund.

Since CISEA Admission, all management and performance fees payable by APQ Alexandria to APQ
Capital Management Limited pursuant to the Management Agreement ceased to be payable. The
Management Agreement will continue in force until terminated by any party on 90 days’ notice in writing
to the other parties. It may be terminated forthwith by any party on immediate written notice if (i) any
party commits any material breach of its obligations under the agreement and fails to remedy such
breach (if such breach is capable of being remedied) within 30 days of receipt of written notice from
the non-breaching party requiring it to do so; or (ii) any party is liquidated or dissolved (except a
voluntary liquidation or a voluntary dissolution for the purposes of reconstruction or amalgamation
upon terms previously approved in writing by the party providing the notice), or be unable to pay its
debts or commit any act of bankruptcy under the laws of any jurisdiction to which that party may be
subject to or if a receiver is appointed over any of the assets of that party.

Notwithstanding the above, the Management Agreement will terminate with effect from the date on
which the Company acquires the entire issued share capital of APQ Partners (Holdings) Limited, the
parent company of APQ Partners LLP as more fully described in paragraph 4 of Part 2 of this
document.

The Management Agreement provides that, in the absence of its gross negligence, wilful default or
fraud or that of its directors or employees, the Manager and its directors, officers and employees will
be indemnified from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, suits and expenses
which may be incurred by or asserted against APQ Capital Management in its capacity as manager of
APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund.

The Management Agreement is governed by English law.

6.4 Distribution Agreement
The Distribution Agreement dated 19 April 2013 between APQ Capital Management and APQ
Alexandria pursuant to which APQ Alexandria has appointed APQ Capital Management as a non-
exclusive distributor of its shares with the power to appoint sales agents.

The Distribution Agreement will continue in force until terminated by either party giving the other not
less than 90 days’ written notice. The Distribution Agreement may be terminated with immediate effect
if either party shall (i) commit any material breach of its obligations and, if such breach is capable of
being made good, shall fail to make good such breach within 7 days of receipt of written notice from
the other party requiring it to do so; or (ii) go into liquidation or be dissolved (except for a voluntary
liquidation or a voluntary dissolution for the purposes of reconstruction). Notwithstanding the above,
the Distribution Agreement may be terminated with immediate effect if APQ Capital Management
ceases to be able to fulfil its obligations under the Distribution Agreement as a result of any change in
any applicable laws or regulations in the Cayman Islands.

In the absence of wilful default, fraud, bad faith or negligence of APQ Capital Management, APQ
Alexandria shall indemnify APQ Capital Management from and against any and all claims, actions,
liabilities, demands, proceedings or judgements and against all losses and all reasonable costs, charges
and expenses (including legal fees) which may be incurred by or asserted against the Manager in its
capacity as distributor.

The Distribution Agreement is governed by English law.
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6.5 Director Services Agreements
Details of the Director Services Agreement are set out above in paragraph 5.2 of this Part 6.

6.6 Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement
A Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement dated 19 April 2013 between APQ Alexandria, the Master
Fund and Highwater Limited, in relation to the provision of corporate secretarial services to APQ
Alexandria and the Master Fund.

The Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement shall continue until terminated by any either APQ
Alexandria and the Master Fund or Highwater Limited giving not less than three months’ notice to the
other parties. Any party may terminate the Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement on immediate
written notice if, inter alia, another party commits a material breach of its obligations and fails to remedy
the breach within 30 days of receipt of written notice requiring the same, or if another party goes into
liquidation or receivership.

Highwater Limited shall not be liable for damages, losses, costs or expenses whatsoever to or of the
APQ Alexandria or the Master Fund unless caused by the wilful misconduct, fraud or dishonesty of
Highwater Limited.

The Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement is governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

7. Related Party Transaction

APQ Alexandria has not entered into any related party transactions during the period covered by the historical
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2015, appended to this document in Appendix 1, and
up to the date of this document.

8. Litigation

There have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings and APQ Alexandria is not aware of any
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened, during the 12 months preceding the
date of this document which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of APQ Alexandria.

9. No significant change

As at the date of this document, and save as disclosed in this document, there has been no significant
change in the financial or trading position of APQ Alexandria since 31 December 2015, being the end of the
last period for which audited financial information has been published.

10. Auditors

The auditors to APQ Alexandria are Ernst & Young Ltd. Of Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane, Camana Bay,
PO Box 510, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. Ernst & Young Ltd is registered to carry on audit
work by the Cayman Islands Institute of Professional Accountants.

Part B: The Master Fund

11. The Master Fund

11.1 The Master Fund is a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability that was incorporated
with registration number 276183 on 14 March 2013. The Master Fund was registered as a regulated
mutual fund under section 4(3) of the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Law (as amended). The Master
Fund was de-registered as a mutual fund on 26 May 2016. The principal legislation under which the
Master Fund operates is the Companies Law (2013 Revision) (the “Companies Law”). The Master
Fund is domiciled in the Cayman Islands. Its registered office address and principal place of business
is c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited, 94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay,
PO Box 1348, Grand Cayman KY-1108, Cayman Islands and its telephone number is +1 345 814
9103.
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11.2 The Master Fund currently has no employees.

11.3 The Master Fund has no subsidiaries as at the date of this document.

12. Share Capital
12.1 As at the date of this document, the issued share capital of the Master Fund was:

Nominal
Value Number

B GBP Class GBP£0.01 635,234.00

All shares are fully paid and are held by APQ Alexandria.

12.2 No share or loan capital of the Master Fund has been issued or agreed to be issued, or is now proposed
to be issued for cash or any other consideration and no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other
special terms have been granted by the Master Fund in connection with the issue or sale of any such
capital and no share or loan capital of the Master Fund is under option or agreed, conditionally or
unconditionally, to be put under option.

13. Articles of association

The objects of the Master Fund are unrestricted in accordance with the Master Fund’s memorandum of
association.

A summary of the main provisions of the articles of association of the Master Fund is set out below:

13.1 Variation of rights

If at any time the share capital of the Master Fund is divided into different classes of shares, the rights
attached to any class may be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than
two thirds by par value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a resolution passed
by a majority of at least two thirds of the votes cast at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares
of that class. The directors may vary or abrogate the rights attached to any class of shares without the
consent of the holders of that class of shares if the directors determine that such change or variation
is not materially adverse to such holders’ interests. At every such separate general meeting the
necessary quorum shall be one person holding or representing by proxy at least one-third by par value
of the issued shares of the class in question (but at any adjourned meeting any holder of shares of the
class present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum), any holder of shares of the class present in
person or by proxy may demand a poll and every such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every
share of the class held by him.

13.2 Voting rights

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares, on a show of hands every shareholder
present in person has one vote and every proxy present who has been duly appointed by a shareholder
entitled to vote has one vote, and on a poll every shareholder (whether present in person or by proxy)
has one vote for every share of which he is the holder. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior
holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy) shall be accepted to the exclusion of the
vote of the other joint holders. For this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the
names of the holders stand in the register of members.

13.3 Transfer of shares

A share transfer may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common form in use in the
Cayman Islands or in any other form approved by the directors, executed by or on behalf of the
transferor. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share(s) until the name of the
transferee is entered in the register of members in respect thereof.

The directors may, in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reasons therefor, refuse to
register a transfer of any share. Such circumstances include where, in the opinion of the directors, the
transfer is not or may not be consistent with any representation or warranty that the transferor of the
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shares may have given to the company or may subject the company or the shareholders to adverse
tax or regulatory consequences under the laws of any country.

13.4 Directors’ interests
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and provided that the director has disclosed to the
other directors the nature and extent of any material interest, direct or indirect, of his, a director,
notwithstanding his office, may vote in respect of any contract or proposed contract or arrangement
notwithstanding that he may be interested therein and if he does so his vote shall be counted and he
may be counted in the quorum at any meeting of the directors at which any such contract or proposed
contract or arrangement shall come before the meeting for consideration.

13.5 Appointment of Directors

Unless the Master Fund determines otherwise by ordinary resolution in general meeting, the number
of directors shall be one (except in the event that the company is registered under the Mutual Funds
Law, in which case the minimum shall be two) and shall not be subject to any maximum.

The Master Fund may, by ordinary resolution, appoint a person who is willing to act as, and is permitted
by law to do so, to be a director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director and may by ordinary
resolution remove any director too. The directors may appoint a person who is willing to act, and is
permitted by law to do so, to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director provided
that the appointment does not cause the number of directors to exceed any number fixed by or in
accordance with the articles of association as the maximum number of directors.

13.6 Powers of Directors
The business and affairs of the Master Fund are managed by, or under the direction or supervision of
its directors who may exercise all such powers necessary for managing, and for directing and
supervising the management of, the business and affairs of the Master Fund as are not, by applicable
law or by its articles, required to be exercised by the Master Fund in general meeting, subject,
nevertheless, to any of its memorandum, articles, the provisions of applicable law and to such
regulations as may be prescribed by the Master Fund by special resolution; but no regulation made by
the Master Fund may invalidate any prior act of its directors which would have been valid if that
regulation had not been made.

13.7 General meetings

All general meetings shall be convened by at least seven clear days’ notice to all the Master Fund’s
members, manager, investment manager, administrator, custodian and auditors.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. One or more
shareholders (present in person or by proxy) entitled to attend and vote and representing not less than
twenty per cent. in par value of all of the shares in issue and carrying the right to vote at the meeting,
shall be a quorum. A representative of a corporation present at any meeting of the Master Fund shall
be deemed to be a shareholder present in person for the purposes of counting towards a quorum.

A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to exercise all or any of his rights to
attend and to speak and vote at a meeting of the Master Fund. A shareholder may appoint more than
one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached
to a different share or shares held by him. Any corporation (other than the Master Fund itself) which is
a shareholder may, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, authorise such person(s) to
act as its representative(s) at any meeting of the Master Fund, or at any separate meeting of the holders
of any class of shares.

Directors may attend and speak at general meetings and at any separate meeting of the holders of
any class of shares, whether or not they are shareholders.

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of
hands unless before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands, a poll is demanded by
the chairman or any other shareholder having the right to vote at the meeting.
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13.8 Dividends
The directors may from time to time declare dividends (including interim dividends) and other
distributions on shares in issue and authorise payment of the same. The company may, by ordinary
resolution, declare dividends, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the directors.
Before recommending or declaring any dividend the directors may set aside a reserve or reserves out
of the funds legally available for distribution which shall remain available to the directors for meeting
contingencies, for use in the business of the company or for investment, or for any other purpose in
respect of which such funds may be properly applied. When paying dividends the directors can make
such payment in cash or in specie. All dividends shall be declared and paid in proportion to the net
asset value of the shares. All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the
directors for the benefit of the company until claimed. No dividend shall bear interest against the
company.

13.9 Indemnity
Every director (including any alternate director), secretary or other officer for the time being and from
time to time and the personal representatives of the same (each an “Indemnified Person”) shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and funds of the Master Fund against all actions,
proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by such
Indemnified Person, other than by reason of such Indemnified Person’s own dishonesty, wilful default
or fraud, in or about the conduct of the Master Fund’s business or affairs (including as a result of any
mistake or judgment) or in the execution or discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions,
including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or liabilities
incurred by such Indemnified Person in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any civil
proceedings concerning the company or its affairs in any court whether in the Cayman Islands or
elsewhere.

14. Interests in shares

14.1 As at the date of this document, the entire issued share capital of the Master Fund is held by APQ
Alexandria.

14.2 The Master Fund is not aware of any other person who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercises
of could exercise control over the Master Fund.

14.3 As at the date of this document, insofar as known to the Master Fund, there are no parties known to
have a notifiable interest under the laws of the Cayman Islands in its capital or voting rights.

15. Directors’ appointments and remuneration

15.1 Todd Groome and Gary Linford are the directors of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund. Each of the
directors has served as director of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund since the dates of their
incorporation.

15.2 Each of Todd Groome and Gary Linford has entered into a Director Services Agreement. Details of the
terms of these Director Services Agreements are set out above in paragraph 5.2 of this Part 6.

16. Material contracts

Save as described below, the Master Fund has not (i) entered into any material contracts (other than
contracts in the ordinary course of business) for the two years immediately preceding the date of publication
of this document; or (ii) entered into any contracts that contain provisions under which the Master Fund has
any obligation or entitlement that is material to the Master Fund as at the date of this document.

16.1 Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement
Details of the Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement are set out above at
paragraph 6.2 of this Part 6.
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16.2 Management Agreement
Details of the Management Agreement are set out above at paragraph 6.3 of this Part 6.

16.3 Director Services Agreements
Details of the Director Services Agreements are set out above at paragraph 5.2 of this Part 6.

16.4 Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement
Details of the Corporate Secretarial Services Agreement are set out above at paragraph 6.6 of this
Part 6.

16.5 DB Prime Brokerage Agreement
The Master Fund has appointed Deutsche Bank AG (“DB”), acting through its London branch as a
prime broker under the terms of the DB Prime Brokerage Agreement dated 19 April 2013. Under the
terms of this agreement, DB provides custody, settlement, financing and reporting services to the
Master Fund regarding the purchase and sale of securities entered into by the Master Fund with either
third parties, DB or affiliates of DB. DB will be responsible for the safekeeping of all securities delivered
to it in accordance with the applicable rules of the Bundesanstalt fur Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht
(BaFin) and the terms of the DB Prime Brokerage Agreement.

DB will be responsible for the acts of any sub-custodian or nominee which is an affiliated company
(and therefore for losses to the Master Fund arising as a result of such acts) to the same extent as for
its own acts, including any act or omission, fraud, negligence or wilful default. Where DB has appointed
a sub-custodian which is not an affiliated company, it will not be liable for any act or omission, or for
the insolvency, of such sub-custodian or for any loss arising therefrom. The Master Fund has agreed
to indemnify DB against any expenses, costs, losses, damages and liabilities which DB may sustain in
connection with providing the services under the DB Prime Brokerage Agreement which is customary
for an agreement of this nature.

The DB Prime Brokerage Agreement may be terminated by either party serving not less than
30 calendar days’ written notice of termination on the other.

The DB Prime Brokerage Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

16.6 Citigroup Prime Brokerage Agreement
The Master Fund has appointed Citigroup Global Markets Limited (“Citigroup”) as a prime broker
pursuant to the terms of a prime brokerage agreement (the “Citigroup Prime Brokerage
Agreement”) dated 19 April 2013. Citigroup provides the Master Fund with various custodial services,
clearance and settlement of securities, transactions, foreign exchange services, cash loans, securities
lending and other investment services as agreed from time to time. Citigroup may hold the Master
Fund’s assets with an affiliate or any other third party and has undertaken to exercise all due skill, care
and diligence in the selection, appointment and periodic review of any such sub-custodian and of the
arrangements for the holding and safekeeping of assets in accordance with the FCA custody rules.

Citigroup shall be responsible for the performance and any failure of performance of any sub-custodian
that is an affiliate. Citigroup shall have no liability to the Master Fund in the absence of any negligence,
wilful default or fraud on the part of Citigroup. Citigroup’s aggregate liability to the Master Fund in
respect of its (and any of its affiliates’) gross negligence or wilful default shall not exceed the aggregate
market value (determined in accordance with the terms of the Citigroup Prime Brokerage Agreement)
of the securities recorded as being held with Citigroup at the time the gross negligence or wilful default
occurred and which were directly affected by, or specifically related to, such gross negligence or wilful
default. The Master Fund has agreed to indemnify and hold Citigroup, or any relevant affiliates of
Citigroup, harmless from and against any losses arising out of or in connection with the provision of its
services under the agreement which is customary for an agreement of this nature. The Citigroup Prime
Brokerage Agreement will remain in full force and effect until terminated (i) by the Master Fund giving
Citigroup at least three business days’ prior written notice or (ii) by Citigroup giving the Master Fund at
least 30 calendar days’ prior written notice.

The Citigroup Prime Brokerage Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with
English law.
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17. Related party transactions

The Master Fund has not entered into any related party transactions during the period covered by the
historical financial information for the year ended 31 December 2015, appended to this document in
Appendix 2, and up to the date of this document.

18. Litigation

There have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, and the Master Fund is not aware of
any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened, during the 12 months preceding
the date of this document which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of the Master Fund.

19. No significant change

As at the date of this document, and save as disclosed in this document, there has been no significant
change in the financial or trading position of the Master Fund since 31 December 2015, being the end of
the last period for which audited financial information has been published.

20. Auditors

The auditors to the Master Fund are Ernst & Young Ltd. Of Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane, Camana Bay,
PO Box 510, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. Ernst & Young Ltd is registered to carry on audit
work by the Cayman Islands Institute of Professional Accountants.

AI 2.1
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PART 7

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this document, unless the context otherwise requires:

“Admission” the admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM becoming
effective in accordance with Rule 6 of the AIM Rules;

“AIM” the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange;

“AIM Rules” the rules of AIM comprising together the AIM Rules for Companies
and the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers;

“Amended and Restated the amended and restated administrative services agreement dated 
Administrative Services 26 September 2014 and entered into between APQ Alexandria, APQ 
Agreement” Partners LLP in its capacity as alternative investment fund manager

of APQ Alexandria and Hedgeserv Limited in its capacity as
administrator of APQ Alexandria, details of which are set out in
paragraph 6.1 of Part 6 of this document;

“Amended and Restated the amended and restated investment management agreement 
Investment Management dated 26 September 2014 and entered into between APQ Capital 
Agreement” Management Limited in its capacity as manager of APQ Alexandria

and the Master Fund, and APQ Partners LLP in its capacity as
investment manager of APQ Alexandria and the Master Fund, details
of which are set out in paragraph 6.2 of Part 6 of this document;

“APQ Alexandria” APQ Alexandria Fund Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted
company with limited liability;

“Articles” the articles of incorporation of the Company;

“Auditors” the auditors for the time being of the Company;

“Board” the Directors;

“Business Day” any day on which banks are open for business in Guernsey and
London excluding Saturdays and Sundays;

“certificated” or “in certificated not in uncertificated form (that is not in CREST);
form”

“CISEA” the Channel Islands Securities Exchange Authority Limited;

“CISEA Admission” the admission of the Consideration Shares and the Firm Placing
Shares to listing on the Official List of the CISEA which took place
on 11 August 2016;

“Citigroup Prime Brokerage the prime brokerage agreement dated 19 April 2013 and entered 
Agreement” into between Citigroup Global Markets Limited and the Master Fund,

details of which are set out in paragraph 16.6 of Part 6 of this
document;

“Companies Law” the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, as amended, in force at the
date of this document;

“Company” APQ Global Limited;
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“Consideration Shares” the 17,130,244 Ordinary Shares issued to Bart Turtelboom (or his
nominee) at the Firm Placing Issue Price as the consideration for the
transfer of all of the issued voting shares in the capital of APQ
Alexandria from Bart Turtelboom (or his nominee) to the Company;

“Corporate Secretarial Services the corporate secretarial services agreement dated 19 April 2013 
Agreement” and entered into between APQ Alexandria, the Master Fund and

Highwater Limited, details of which are set out in paragraph 6.6 of
Part 6 of this document;

“Corporate Services Agreement” the corporate services agreement dated 10 August 2016 and side
letter dated 22 August 2016 between the Company and the
Corporate Services Provider, details of which are set out in
paragraph 6.8 of Part 5 of this document;

“Corporate Services Provider” Active Services (Guernsey) Limited;

“CREST” the relevant system (as defined in the CREST Regulations) for the
paperless settlement of share transfers and the holding of shares in
uncertificated form which is administered by Euroclear;

“CREST Guernsey Regulations” the Uncertificated Securities (Guernsey) Regulations 2009 (as
amended from time to time);

“CREST Regulations” the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755)
(as amended from time to time);

“DB Prime Brokerage Agreement” the prime brokerage agreement dated 19 April 2013 and entered
into between Deutsche Bank AG and the Master Fund, details of
which are set out in paragraph 16.5 of Part 6 of this document;

“Director Services Agreements” the director services agreements dated 19 April 2013 and entered
into between Todd Groome, Gary Linford, APQ Alexandria and the
Master Fund, details of which are set out in paragraph 5.2 of Part 6
of this document;

“Directors” the directors of the Company as at the date of this document and
“Director” means any one of them;

“Distribution Agreement” the distribution agreement dated 19 April 2013 and entered into
between APQ Capital Management Limited and APQ Alexandria,
details of which are set out in paragraph 6.4 of Part 6 of this
document;

“ERISA” the US Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended;

“ERISA Plan Investors” a plan investor as defined by ERISA;

“EU” or “European Union” the European Union first established by the treaty made at
Maastricht on 7 February 1992;

“Euroclear” Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited;

“FATCA” the US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act;

“FCA” the UK Financial Conduct Authority;

“Firm Placing” the placing of the Firm Placing Shares by N+1 Singer at the Firm
Placing Issue Price pursuant to the Placing Agreement;
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“Firm Placing Issue Price” the price at which Ordinary Shares in the Company were issued
under the Firm Placing, being 100p per Ordinary Share;

“Firm Placing Shares” the 60,924,756 Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the Firm Placing;

“FSMA” the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, (as amended from time
to time), including any regulations made pursuant thereto;

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time or, where the
context requires, any one or more of them;

“Guernsey” the Island of Guernsey;

“HMRC” HM Revenue & Customs;

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU;

“ISA” an individual savings account maintained in accordance with The
Individual Savings Account Regulations 1998 (as amended from time
to time);

“ISDA” International Swaps and Derivatives Association;

“Listing Rules” the listing rules issued by the CISEA;

“Lock-In and Orderly the lock-in and orderly market deed dated 22 August 2016 between
Market Deed” the Company, N+1 Singer and Bart Turtelboom, details of which are

set out in paragraph 6.2 of Part 5 of this document;

“London Stock Exchange” or London Stock Exchange plc;
“LSE”

“Management Agreement” the management agreement dated 19 April 2013 and entered into
between APQ Alexandria, the Master Fund and APQ Capital
Management Limited, details of which are set out in paragraph 6.3
of Part 6 of this document;

“Market Abuse Regulation” the EU Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation 596/2014);

“Master Fund” APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited, being a Cayman Islands
exempted company with limited liability and the master fund into
which APQ Alexandria invests substantially all of its assets;

“Memorandum” the memorandum of incorporation of the Company as amended
from time to time;

“N+1 Singer” Nplus1 Singer Advisory LLP;

“NOMAD and Broker Agreement” the nominated adviser and broker engagement letter dated
22 August 2016 and entered into between N+1 Singer and the
Company, details of which are set out in paragraph 6.1 of Part 5 of
this document;

“Official List” the official list maintained by the UK Listing Authority;

“Orderly Market Deed” the deed dated 10 August 2016 between the Company, N+1 Singer
and Bart Turtelboom, details of which are set out in paragraph 6.10
of Part 5 of this document;

“Ordinary Share” an ordinary share in the Company of no par value;
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“Placing Agreement” the agreement dated 10 August 2016 between the Company and
N+1 Singer relating to the Firm Placing, details of which are set out
in paragraph 6.4 of Part 5 of this document;

“Prospectus Rules” the prospectus rules made by the UKLA under section 73A of
FSMA;

“Register” the register of members of the Company;

“Registrar” Capita Registrars (Guernsey) Limited;

“Registrar Agreement” the registrar agreement between the Registrar and the Company,
details of which are set out in paragraph 6.6 of Part 5 of this
document;

“Regulation S” Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act;

“Regulatory Information Service” a service provided by the London Stock Exchange for the
distribution to the public of announcements and included within the
list maintained at the London Stock Exchange;

“Relationship Agreement” the agreement dated 10 August 2016 between the Company, N+1
Singer, the Sponsor and Bart Turtelboom, details of which are set
out in paragraph 6.9 of Part 5 of this document;

“Restricted Jurisdiction” each of Australia, Canada, Japan and the United States;

“SEC” the US Securities and Exchange Commission;

“Securities Act” the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

“Services Agreement” the agreement entered into between APQ Partners LLP and the
Company dated 10 August 2016, details of which are set out in
paragraph 6.11 of Part 5 of this document;

“Shareholder” a holder of an Ordinary Share;

“Share Purchase Agreement” the share purchase agreement dated 10 August 2016 and entered
into between the Company, Bart Turtelboom and APQ Capital
Management Limited in connection with the Company’s acquisition
of APQ Alexandria;

“SIPP” a self-invested personal pension;

“Sponsor” Carey Commercial Limited;

“Sponsorship Agreement” the sponsorship agreement between the Sponsor and the Company,
details of which are set out in paragraph 6.7 of Part 5 of this
document;

“Takeover Code” the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

“UK” or “United Kingdom” the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“UK Listing Authority” the Financial Conduct Authority acting in its capacity as the
competent authority for the purposes of Part 6 of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000;

“US Investment Company Act” the US Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended;
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“uncertificated” or recorded on a register of securities maintained by Euroclear in 
“in uncertificated form” accordance with the CREST Regulations as being in uncertificated

form in CREST and title to which, by virtue of the CREST
Regulations, may be transferred by means of CREST;

“US Code” the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;

“US Person” has the meaning ascribed to it under Regulation S; and

“US” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any
state of the United States of America and the District of Columbia.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF APQ ALEXANDRIA



Ernst & Young Ltd. 
62 Forum Lane 
Camana Bay 
P.O. Box 510 
Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
CAYMAN ISLANDS 

 Main tel: +1 345 949 8444 
Fax: +1 345 949 8529 
ey.com 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
APQ Alexandria Fund Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the 
“Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the directors as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

DRAFT
For Discussion Purposes Only

Subject To Revision 
4/22/2016 5:04 PM

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of APQ Alexandria Fund Limited as at 31 December 2015, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

DATE 2016
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an 
integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
As at 31 December 2015 
 
  2015  2014 
Assets  $  $ 
  Cash and cash equivalents  2,477  798 
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  53,393,338  71,002,929 
  Other receivables and prepayments  8,013  9,202 

Total assets  53,403,828  71,012,929 
     
     
Liabilities:     
  Management fee payable  46,562  61,953 
  Due To APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited  31,500  - 

Total Liabilities  78,062  61,953 
     
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable      
participating shares  53,325,766  70,950,976 
     
     

 
Net asset value per share by class   
As at 31 December 2015 No of shares  NAV per share 
Class AR Series 2013/05 USD 404,386.28  $ 84.66  
Class AR Series 2015/03 USD 196,670.00 $ 89.71  
Class B Series 2013/11 GBP 1,000.00 £ 83.71 
Class B Series 2013/12 GBP 1,000.00 £ 84.53 
Class B Series 2014/01 GBP 2,000.00 £ 84.64 
Class B Series 2014/04 GBP 600.00 £ 85.97 
Class B Series 2014/05 GBP 1,000.00 £ 85.32 
Class B Series 2014/06 GBP 2,000.00 £ 83.17 
Class B Series 2014/07 GBP 500.00 £ 82.29 
Class B Series 2014/09 GBP 1,500.00 £ 81.86 
Class B Series 2014/10 GBP 390.00 £ 83.22 
Class B Series 2015/04 GBP 600.00 £ 89.52 
Class B Series 2014/09 USD 1,650.00 $ 82.13 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited 
are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
As at 31 December 2014 
 
Net asset value per share by class   
As at 31 December 2014 No of shares  NAV per share 
Class AR Series 2013/05 USD 712,556.33  $ 94.05  
Class AR Series 2013/07 USD 5,429.01  $ 96.01  
Class AR Series 2013/08 USD 4,799.60 $ 96.48  
Class AR Series 2013/09 USD 1,545.48  $ 98.11  
Class AR Series 2013/10 USD 1,438.94 $ 96.15  
Class AR Series 2014/01 USD 2,179.55 $ 96.05 
Class AR Series 2014/02 USD 339.72 $ 99.01 
Class AR Series 2014/03 USD 3,092.17 $ 98.46 
Class AR Series 2014/06 USD 1,253.23 $ 94.11 
Class AR Series 2014/11 USD 714.53 $ 91.43 
    
Class B Series 2013/11 GBP 1,000.00 £ 94.28 
Class B Series 2013/12 GBP 2,000.00 £ 95.21 
Class B Series 2014/01 GBP 2,000.00 £ 95.34 
Class B Series 2014/04 GBP 600.00 £ 96.83 
Class B Series 2014/05 GBP 1,000.00 £ 96.09 
Class B Series 2014/06 GBP 2,000.00 £ 93.67 
Class B Series 2014/07 GBP 1,000.00 £ 92.69 
Class B Series 2014/08 GBP 600.00 £ 91.78 
Class B Series 2014/09 GBP 1,500.00 £ 92.21 
Class B Series 2014/10 GBP 390.00 £ 93.73 
Class B Series 2014/09 USD 1,650.00 $ 92.16 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited 
are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 

 
 

  2015  2014 
Investment income/(loss)  $  $ 

Net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities      
  through profit or loss and on foreign currency exchange   (1,204,318)  (442,993) 
Net change in unrealised depreciation on financial assets      
  and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and on      
  foreign currency exchange  (4,045,750)  (1,868,616) 

  (5,250,068)  (2,311,609) 
Expenses     
   Professional fees  6,500  9,955 
   Directors’ fees  25,000  28,333 
   Management fees  614,039  831,946 
   Performance fee  1,083  7,156 
   Other expenses  9,023  13,800 
  655,645  891,190 
     
Operating loss  (5,905,713)  (3,202,799) 
    
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of     
   redeemable participating shares from operations  (5,905,713)  (3,202,799) 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE 
PARTICIPATING SHARES 

 
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited 
are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 
   2015  2014 
  $  $ 
Net Assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares at beginning of year 

 70,950,976  98,031,739 

     
Issue of redeemable participating shares  19,778,292  2,443,145 
Redemption of redeemable participating shares  (31,497,789)  (26,321,109) 
     
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of      
  redeemable participating shares from transactions in shares  (11,719,497)  (23,877,964) 
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable      
  participating shares from operations  (5,905,713)  (3,202,799) 
     
Net assets, at end of year  53,325,766  70,950,976 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited 
are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable     
  participating shares from operations  (5,905,713)  (3,202,799) 
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets attributable to     
holders of redeemable participating shares from operations to      
net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:     

Payments for purchase of financial assets and financial      
  liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (19,503,120)  (2,291,627) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets and financial liabilities     
  at fair value through profit or loss  31,862,637  27,073,883 
Net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities     
  at fair value through profit or loss  1,204,318  443,195 
Net change in unrealised loss on financial assets and financial     
  liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  4,045,756  1,868,608 
Other receivables and prepayments  1,189  10,225 
Subscriptions received in advance  -  (549,205) 
Due to Master Fund  31,500  - 
Management fees payable  (15,391)  (21,800) 
Performance fees payable  -  (1,397) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  11,721,176   23,329,083 
     

Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares  19,778,292  2,443,145 
Payments on redemption of redeemable participating      
  shares    (31,497,789)    (26,321,109) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (11,719,497)  (23,877,964) 
     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,679  (548,881) 
 

    
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year  798  549,679 
     

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year  2,477  798 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 

 
1. Reporting Entity 

 
APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and 
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Fund was incorporated on 
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority 
(“CIMA”) on 22 April 2013. The Fund de-registered from CIMA on 31 December 2015. 
The Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013. The Fund’s registered office is at 94, 
Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman. 
 
The Fund will invest substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in 
the APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”). The Master Fund is 100% 
owned by the Fund as at 31 December 2015. 
 
The investment objective of the Fund is to invest in the “Master Fund” which seeks to 
generate long-term returns through investments in global and emerging markets. The 
Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds, foreign exchange, commodities and their 
derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the 
developed markets. 
 
The Fund’s investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment 
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”). 
 

2.1. Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).The financial statements 
are presented in US Dollars. 
 
The Fund meets the definition of an investment entity as defined by IFRS 10 - 
Consolidated Financial Statements. As a result, the Fund’s accounting policy with 
respect to its investment in its subsidiary is to account for it at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which 
have been measured at fair value. The financial statements of the Fund are prepared as 
a going concern. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2015 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

 
(a) Use of estimates and judgments  
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in any future periods affected. 

 
(b) Foreign currency 
 

The Fund’s functional and presentation currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates i.e. US Dollars. The Fund receives its 
investing capital primarily in US Dollars manages shareholder funds in this currency 
also. For this reason, management has determined that the functional currency of 
the Fund should be US Dollars.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into US 
Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.   
 
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss in 
the “net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities through profit or 
loss, and on foreign currency exchange loss” line, except for those arising on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss held at year end which is 
recognised in profit or loss in the “Net change in unrealised depreciation on financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and on foreign currency 
exchange” line. 

 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and are used by the Fund in 
the management of its commitments. 
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The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(d) Income taxes  

 
The Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including 
income, capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions, 
investment income and capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the 
source of the income. The Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the 
gross investment income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. For the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash inflows from investments are 
presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable 
 

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and 
financial liabilities: 
 
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading: 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes 
the Fund’s investment in the Master Fund. 

 
 

(i) Recognition  
The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only 
when, it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 

(ii) Initial Measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. All transaction 
costs for such instruments are recognised directly in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

 
(iii) Subsequent measurement  

After initial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. 
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these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 

 
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

(iv) Derecognition  
The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Fund neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership but 
transfers control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Fund is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability in the statement of financial 
position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion 
of the asset derecognised), and the consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
The Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
(v) Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal 
right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
(f) Redeemable Participating Shares 

 
Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are 
measured at the redemption amounts representing the investor’s right to a residual 
interest in the Funds’ assets. In accordance with the Fund’s Prospectus, the 
redemption amounts of the redeemable participating shares are calculated using the 
closing prices of the Fund’s underlying investments/short positions.  

 
Subscriptions received in advance in the statement of financial position are amounts 
for subscriptions that have been received but not yet invested as at 31 December 
2015. 
 

(g) Founder Shares 
 

The Fund’s founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form 
part of the net assets of the Fund and are thus disclosed in the financial statements 
by way of this note only. 
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The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 

 
2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(h) Income and Expenses 

 
Income and expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 

(i) Taxes 
 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and 
changes in tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international 
investments, differences arising between the actual investment income and the 
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Fund establishes provisions, 
based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax 
authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such 
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits 
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide 
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in their respective 
investment’s domicile. As the Fund assesses the probability for litigation and 
subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has 
been recognised. 
 

(j) Going Concern 
 
The Fund’s management has made an assessment of the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and is satisfied that the Fund has the resources to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Fund’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis. 
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The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 

 
2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations  

 
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting 
period:  
 
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 
39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting 
and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an 
effect on the classification and measurement of the Fund’s financial assets but will 
potentially have no impact on classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The
Fund will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to 
present a comprehensive picture. 
 

3.  Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through profit or loss 
 
Valuation of financial instruments 
The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities   

(Level 1). 
 
(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived 
from price) (Level 2). 

 
(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are not based on observable data (unobservable 

data) (Level 3). 
 
The Fund’s Investment in the Master Fund is classified as a Level 2 security. 
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The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

 

 
4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares 

 
The authorised share capital of the Fund is $50,000 divided into 10 founder shares of $1 
par value each and 4,999,000 redeemable participating shares of $0.01 par value each, 
€50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of €0.01 par value each, 
£50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of £0.01 par value each 
and ¥5,000,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of ¥1.00 par 
value each.  
 
Redeemable participating Class A and Class B shares provide investors with the right to 
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s 
net assets at each monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s 
liquidation. Each investor will be required to invest a minimum of $100,000 (or the 
currency equivalent thereof in the case of Shares not denominated in USD). Additional 
subscriptions may be made for a minimum of $10,000 (or the currency equivalent 
thereof), subject to the Directors’ discretion to reduce this amount either generally or in 
relation to any particular Shareholder. Subscriptions are payable in full upon acceptance. 
 
Series of Shares may be issued within each Class on the first Dealing Day in each 
month over each Performance Period (as defined in Note 6 below). Each new Series is 
issued at the initial price of €100 per EUR Share, £100 per GBP Share, ¥10,000 per JPY 
Share and $100 per USD Share. Following the end of a Performance Period, the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, compulsorily convert each Series of Shares of 
a Class into another Series of Shares of that Class (the “Benchmark Series”). If the 
Directors so determine, such conversion will be effected on the basis of the respective 
prevailing Net Asset Value per Share of each such Series. However, no conversion will 
occur with respect to a Series of Shares if, at the end of a Performance Period, no 
Performance Fee is payable in respect of such Series. In addition, a Series of Shares 
can only be the Benchmark Series if at the end of the relevant Performance Period a 
Performance Fee is payable in respect of such Series. Series are designated by 
reference to the Dealing Day on which they were issued. If a Series of Shares is not 
converted into the Benchmark Series at the end of a Performance Period, that Series 
may be consolidated at the end of the next Performance Period in which the 
Performance Fee is payable with respect to that Series of Shares. 
 
In addition, in the event that the Master Fund invests in equity securities which are part 
of an initial public offering (“New Issues”), the Fund reserves the right to 
redesignate/convert Shares held by any Shareholder who is a “Restricted Person” (as 
defined by the rules of the U.S. Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), into 
“restricted shares”. Shareholders who are not “Restricted Persons” will continue to hold 
“non-restricted shares”. Profits and losses with respect to New Issues will generally be 
allocated to non- restricted shares. In order to comply with exemptions and exclusions 
under the rules of FINRA the portion of profits and losses attributable to New Issues 
allocated to restricted shares may be limited.  
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4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 

 
The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows: 
Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each 
month; on the provision that day is a business day for the Fund, at the net asset value 
per share of the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Fund, 
shares may be redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder 
must request such redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed 
redemption day or such other day as the Investment Manager may determine. 
Redeemable Shares in voting classes have the right to receive notice of, attend and vote 
at any general meeting of the Fund. 
 
The classes in issue which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B 
GBP. Gains/losses from forward foreign exchange contracts held for share class 
hedging purposes are attributed to the relevant share class only. 
 
The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable Shares during the year are as 
follows: 
 

 

Outstanding at 
01 January 

2015 Issued Redeemed 

Outstanding at  
31 December 

2015 
USD Class A Restricted 733,348.57 196,892.22 (329,184.51)  601,056.28 
USD Class B 1,650,00 - -  1,650,00 
GBP Class B 12,090.00 600.00 (2,100.00) 10,590.00 
 747,088.57 197,492.22 (331,284.51) 613,296.28 
 

 

Outstanding at 
01 January 

2014 Issued Redeemed 

Outstanding at 
31 December 

2014 
USD Class A 54,000.00 - (54,000.00) - 
USD Class A Restricted 941,559.83 7,579.20 (215,790.46)   733,348.57 
USD Class B - 1,650.00 -   1,650,00 
GBP Class B 3,000.00 9,090.00 - 12,090.00 
 998,559.83 18,319.20 (269,790.46) 747,088.57 
 
The rights attaching to the Founder Shares are as follows: 
 
Founder Shares confer upon the holders thereof rights on a winding-up to repayment of 
capital in accordance with these Articles but confer no other right to participate in the 
profits or assets of the Fund. Founder Shares are not redeemable. 
 
Unless there are no Shares in issue (in which case the Founder Shares shall carry the 
right to receive notice of, attend and vote at general meetings of the Fund), the Founder 
Shares shall not carry the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at general meetings of 
the Fund, save that the holders of the Founder Shares shall have the exclusive rights to
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4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 

 
 vote (to the exclusion of the holders of the Shares) in respect of: (i) any alteration or 
amendment of the authorised share capital of the Fund; (ii) any change in the name of 
the Fund; and (iii) any amendment to the Articles to conform them to the terms of the 
Offering Memorandum issued in respect of the first issue of Shares. 
 
Additional rights of the Founder Shares and all rights attached to Shares are disclosed 
fully in the Articles of Association of the Fund. 
 
Capital management 
 
As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Fund can vary 
depending on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Fund. The Fund is 
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on 
the issue or redemption of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Fund’s 
constitution. 
 
The Fund’s objectives for managing capital are: 

 
� To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and 

expected return indicated in its prospectus 
� To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified 

portfolio, by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using 
various investment strategies and hedging techniques 

� To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Fund, and to meet 
redemption requests as they arise 

� To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Fund cost-efficient 
 

Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes 
applied by the Fund in managing its capital. 
 

5. Financial Risk Management   
 
The Fund is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and 
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising primarily from its investment in the 
Master Fund. As the Fund and the Master Fund are considered to be an integrated 
structure, the Directors believe disclosures regarding risk associated with the Fund 
relates to the Master Fund. Such disclosures can be found in note 4 of the Master 
Fund’s financial statements. 
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6. Investment Management Agreement  

 
In addition to serving as the Investment Manager to the Master Fund, the Investment 
Manager also serves as the Investment Manager to the Fund. Management and 
performance-based fees with relation to the foregoing relationships are incurred at the 
Fund level. 
 
The Investment Manager receives a management fee payable monthly, in arrear, equal 
to one twelfth of 1% of the net asset value for Class A shares and 2% for Class B shares 
(before deduction of that month’s management fee and any accrued performance fee) 
as at valuation day. The management fee is paid to the Manager, who in turn pays the 
Investment Manager. For the year ended 31 December 2015 the management fee 
expense was $614,039 (2014: $831,946) and $46,562 (2014: $61,953) was payable as 
at 31 December 2015. 
 
The Investment Manager is also entitled to receive a performance related fee in respect 
of each Series of Shares in issue in relation to each Performance Period (as defined 
below) (the “Performance Fee”). For each Performance Period, the Performance Fee will 
be equal to 20% of the net profits in respect of each Series, namely the increase in the 
Net Asset Value per Share of such Series during that Performance Period, subject to a 
“High Water Mark”, as described below. 

 
The Performance Fee is calculated and payable, in respect of each calendar year (each, 
a “Performance Period”), annually on 31 December. However, the first calculation period 
in respect of the first Series of a Class commences on the date of the close of the Initial 
Offer Period of that Class and ends on 31 December of that year, and the first 
Performance Period in respect of a Series issued other than on the first Business Day of 
a calendar year commences on the date of issue and ends on 31 December of that year. 
 
The Performance Fee will be deemed to accrue monthly and will be taken into account 
in the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share on each Valuation Day. The 
Performance Fee in respect of each Performance Period is calculated by reference to 
the Net Asset Value per Share before the deduction of any accrued Performance Fees. 
 
For each Series, a Performance Fee will be payable at the end of Performance Period if 
the Net Asset Value per Share of such Series at the end of the Performance Period 
exceeds the greater of (a) the highest previous Net Asset Value per Share of the 
relevant Series achieved as at the end of any previous Performance Period (if any) 
during which such Share was in issue; and (b) the original issue price of the Shares of 
that Series (the High Water Mark). All such calculations are made before deduction of 
the Performance Fee for the current Performance Period and by including realised and 
unrealised gains and losses. 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 the Performance Fee expense was $1,083 (2014: 
$7,156) and nil (2014: nil) was payable as at 31 December 2015.  
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7. Related Parties  

 
Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to 
the Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director prorated across 
both the Fund and the Master Fund. In addition, the Chairman of each Board of 
Directors receives an annual fee with respect to each of the Fund and the Master Fund 
of up to US$25,000 This is payable in advance, together with their out of pocket 
expenses. 
 
HighWater Limited provides corporate secretarial services to the Fund. Gary Linford and 
Todd Groome are directors of both HighWater Limited and the Fund. Corporate 
secretarial fees for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to $6,500 (2014: 
$5,417). The prepaid fee at year end was $1,083 (2014: $1,083). 
 
Manager 
APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”), is an exempted company 
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The details of 
the management fee and performance fee calculations are outlined above in Note 6. 
 
Tuva Mountains Limited hold 80% (2014: 80%) of the shares of APQ Capital 
Management Limited and the underlying beneficial owner of these shares is Bart 
Turtelboom. Bart Turtelboom is also a beneficial investor in the Fund. 
 
All Founder Shares are held by the Manager. 
 
Investment Manager 
APQ Partners LLP, an English limited liability partnership and regulated by the FCA is 
the Investment Manager of the Fund and Master Fund. APQ Partners LLP is appointed 
as Investment Manager of the Fund by the Manager and is entitled to receive a fee from 
the Manager for this service. 
 
Administrator 
The Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company 
incorporated in the Republic of Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Fund. 
Administration fees are calculated and incurred at the Master Fund level. Please refer to 
note 11 of the Master Fund financial statements. 

 
8. Subsequent Events 

 
Subsequent to year end, the Fund paid redemptions of $39,741,383 and £83,707. 
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9. Approval of financial statements 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Fund on 11 May 
2016.
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Manager  Investment Manager 
APQ Capital Management Limited APQ Partners LLP 
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) 3rd Floor 
Limited 22-23 Old Burlington St 
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay London W1s 2JJ 
PO Box 1348 United Kingdom 
Grand Cayman KY-1108  
Cayman Islands  
  
Registered Office Administrator 
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited HedgeServ Limited 
94 Solaris Avenue 75 St. Stephen’s Green 
Camana Bay PO Box 1348 Dublin 2 
Grand Cayman KY-1108 Ireland 
Cayman Islands   
  
Non-executive Independent Directors of the Fund Auditors 
Mr. Todd Groome   Ernst & Young Ltd. 
Mr. Gary Linford     Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane 
 Camana Bay 
 PO Box 510 
 Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
 Cayman Islands 
  
Legal Advisers Mourant Ozannes (in Cayman) 
Stephenson Harwood 94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay 
1 Finsbury Circus PO Box 1348 
London Grand Cayman KY1-1108 
EC2M 7SH Cayman Islands 
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Ernst & Young Ltd. 
62 Forum Lane 
Camana Bay 
P.O. Box 510 
Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
CAYMAN ISLANDS 

Main tel: +1 345 949 8444 
Fax: +1 345 949 8529 
ey.com 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 
APQ Alexandria Fund Limited 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the 
“Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the directors as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith. 

As at 31 December 2014 

2014  2013 
Assets $ $
  Cash and cash equivalents  798  549,679
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 71,002,929 98,096,988
  Other receivables and prepayments 9,202 19,427

Total assets  71,012,929 98,666,094
   
   

Liabilities:    
  Subscriptions received in advance  -  549,205
  Management fee payable 61,953 83,753
  Incentive fees payable - 1,397

Total Liabilities 61,953 634,355

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable    
participating shares 70,950,976 98,031,739

   
   

Net asset value per share by class 
AS at 31 December 2014 No of shares NAV per share
Class AR Series 2013/05 USD 712,556.33  $ 94.05 
Class AR Series 2013/07 USD 5,429.01  $ 96.01 
Class AR Series 2013/08 USD 4,799.60 $ 96.48 
Class AR Series 2013/09 USD 1,545.48  $ 98.11 
Class AR Series 2013/10 USD 1,438.94 $ 96.15 
Class AR Series 2014/01 USD 2,179.55 $ 96.05
Class AR Series 2014/02 USD 339.72 $ 99.01
Class AR Series 2014/03 USD 3,092.17 $ 98.46
Class AR Series 2014/06 USD 1,253.23 $ 94.11
Class AR Series 2014/11 USD 714.53 $ 91.43

Class B Series 2013/11 GBP 1,000.00 £ 94.28
Class B Series 2013/12 GBP 2,000.00 £ 95.21
Class B Series 2014/01 GBP 2,000.00 £ 95.34
Class B Series 2014/04 GBP 600.00 £ 96.83
Class B Series 2014/05 GBP 1,000.00 £ 96.09
Class B Series 2014/06 GBP 2,000.00 £ 93.67
Class B Series 2014/07 GBP 1,000.00 £ 92.69
Class B Series 2014/08 GBP 600.00 £ 91.78
Class B Series 2014/09 GBP 1,500.00 £ 92.21
Class B Series 2014/10 GBP 390.00 £ 93.73
Class B Series 2014/09 USD 1,650.00 $ 92.16
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith. 

As at 31 December 2014 

Net asset value per share by class 
as at 31 December 2013 No of shares NAV per share

Class A Series 2013/05 USD 30,000.00  $ 97.68 
Class AR Series 2013/05 USD 928,346.79  $ 97.92 
Class A Series 2013/06 USD 24,000.00  $ 99.20 
Class AR Series 2013/07 USD 5,429.01  $ 99.96 
Class AR Series 2013/08 USD 4,799.60  $ 100.44 
Class AR Series 2013/09 USD 1,545.48  $ 102.14 
Class AR Series 2013/10 USD 1,438.94  $ 100.10 
Class B Series 2013/11 GBP 1,000.00  £ 98.89 
Class B Series 2013/12 GBP 2,000.00  £ 99.87 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith. 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

2014  2013* 
Investment income/(loss) $ $

Net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities     
  through profit or loss and on foreign currency exchange   (442,993)  (20,944)
Net change in unrealised depreciation on financial assets  
  and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and on  
  foreign currency exchange  (1,868,616)  (1,366,736)

(2,311,609) (1,387,680)
Expenses    
   Professional fees  9,955  2,907
   Directorsʼ fees 28,333 17,500
   Management fees 831,946 617,480
   Incentive fee 7,156 1,397
   Other expenses 13,800 2,538
  891,190  641,822
    
Operating loss (3,202,799) (2,029,502)

Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of  
   redeemable participating shares from operations (3,202,799) (2,029,502)

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE 
PARTICIPATING SHARES 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith. 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

 2014  2013* 
$ $

As at 01 January 2014  98,031,739  -
   
Issue of redeemable participating shares  2,443,145  100,903,898
Redemption of redeemable participating shares  (26,321,109)  (842,657)
   
(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to holders of    
  redeemable participating shares from transactions in shares  (23,877,964)  100,061,241
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable    
  participating shares from operations  (3,202,799)  (2,029,502)
   
As at 31 December 2014 70,950,976 98,031,739

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith. 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

2014  2013* 
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities    
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable   
  participating shares from operations  (3,202,799)  (2,029,502)
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating shares from operations to  
net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:    

Payments for purchase of financial assets and financial     
  liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,291,627)  (100,903,897)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets and financial liabilities    
  at fair value through profit or loss  27,073,883  1,419,215
Net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities    
  at fair value through profit or loss  443,195  20,956
Net change in unrealised loss on financial assets and financial    
  liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  1,868,608  1,366,738
Other receivables and prepayments  10,225  (19,427)
Subscriptions received in advance  (549,205)  549,205
Management fees payable  (21,800)  83,753
Incentive fees payable  (1,397)  1,397

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities   23,329,083  (99,511,562)
    

Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares  2,443,145  100,903,898
Payments on redemption of redeemable participating     
  shares    (26,321,109)  (842,657)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (23,877,964)  100,061,241
    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (548,881)  549,679

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year/period  549,679  -
    

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year/period 798 549,679
   

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

1. Reporting Entity 

APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and 
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Fund was incorporated on 
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority 
(“CIMA”) on 22 April 2013.The Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013. The 
Fundʼs registered office is at 94, Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman. 

The Fund will invest substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in 
the APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”) which is also a Cayman 
Islands regulated mutual fund. The Master Fund is 100% owned by the Fund as at 31 
December 2014. 

The investment objective of the Fund is to invest in the “Master Fund” which seeks to 
generate long-term returns through investments in global and emerging markets. The 
Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds, foreign exchange, commodities and their 
derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the 
developed markets. 

The Fundʼs investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment 
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”). 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).The financial statements 
are presented in US Dollars. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which 
have been measured at fair value. The financials statements of the fund were prepared 
as a going concern. 

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

(a) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(a) Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in any future periods affected. 

(b) Foreign currency

The Fundʼs functional and presentation currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates i.e. US Dollars. The Fund receives its 
investing capital primarily in US Dollars manages shareholder funds in this currency 
also. For this reason, management has determined that the functional currency of 
the Fund should be US Dollars.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into US 
Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.   

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss in 
the “net realised loss on financial assets and financial liabilities through profit or 
loss, and on foreign currency exchange loss” line, except for those arising on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss held at year end which is 
recognised in profit or loss in the “Net change in unrealised depreciation on financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and on foreign currency 
exchange” line. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and are used by the Fund in 
the management of its commitments. 

(d) Income taxes 

The Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including 
income, capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions, 
investment income and capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the 
source of the income. The Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the 
gross investment income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. For the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash inflows from investments are 
presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities 

The Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and 
financial liabilities: 

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading: 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes 
investment in the Master Fund. 

(i) Recognition  
The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only 
when, it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

(ii) Initial Measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. All transaction 
costs for such instruments are recognised directly in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

(iii) Subsequent measurement  
After initial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an armʼs length transaction on the measurement date. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(iv) Derecognition  
The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Fund neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership but 
transfers control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Fund is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability in the statement of financial 
position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion 
of the asset derecognised), and the consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 

(v) Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal 
right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(f) Redeemable Participating Shares 

Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are 
measured at the redemption amounts representing the investorʼs right to a residual 
interest in the Fundsʼ assets. In accordance with the Fundʼs prospectus, the 
redemption amounts of the redeemable participating shares are calculated using the 
closing prices of the Fundʼs underlying investments/short positions.  

Subscriptions received in advance in the statement of financial position are amounts 
for subscriptions that have been received but not yet invested as at 31 December 
2014. 

(g) Founder Shares 

The Fundʼs founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form 
part of the net assets of the Fund and are thus disclosed in the financial statements 
by way of this note only. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(h) Income and Expenses 

Income and expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

(i) Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and 
changes in tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international 
investments, differences arising between the actual investment income and the 
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Fund establishes provisions, 
based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax 
authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such 
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits 
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide 
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in their respective 
investmentʼs domicile. As the Fund assesses the probability for litigation and 
subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has 
been recognised. 

(j) Going Concern 

The Fundʼs management has made an assessment of the Fundʼs ability to continue 
as a going concern and is satisfied that the Fund has the resources to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Fundʼs ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis. 

(k) Comparative information 

Certain comparative amounts used in the financial statements have been reclassified 
to conform to current year presentation. Such reclassifications do not have any 
impact on previously reported Net Asset Value or profit/loss. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations  

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting 
period:

There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are 
effective for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2014 that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the Fundʼs financial statements. 

IFRS 10, ʻConsolidated financial statements – Investment Entitiesʼ 

A parent entity will need to make an assessment of whether it meets the definition of an 
investment entity.  

An Investment Entity is defined as an entity that: 

(a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those 
investor(s) with investment management services; 

(b) commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns 
from capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and 

(c) measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a 
fair value basis. 

A parent entity will also need to consider a set of typical characteristics. These, 
combined with the above definition, are intended to allow for an appropriate balance 
between creating a clear scope and allowing judgment in assessing whether an entity is 
an investment entity. The characteristics are: 

(a) holding more than one investment; 
(b) having more than one investor; 
(c) having investors that are not related parties of the entity; and 
(d) having ownership in the form of equity or similar interests. 

The above standard has no impact in the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2014. 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting 
period:

IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASBʼs work on the replacement of IAS 
39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting 
and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an 
effect on the classification and measurement of the Fundʼs financial assets but will 
potentially have no impact on classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

2.4. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting 
period (continued):

Fund will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to 
present a comprehensive picture. 

3.  Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through profit or loss 

Valuation of financial instruments 
The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of inputs used in making the measurements: 

(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities   
(Level 1). 

(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived 
from price) (Level 2). 

(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are not based on observable data (unobservable 
data) (Level 3). 

The Fundʼs Investment in the Master Fund is classified as a Level 2 security. 

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares 

The authorised share capital of the Fund is $50,000 divided into 10 founder shares of $1 
par value each and 4,999,000 redeemable participating shares of $0.01 par value each, 
€50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of €0.01 par value each, 
£50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of £0.01 par value each 
and ¥5,000,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of ¥1.00 par 
value each.  

Redeemable participating Class A and Class B shares provide investors with the right to 
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Fundʼs 
net assets at each monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Fundʼs 
liquidation. Each investor will be required to invest a minimum of 100,000 USD (or the 
currency equivalent thereof in the case of Shares not denominated in USD). Additional 
subscriptions may be made for a minimum of 10,000 USD (or the currency equivalent 
thereof), subject to the Directorsʼ discretion to reduce this amount either generally or in 
relation to any particular Shareholder. Subscriptions are payable in full upon acceptance. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 

The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows: 
Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each 
month; on the provision that day is a business day for the Fund, at the net asset value 
per share of the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Fund, 
shares may be redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder 
must request such redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed 
redemption day or such other day as the Investment Manager may determine. 
Redeemable Shares in voting classes have the right to receive notice of, attend and vote 
at any general meeting of the Fund. 

The classes in issue which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B 
GBP. Gains/losses from forward foreign exchange contracts held for share class 
hedging purposes are attributed to the relevant share class only. 

The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable Shares during the year/period 
are as follows: 

Outstanding 
at January 1 

2014 Issued Redeemed 
Outstanding at 31 

December 2014 
USD Class A 54,000.00 - (54,000.00) - 
USD Class A Restricted 941,559.83 7,579.20 (215,790.46)  733,348.57
USD Class B - 1,650.00 -      1,650,00
GBP Class B 3,000.00 9,090.00 - 12,090.00
 998,559.83 18,319.20 (269,790.46) 747,088.57

Outstanding 
at 14 March 

2013 Issued Redeemed 
Outstanding at 31 

December 2013 
USD Class A - 54,397.55 (397.55) 54,000.00
USD Class A Restricted - 949,758.72    (8,198.89) 941,559.83
GBP Class B - 3,000.00 -  3,000.00 
 - 1,007,156.27 (8,596.44) 998,559.83

The rights attaching to the Founder Shares are as follows: 

Founder Shares confer upon the holders thereof rights on a winding-up to repayment of 
capital in accordance with these Articles but confer no other right to participate in the 
profits or assets of the Fund. Founder Shares are not redeemable. 

Unless there are no Shares in issue (in which case the Founder Shares shall carry the 
right to receive notice of, attend and vote at general meetings of the Fund), the Founder 
Shares shall not carry the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at general meetings of 
the Fund, save that the holders of the Founder Shares shall have the exclusive rights to
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 

 vote (to the exclusion of the holders of the Shares) in respect of: (i) any alteration or 
amendment of the authorised share capital of the Fund; (ii) any change in the name of 
the Fund; and (iii) any amendment to the Articles to conform them to the terms of the 
Offering Memorandum issued in respect of the first issue of Shares. 

Additional rights of the Founder Shares and all rights attached to Shares are disclosed 
fully in the Articles of Association of the Fund. 

Capital management 
 

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Fund can vary 
depending on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Fund. The Fund is 
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on 
the issue or redemption of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Fundʼs 
constitution. 

The Fundʼs objectives for managing capital are: 

 To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and 
expected return indicated in its prospectus 

 To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified 
portfolio, by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using 
various investment strategies and hedging techniques 

 To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Fund, and to meet 
redemption requests as they arise 

 To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Fund cost-efficient 

Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes 
applied by the Fund in managing its capital. 

5. Financial Risk Management   

The Fund is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and 
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising primarily from its investment in the 
Master Fund. As the Fund and the Master Fund are considered to be an integrated 
structure, the Directors believe disclosures regarding risk associated with the Fund 
relates to the Master Fund. Such disclosures can be found in note 4 of the Master 
Fundʼs financial statements. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year 31 December 2014 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

6. Investment Management Agreement  

In addition to serving as the Investment Manager to the Master Fund, the Investment 
Manager also serves as the Investment Manager to the Fund. Management and 
performance-based fees with relation to the foregoing relationships are incurred at the 
Fund level. 

The Investment Manager receives a management fee payable monthly, in arrear, equal 
to one twelfth of 1% of the net asset value for Class A shares and 2% for Class B shares 
(before deduction of that monthʼs management fee and any accrued performance fee) 
as at valuation day. The management fee is paid to the Manager, who in turn pays the 
Investment Manager. 

The Investment Manager is also entitled to receive a performance related fee in respect 
of each Series of Shares in issue in relation to each Performance Period (as defined 
below) (the “Performance Fee”). For each Performance Period, the Performance Fee will 
be equal to 20% of the net profits in respect of each Series, namely the increase in the 
Net Asset Value per Share of such Series during that Performance Period, subject to a 
“High Water Mark”, as described below. 

The Performance Fee is calculated and payable, in respect of each calendar year (each, 
a “Performance Period”), annually on 31 December. However, the first calculation period 
in respect of the first Series of a Class commences on the date of the close of the Initial 
Offer Period of that Class and ends on 31 December of that year, and the first 
Performance Period in respect of a Series issued other than on the first Business Day of 
a calendar year commences on the date of issue and ends on 31 December of that year. 

The Performance Fee will be deemed to accrue monthly and will be taken into account 
in the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share on each Valuation Day. The 
Performance Fee in respect of each Performance Period is calculated by reference to 
the Net Asset Value per Share before the deduction of any accrued Performance Fees. 

For each Series, a Performance Fee will be payable at the end of Performance Period if 
the Net Asset Value per Share of such Series at the end of the Performance Period 
exceeds the greater of (a) the highest previous Net Asset Value per Share of the 
relevant Series achieved as at the end of any previous Performance Period (if any) 
during which such Share was in issue; and (b) the original issue price of the Shares of 
that Series (the High Water Mark). All such calculations are made before deduction of 
the Performance Fee for the current Performance Period and by including realised and 
unrealised gains and losses. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of 
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith. 

7. Related Parties  

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to 
the Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director prorated across 
both the Fund and the Master Fund. This is payable in advance, together with their out 
of pocket expenses. 

HighWater Limited provides corporate secretarial services to the Fund. Gary Linford is 
one of the directors of both HighWater Limited and the Fund. Corporate secretarial fees 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to $5,417 (2013: $-). The prepaid fee 
at year end was $1,083 (2013: $-).

Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”), is an exempted company 
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The details of 
the management fee and incentive fee calculations are outlined above. 

Tuva Mountains Limited hold 80% of the shares of APQ Capital Management Limited 
and the underlying beneficial owner of these shares is Bart Turtelboom. Bart Turtelboom 
is also a beneficial investor in the APQ Alexandria Fund. 

All Founder Shares are held by the Manager. 

Investment Manager 
APQ Partners LLP, an English limited liability partnership and regulated by the FCA is 
the Investment Manager of the Fund and Master Fund. APQ Partners LLP is appointed 
as Investment Manager of the Fund by the Manager and is entitled to receive a fee from 
the Manager for this service. 

Administrator 
The Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company 
incorporated in the Republic of Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Fund. 
Administration fees are calculated and incurred at the Master Fund level. Please refer to 
note 11 of the Master Fund financial statements. 

8. Subsequent Events 

Subsequent to year end, the Fund received subscriptions of $19,689,222 and £120,000 
and, paid redemptions of $30,914,865 and £195,009. 

9. Approval of financial statements 
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Fund on 8 May
2015.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED 

APPENDIX I – GENERAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) 

Manager Investment Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited APQ Partners LLP
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) 3rd Floor
Limited 22-23 Old Burlington St
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay London W1s 2JJ
PO Box 1348 United Kingdom
Grand Cayman KY-1108
Cayman Islands

Registered Office Administrator
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited HedgeServ Limited
94 Solaris Avenue 75 St. Stephenʼs Green
Camana Bay PO Box 1348 Dublin 2
Grand Cayman KY-1108 Ireland 
Cayman Islands 

Non-executive Directors of the Fund Auditors
Mr. Todd Groome  (appointed 21/03/2013) Ernst & Young Ltd. 
Mr. Gary Linford    (appointed 14/03/2013) Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane 

Camana Bay 
 PO Box 510 
 Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
 Cayman Islands 

Legal Advisers Mourant Ozannes (in Cayman) 
Stephenson Harwood 94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay 
1 Finsbury Circus PO Box 1348 
London Grand Cayman KY1-1108 
EC2M 7SH Cayman Islands 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
APQ Alexandria Fund Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the
“Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial condition as at 31 December 2013, and the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to
shareholders and statement of cash flows for the period from 14 March 2013 (date of
incorporation) to 31 December 2013, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the directors as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Ernst & Young Ltd.
62 Forum Lane
Camana Bay
P.O. Box 510
Grand Cayman KY1-1106
CAYMAN ISLANDS

Tel: +1 345 949 8444
Fax: +1 345 949 8529
ey.com
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of APQ Alexandria Fund Limited as at 31 December 2013, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the period from 14 March 2013 (date of incorporation) to
31 December 2013, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

15 April 2014
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.

As at 31 December 2013

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 549,679
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 98,096,988
Other receivables and prepayments 19,427

Total assets $ 98,666,094

Liabilities
Subscriptions received in advance 549,205
Management fee payable 83,753
Incentive fees payable 1,397

Total Liabilities $ 634,355

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares $ 98,031,739

Net asset value per share by class
AS at 31 December 2013 No of shares NAV per share

Class A Series 2013/05 USD 30,000.00 $ 97.68
Class AR Series 2013/05 USD 928,346.79 $ 97.92
Class A Series 2013/06 USD 24,000.00 $ 99.20
Class AR Series 2013/07 USD 5,429.01 $ 99.96
Class AR Series 2013/08 USD 4,799.60 $ 100.44
Class AR Series 2013/09 USD 1,545.48 $ 102.14
Class AR Series 2013/10 USD 1,438.94 $ 100.10
Class B Series 2013/11 GBP 1,000.00 £ 98.89
Class B Series 2013/12 GBP 2,000.00 £ 99.87
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.

For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013

Investment income/(loss)
Net realized loss on financial assets and financial liabilities through
profit or loss, and on foreign currency exchange loss $ (20,944)

Net change in unrealized depreciation on financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and on foreign currency exchange (1,366,736)

(1,387,680)
Expense

Professional fees 2,907
Directorsʼ fees 17,500
Management fees 617,480
Incentive fee 1,397
Other expenses 2,538

641,822

Operating loss (2,029,502)

Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares from operations $ (2,029,502)
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE
PARTICIPATING SHARES

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.

For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013

Net assets
attributable to

holders of
redeemable

participating
shares

As at 14 March 2013

Issue of redeemable participating shares $ 100,903,898
Redemption of redeemable participating shares (842,657)

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares
from transactions in shares 100,061,241
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares
from operations (2,029,502)

As at 31 December 2013 $ 98,031,739
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The accompanying notes and attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund
Limited are an integral part of these financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.

For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Adjustments to reconcile net decrease in net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares from operations to net cash used in $ (2,029,502)

Payments for purchase of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss (100,903,897)
Proceeds from sale of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,419,215
Net realized loss on financial investments 20,956
Net change in unrealized loss on financial investments 1,366,738
Other receivables and prepayments (19,427)
Subscriptions received in advance 549,205
Management fees payable 83,753
Incentive fees payable 1,397

Net cash in operating activities (99,511,562)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of participating redeemable shares 100,903,898
Payments on redemption of participating redeemable shares (842,657)

Net cash provided by financing activities 100,061,241
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 549,679
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2013 $ 549,679
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

1. Reporting Entity

APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Fund was incorporated on
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority
(“CIMA”) on 22 April 2013.The Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013.

The Fund will invest substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in
the APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”) which is also a Cayman
Islands regulated mutual fund. The Master Fund was 100% owned by the Fund as at 31
December 2013.

The investment objective of the Fund is to invest in the “Master Fund” which seeks to
generate long-term returns through investments in global and emerging markets. The
Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds, foreign exchange, commodities and their
derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the
developed markets.

The Fundʼs investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”).

2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Fund for the period ended 31 December 2013 have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).The financial statements
are presented in US Dollars.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which
have been measured at fair value. The financials statements of the fund were prepared
as a going concern.

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(a) Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected.

(b) Foreign currency

The Master Fundʼs functional and presentation currency is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it operates. The Master Fund receives its
investing capital primarily in US Dollars manages shareholder funds in this currency
also. For this reason, management has determined that the functional currency of
the Master Fund should be US Dollars.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into US
Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss in
the “net realized loss on financial assets and financial liabilities through profit or
loss, and on foreign currency exchange” line, except for those arising on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss which is recognised in profit or loss in
the “Net change in unrealized depreciation on financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and on foreign currency exchange” line.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and are used by the Fund in
the management of its commitments.

(d) Income taxes

The Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including
income, capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions,
investment income and capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the
source of the income. The Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the
gross investment income in the statement of comprehensive income. For the
purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash inflows from investments are
presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Recognition
The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only
when, it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(ii) Initial Measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. All transaction
costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss.

The Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and
financial liabilities:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading:
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes
investment in the Master Fund.

(iii) Subsequent measurement
After initial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could
be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in
an armʼs length transaction on the measurement date.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) De-recognition
The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Fund neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred
financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the
Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the statement of financial
position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion
of the asset derecognised), and the consideration received (including any
new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired.

(v) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal
right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(f) Redeemable Participating Shares

Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are
measured at the redemption amounts representing the investorʼs right to a residual
interest in the Fundsʼ assets. In accordance with the Fundʼs prospectus, the
redemption amounts of the redeemable participating shares are calculated using the
closing prices of the Fundʼs underlying investments/short positions.

Subscriptions received in advance in the statement of financial position are amounts
for subscriptions that have been received but not yet invested as at 31 December
2013.

The Fundʼs founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form
part of the net assets of the Fund and are thus disclosed in the financial statements
by way of this note only.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

2.2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Income and Expenses

Income and expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(h) Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and
changes in tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international
investments, differences arising between the actual investment income and the
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future
adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Fund establishes provisions,
based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax
authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in there spective investmentʼs
domicile. As the Fund assesses the probability for litigation and subsequent cash
outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has been recognised.

(i) Going Concern

The Master Fundʼs management has made an assessment of the Master Fundʼs
ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Master Fund has the
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt upon the Master Fundʼs ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after the current reporting
period

IFRS 9, ʻFinancial instrumentsʼ, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and
October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be
classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value and those
measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

The classification depends on the entityʼs business model for managing its financial
instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For
financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after the current
reporting period

change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities,
the part of a fair value change due to an entityʼs own credit risk is recorded in other
comprehensive income rather than the statement of comprehensive income, unless
this creates an accounting mismatch. The Fund will also consider the impact of the
remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the International Accounting
Standards Board. Management of the Fund is currently assessing the standardʼs full
impact.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 on Investment Entities are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and have not been early
adopted by the Fund. The amendments define an investment entity and introduce
an exception to consolidating particular subsidiaries for investment entities. These
amendments require an investment entity to measure those subsidiaries at fair
value through profit or loss in its consolidated and separate financial statements.
The amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements for investment entities
in IFRS 12 and IAS 27. Management of the Fund is currently assessing the
standardʼs full impact.

Amendments to IAS 32, ʻOffsetting financial assets and financial liabilitiesʼ is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and has not been
early adopted by the Fund. These amendments clarify the offsetting criteria in IAS
32 and address inconsistencies in their application. This includes clarifying the
meaning of ʻcurrently has a legally enforceable right of set-offʼ and that some gross
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. Management of
the Fund is currently assessing the standardʼs full impact.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

3. Fair Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through profit or loss

Valuation of financial instruments
The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of inputs used in making the measurements:

(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1).

(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived
from price) (Level 2).

(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are not based on observable data (unobservable
data) (Level 3).

The Fundʼs Investment in the Master Fund is classified as a Level 2 security.

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares

The authorised share capital of the Fund is $50,000 divided into 10 founder shares of $1
par value each and 4,999,000redeemable participating shares of $0.01 par value each,
€50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of €0.01 par value each,
£50,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of £0.01 par value each
and ¥5,000,000 divided into 5,000,000 redeemable participating shares of ¥1.00 par
value each.

Redeemable participating Class A and Class B shares provide investors with the right to
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Fundʼs
net assets at each monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Fundʼs
liquidation. Each investor will be required to invest a minimum of 100,000 USD (or the
currency equivalent thereof in the case of Shares not denominated in USD). Additional
subscriptions may be made for a minimum of 10,000 USD (or the currency equivalent
thereof), subject to the Directorsʼ discretion to reduce this amount either generally or in
relation to any particular Shareholder. Subscriptions are payable in full upon acceptance.

The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows:

Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each
month; on the provision that day is a business day for the Fund, at the net asset value
per share of the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Fund,
shares may be redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder
must request such redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed
redemption day or such other day as the Investment Manager may determine.
Redeemable Shares in voting classes have the right to receive notice of, attend and vote
at any general meeting of the Fund.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

The classes in issue which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B
GBP.Gains/losses from forward foreign exchange contracts held for share class hedging
purposes are attributed to the relevant share class only.

The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable Shares and net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable Shares during the period was as follows:

Outstanding
at 14 March

2013 Issued Redeemed
Outstanding at 31

December 2013
USD Class A - 54,397.55 (397.55) 54,000.00
USD Class A Restricted - 949,758.72 (8,198.89) 941,559.83
GBP Class B - 3,000.00 - 3,000.00

- 1,007,156.27 (8,596.44) 998,559.83

The rights attaching to the Founder Shares are as follows:

Founder Shares confer upon the holders thereof rights on a winding-up to repayment of
capital in accordance with these Articles but confer no other right to participate in the
profits or assets of the Company. Founder Shares are not redeemable.

Unless there are no Shares in issue (in which case the Founder Shares shall carry the
right to receive notice of, attend and vote at general meetings of the Company), the
Founder Shares shall not carry the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at general
meetings of the Company, save that the holders of the Founder Shares shall  have the
exclusive rights to vote (to the exclusion of the holders of the Shares) in respect of: (i)
any alteration or amendment of the authorised share capital of the Company; (ii) any
change in the name of the Company; and (iii) any amendment to these Articles to
conform them to the terms of the Offering Memorandum issued in respect of the first
issue of Shares.

Additional rights of the Founder Shares and all rights attached to Shares are disclosed
fully in the Articles of Association of the Fund.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

4. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

Capital management
As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Fund can vary
depending on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Fund. The Fund is
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on
the issue or redemption of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Fundʼs
constitution.

The Fundʼs objectives for managing capital are:

 To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and
expected return indicated in its prospectus

 To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified
portfolio, by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using
various investment strategies and hedging techniques

 To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Fund, and to meet
redemption requests as they arise

 To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Fund cost-efficient

Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes
applied by the Fund in managing its capital.

5. Financial Risk Management

The Fund is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising primarily from its investment in the
Master Fund. As the Fund and the Master Fund are considered to be an integrated
structure, the Directors believe disclosures regarding risk associated with the Fund
relates to the Master Fund. Such disclosures can be found in note 3 of the Master
Fundʼs financial statements.

6. Organisation Costs

As set out in the Offering Memorandum, expenses associated with the organisation of
the Master Fund were not expected to exceed $160,000, which will be amortised over 60
months. However, actual expenses incurred by the Master Fund, for organisation costs,
were $331,196 and have been approved by the board of directors of the Master Fund.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

7. Investment Management Agreement

In addition to serving as the Investment Manager to the Master Fund, the Investment
Manager also serves as the Investment Manager to the Fund. Management and
performance-based fees with relation to the foregoing relationships are incurred at the
Fund level.

The Investment Manager receives a management fee payable monthly, in arrear, equal
to one twelfth of 1% of the net asset value for Class A shares and 2% for Class B shares
(before deduction of that monthʼs management fee and any accrued performance fee)
as at valuation day. The management fee is paid to the Manager, who in turn pays the
Investment Manager.

The Investment Manager is also entitled to receive a performance related fee in respect
of each Series of Shares in issue in relation to each Performance Period (as defined
below) (the “Performance Fee”). For each Performance Period, the Performance Fee will
be equal to 20% of the net profits in respect of each Series, namely the increase in the
Net Asset Value per Share of such Series during that Performance Period, subject to a
“High Water Mark”, as described below.

The Performance Fee is calculated and payable, in respect of each calendar year (each,
a “Performance Period”), annually on 31 December. However, the first calculation period
in respect of the first Series of a Class commences on the date of the close of the Initial
Offer Period of that Class and ends on 31 December of that year, and the first
Performance Period in respect of a Series issued other than on the first Business Day of
a calendar year commences on the date of issue and ends on 31 December of that year.

The Performance Fee will be deemed to accrue monthly and will be taken into account
in the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share on each Valuation Day. The
Performance Fee in respect of each Performance Period is calculated by reference to
the Net Asset Value per Share before the deduction of any accrued Performance Fees.

For each Series, a Performance Fee will be payable at the end of Performance Period if
the Net Asset Value per Share of such Series at the end of the Performance Period
exceeds the greater of (a) the highest previous Net Asset Value per Share of the
relevant Series achieved as at the end of any previous Performance Period (if any)
during which such Share was in issue; and (b) the original issue price of the Shares of
that Series (the High Water Mark). All such calculations are made before deduction of
the Performance Fee for the current Performance Period and by including realised and
unrealised gains and losses.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The attached financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited are an integral part of
these financial statements and should be read in conjunction therewith.

8. Related Parties

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to
the Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director prorated across
both the Fund and the Master Fund. This is payable in advance, together with their out
of pocket expenses.

Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”), is an exempted company
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The details of
the management fee and incentive fee calculations are outlined above.

Cairo Hills Limited hold 40% of the shares of APQ Capital Management Limited and the
underlying beneficial owner of these shares is Karim Abdul Motaal. Karim Abdel Motaal
is also an investor in the APQ Alexandria Fund.

Tuva Mountains Limited hold 40% of the shares of APQ Capital Management Limited
and the underlying beneficial owner of these shares is Bart Turtelboom. Bart Turtelboom
is also an investor in the APQ Alexandria Fund.

All Founder Shares are held by the Manager.

Investment Manager
APQ Partners LLP, an English limited liability partnership and regulated by the FCA is
the Investment Manager of the Fund and Master Fund. APQ Partners LLP is appointed
as Investment Manager of the Fund by the Manager and is entitled to receive a fee from
the Manager for this service.

Administrator
The Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company
incorporated in the Republic of Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Fund.
Administration fees are calculated and incurred at the Master Fund level. Please refer to
note 7 of the Master Fund financial statements.

9. Subsequent Events

Subsequent to year end, the Fund received subscriptions of $561,145, £200,000 and
paid redemptions of $833,254.

10. Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Fund on 15 April
2014.
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Manager Investment Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited APQ Partners LLP
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) 3rd Floor
Limited 22-23 Old Burlington St
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay London W1s 2JJ
PO Box 1348 United Kingdom
Grand Cayman KY-1108
Cayman Islands

Registered Office Administrator
c/o Mourant Ozannes Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited HedgeServ Limited
94 Solaris Avenue 75 St. Stephenʼs Green
Camana Bay PO Box 1348 Dublin 2
Grand Cayman KY-1108 Ireland
Cayman Islands

Non-executive Directors of the Fund Auditors
Mr. Todd Groome  (appointed 21/03/2013) Ernst & Young Ltd.
Mr. Gary Linford    (appointed 14/03/2013) Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane
Mr. Ian C. Cadby   (resigned 27/03/2013) Camana Bay

PO Box 510
Grand Cayman KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

Legal Advisers Mourant Ozannes (in Cayman)
Akin Gump LLP (for United Kingdom) 94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay
Eighth Floor, Ten Bishops Square PO Box 1348
London Grand Cayman KY1-1108
E1 6EG Cayman Islands
United Kingdom
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE MASTER FUND



Ernst & Young Ltd. 
62 Forum Lane 
Camana Bay 
P.O. Box 510 
Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
CAYMAN ISLANDS 

 Main tel: +1 345 949 8444 
Fax: +1 345 949 8529 
ey.com 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited (the “Master Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2015, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Master Fund and the directors as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited as at 31 December 2015, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
As at 31 December 2015 
 
 
 Notes 2015  2014 
Assets  $  $ 

Due from brokers 3 41,362,920   52,187,862 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 19,345,200   33,164,967 
Dividends receivable  55,387   - 
Interest receivable  92,921   200,152 
Due from APQ Alexandria Fund Limited  31,500   - 
Other receivables and prepayments  169,923   222,604 

Total assets  61,057,851   85,775,585 
     
Liabilities     

Due to brokers 3 735,457  620,223 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 5 6,846,355   14,097,809 
Interest payable  2,489   1,538 
Professional fees payable  80,140  51,410 
Other payables and accrued expenses  72   1,676 

Total Liabilities  7,664,513   14,772,656 
    
   

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable      
participating shares        53,393,338   71,002,929 
     
     
 
Net asset value per share by class    
as at 31 December 2015 No of shares  NAV per share 
    
Class A USD 597,884.85  $87.05 
Class B GBP 10,387.01  £87.94 
 
Net asset value per share by class    
as at 31 December 2014 No of shares  NAV per share 
    
Class A USD 723,266.75  $95.67 
Class B GBP 11,953.28  £96.91 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 
 Notes 2015  2014 
Investment income/(loss)  $  $ 
Net realised (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities      
   at fair value through profit or loss 5 (5,827,644)  4,214,192 
Net realised gain on foreign currency exchange 5 2,950  112,857 
Net change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on      
   financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit      
     or loss 5 538,785  (6,672,320) 
Net change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation)     
   on foreign currency exchange 5 36,106  (24,500) 
Interest income  511,676   947,806 
Dividend income (net of withholding tax 2015: $69,895     
   2014:$15,518)  197,916   133,214 
Other income  -  3,750 
  (4,540,211)  (1,285,001) 
     
Expenses     
   Professional fees  99,195  90,750 
   Directors’ fees 10 28,060   36,309 
   Interest expense  30,223  145,795 
   Dividend expense  -  123,237 
   Administration fees 10 314,700   300,000 
   Custodian fees  -  59,580 
   Organisation Expenses  59,987  59,987 
   Other expenses  177,684   211,144 
  709,849   1,026,802 
     
Operating loss  (5,250,060)  (2,311,803) 
     
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of      
  redeemable participating shares from operations  (5,250,060)  (2,311,803) 
     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE 
PARTICIPATING SHARES 

 
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 
   2015   2014 
  $  $ 
Net Assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares at beginning of year 

 71,002,929  98,096,988 

     
Issue of redeemable participating shares  19,552,596   2,291,627 
Redemption of redeemable participating shares  (31,912,127)  (27,073,883) 
     
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of      
 redeemable participating shares from transactions in shares  (12,359,531)  (24,782,256) 
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable      
  participating shares from operations  (5,250,060)  (2,311,803) 
     
Net assets, at end of year  53,393,338   71,002,929  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
      

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
  2015  2014 
  $  $ 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable    - 
  participating shares from operations          (5,250,060)   (2,311,803) 
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets attributable to     
holders of redeemable participating shares from operations to      
net cash provided by operating activities:     

Payments for purchase of financial instruments at fair      
  value through profit or loss  (237,626,829)   (210,161,207) 
Proceeds from sale of financial instruments at fair value      
  through profit or loss  238,906,283   192,768,808 
Net realised loss/(gain) on financial instruments        5,827,644   (4,214,192) 
Net change in unrealised (appreciation)/depreciation      
  on financial instruments              (538,785)  6,672,320 
Due from brokers  10,824,942   41,833,941 
Due to brokers            115,234  194,302 
Dividends receivable             (55,387)   - 
Interest receivable             107,231   (18,672) 
Other receivables and prepayments  52,681  59,956 
Interest payable                    951   (3,032) 
Administration fees payable  -  (25,000) 
Due from affiliated entities              (31,500)  - 
Professional fees payable  80,140  185 
Custodian fees payable  -  (10,177) 
Other payables and accrued expenses               (53,014)   (3,173) 

Net cash provided in operating activities  12,359,531   24,782,256 
     

Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares  19,552,596   2,291,627 
Payments on redemption of redeemable participating      
  shares  (31,912,127)  (27,073,883) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (12,359,531)  (24,782,256) 
     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  -  - 
 

    
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year  -  - 
 

    
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year  -  - 
 

    
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information     
 Interest received  218,603   - 
 Interest paid  (29,272)  (21,707) 
 Dividends received  142,529   - 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
1. Reporting entity  
 

APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled 
and incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Master Fund was incorporated on 14 March 2013 
and commenced operations on 15 May 2013. The Master Fund’s registered office is at 94 
Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman. 
 
APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Feeder Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and 
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Feeder Fund was incorporated on 
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) on 22 
April 2013. The Feeder Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013. Both the Master Fund 
and the Feeder Fund de-registered from CIMA on 31 December 2015. 
 
The Feeder Fund invests substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in the 
Master Fund which is also a Cayman Islands regulated mutual fund. The Master Fund is 100% 
owned by the Feeder Fund as at 31 December 2015 (100%: 31 December 2014). 
 
The investment objective of the Master Fund is to generate long-term returns through 
investments in global and emerging markets. The Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds, 
foreign exchange, commodities and their derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern 
Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the developed markets. 
 
The Master Fund’s investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment 
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is regulated by 
the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”). 
 
The Master Fund meets the definition of an investment entity as defined by IFRS 10 - 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements of the Master Fund for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”). The financial statements are presented in 
US Dollars. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured 
at fair value.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
(a) Use of estimates and judgements 

 
The preparation of the Master Fund’s financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 
 
(b) Foreign currency 

 
The Master Fund’s functional and presentation currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates i.e. US Dollars. The Master Fund receives its investing capital 
primarily in US Dollars. For this reason, management has determined that the functional currency 
of the Master Fund should be US Dollars.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.   
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the date 
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. 
 
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the “net realised gain/(loss) on foreign currency exchange” and “net 
change in unrealised depreciation on foreign currency exchange” lines, except for those arising 
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss which is recognized the statement of 
comprehensive income in the “net realised gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss” and “net change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” lines. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Interest 
 
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on an 
accruals basis. 
 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, short term deposits in 
banks and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash. There were no cash and cash equivalents held by the Master Fund at 31 December 2015. 

 
(e) Income taxes 

 
The Master Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including income, 
capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and 
capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Master 
Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment income in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash inflows from 
investments are presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable. 

 
(f) Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
This includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading or 
designated upon initial recognition as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ and excludes interest 
and dividend income and expense. 
 
Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the 
period and from reversal of prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments 
which were realised in the reporting period. 
 
Realised gains or losses on disposals of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit 
or loss are calculated using first in, first out (“FIFO”) method. They represent the difference 
between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or 
receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin 
accounts for such instruments). 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Fees, commission and other expenses 
 
Fees, commission and other expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income on an accruals basis.  
 
(h) Financial Instruments 
 

(i) Classification 
 

The Master Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and financial 
liabilities: 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 
The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and/or repurchasing in the near term.  
 
This category includes listed equity securities, debt securities, fund investments and 
derivatives. Derivative financial assets held for trading include futures, contracts for difference 
(“CFD”), interest rate swaps, variance swaps, equity and index options, currency options and 
forward contracts. These assets are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit 
from short-term fluctuations in price. All derivatives and liabilities from short sales of financial 
instruments are classified as held for trading. The Master Fund’s policy is not to apply hedge 
accounting 
 
Other financial liabilities 
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified fair value through 
profit or loss. The Master Fund includes in this category amounts relating to short-term 
payables. 

 
(ii) Recognition  

 
The Master Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade 
date, i.e., the date that the Master Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 
(iii) Initial measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the 
Statement of Financial Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are 
recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(iv) Subsequent measurement 
 
After initial measurement, the Master Fund measures financial instruments which are 
classified as fair value through profit or loss, at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which 
an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. Subsequent changes in the fair value 
of those financial instruments are recorded in ‘Net change in unrealised 
appreciation/(depreciation) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss’. Interest and dividend earned or paid on such instruments are recorded separately in 
interest income or expense and dividend income or expense. 

 
When available, the Master Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted 
prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices 
are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. When fair values of listed equity securities as well as 
publicly traded derivatives at the reporting date are based on quoted market prices without 
any deduction for transaction costs, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
For all other financial instruments the Master Fund establishes fair value using industry 
standard valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length 
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair 
value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses 
and option pricing models. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market 
inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Master Fund, incorporates all 
factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with 
accepted economic methodologies for pricing such financial instruments. Inputs to valuation 
techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors 
inherent in the financial instrument. The Master Fund classifies securities valued in this 
manner within Level 2 of the Fair Value hierarchy.  

 
The Master Fund at the reporting date did not hold any Level 3 securities. 

 
(v) Derecognition 

 
The Master Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred or in which the Master Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership but transfers control of the financial asset. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
(v) Derecognition (continued) 
 
Master Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The Master Fund derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
(i) Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are presented gross in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Information about where the Master Fund has the enforceable legal right to offset financial 
assets and liabilities is described in note 7. 

  
(j) Dividend income and expense 

 
Dividend income is recognized when the Master Fund’s right to receive payment is established. 
Dividend income is presented net of any non-recoverable withholding taxes in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognized 
when the shareholders right to receive payment is established. 

 
(k) Redeemable participating shares 

 
Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at the 
redemption amounts representing the investor’s right to a residual interest in the Master Funds 
assets. In accordance with the Master Fund’s Prospectus, the redemption amounts of the 
redeemable participating shares are calculated using the closing prices of the Master Fund’s 
underlying investments/short positions and other assets and liabilities as disclosed on the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 

 (l) Founder shares 
 

The Master Fund’s founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form part 
of the net assets of the Master Fund and are disclosed in the financial statements by way of this 
note only. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(m) Taxes 
 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in 
tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences 
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to 
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The 
Master Fund establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences 
of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such 
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such 
differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions 
prevailing in their respective investment’s domicile. As the Master Fund assesses the probability 
for litigation and subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability 
has been recognised. 
 

(n) Going Concern 
 
The Master Fund’s management has made an assessment of the Master Fund’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Master Fund has the resources to continue 
in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Master Fund’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations 
 

(i)New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting period: 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments-Classification and Measurement 
 
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and 
applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in 
IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. In 
subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. 
The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and 
measurement of the Master Fund’s financial assets but will potentially have no impact on 
classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The Master Fund will quantify the effect in 
conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
 
3. Balances due from/to brokers 

 
Balances due from brokers result from margin cash balances held as collateral by the brokers 
against derivative positions. Amounts due to brokers include margin and collateral accounts, 
amounts payable for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been 
contracted for, but not yet delivered, as at the reporting date. Amounts due from brokers include 
margin accounts and amounts receivable for securities sold (in a regular way transaction) that 
have been contracted for, but not yet delivered, on the reporting date. Margin accounts represent 
cash deposits held with brokers as collateral against open futures contracts. 
 
At 31 December 2015, due from/to brokers comprised of the following balances: 
 
 As at 

31 December 2015 
 Amounts Due 

from Broker 
Amounts Due  

to Broker 
   
Collateral Cash 13,146,672 - 
Margin 11,724,965 1,724 
Cash at Broker 16,491,283 733,733 

 41,362,920 735,457 
 
 
      At 31 December 2014, due from/to brokers comprised of the following balances: 

 
 As at 

31 December 2014 
 Amounts Due 

from Broker 
Amounts Due  

to Broker 
   
Collateral Cash 9,518,694 500,000 
Margin 17,857,936 18,830 
Cash at Broker 24,811,232 101,393 

 52,187,862 620,223 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
 
4. Financial risk management 
 

The Master Fund’s risk management objective is to create and protect shareholder value. Risk is 
inherent in the Master Fund’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring. The Master Fund is exposed to credit risk, market 
risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk) and liquidity risk arising from 
the financial instruments it holds. 
 
Risk management framework 
The Master Fund maintains positions in a variety of derivative financial instruments in 
accordance with its investment objectives. The Master Fund’s investment portfolio is comprised 
of both quoted, OTC derivative financial instruments and forward foreign exchange contracts. 
 
Asset purchases and sales are determined by the Investment Manager, who has been given 
discretionary authority to manage the distribution of the assets to achieve the Master Fund’s 
investment objectives. Compliance of the composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Master 
Fund’s Board of Directors. 
 
(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Master Fund, resulting in a financial 
loss to the Master Fund. The Master Fund has the credit risk in relation to transactions it enters 
with brokers, banks and third parties if the counterparty was to fail to complete any transaction to 
which the Master Fund is party. The Master Fund restricts its exposure to credit losses on 
derivative instruments by entering into master-netting arrangements with major counterparties 
with whom a significant volume of transactions are undertaken. Such arrangements provide for a 
single net settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreement in the event of default 
on any one contract. Master-netting arrangements do not result in the offset of assets and 
liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position unless certain conditions for offsetting under 
IFRS 7 apply. Refer to Note 7 for details on offsetting arrangements. 
 
For risk management reporting purposes the Master Fund considers and consolidates all 
elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligator risk, country and sector risk).
 
Management of credit risk/counterparty risk 
The Master Fund’s policy over credit risk is to minimize its exposure to counterparties with 
perceived higher risk of default by dealing only with counterparties meeting the credit standards 
set out in the Master Fund’s prospectus and taking collateral where it can. The Master Fund may 
enter into transactions with counterparties for OTC financial derivative instruments, wherein cash 
or other assets belonging to the Master Fund may be passed outside the custodial network of 
the Master Fund to an unlimited extent in order to support the Master Fund’s transactions. 
 
The Master Fund’s maximum credit risk exposure at the Statement of Financial Position date is 
represented by the respective carrying amounts of the financial assets in the Statement of 
Financial Position. This amounted to $61,057,851 as at 31 December 2015.   

140



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk (continued) 

 
Exposure to credit risk arising from derivative assets 
The Master Fund enters into two types of derivative transactions – exchange-traded derivatives 
and over the counter (“OTC”) derivatives. Credit risks arising from exchange-traded derivatives 
are mitigated as the clearing houses of each futures exchange guarantee the settlement of all 
futures contracts for market participants. OTC derivatives expose the Master Fund to the risk 
that the counterparties to these OTC derivatives might default on their obligations to the Master 
Fund. The exposure to OTC derivatives as at 31 December 2015 is ($3,952,651.67) (2014: 
($3,227,604)). 

 
Settlement risk 
The Master Fund’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions. 
Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver 
cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 
 
The Investment Manager also manages the Master Fund’s exposure to price risk by analysing 
the investment portfolio by region and sector. The Investment Manager’s policy is to concentrate 
the investment portfolio in sectors and regions where the Investment Manager believes the 
Master Fund can maximize the returns derived for the level of risk to which the Master Fund is 
exposed. 
 
For all transactions the Master Fund mitigates credit risk by conducting settlements through a 
broker to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual 
settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring 
process. The Master Fund has two major counterparties with A rating, making up 99.33%  of 
NAV, at 31 December 2015 (2014: 79.14%). A major counterparty is defined as any counterparty 
that holds portfolio positions and cash that in the aggregate, are greater than 10% of net assets 
 
Portfolio Credit risk 

 
The tables below summarise the significant region concentrations within the Master Fund’s debt 
portfolio: 
 
Concentration of credit risk by geographical region  
 
  % of net assets 

31 December  
2015 

% of net assets 
31 December 

2014 
    
Americas  4.40% 2.97% 
Asia  0% 0.98% 
EMEA  5.73% 8.63% 
  10.13% 12.58% 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk (continued) 

 
Concentration of credit risk by industry  
 
Sector % of net assets % of net assets 

31 December 
2015 

31 December 
2014 

Banks 3.43% 8.16% 
Financial - 1.15% 
Government 0.77% - 
Oil & Gas 3.64% 1.64% 
Real Estate - 0.98% 
Utilities 2.29% 0.65% 

10.13% 12.58% 
 

 
The following table analyses the Master Fund’s Portfolio of debt securities by rating agency 
category. 
 
Bloomberg Composite/Fitch Credit rating table 
 
   % of net assets 

31 December  
2015 

% of net assets 
31 December 

2014 
Credit rating     
B   2.63% 1.28% 
B+   - 2.10% 
BB   1.11% 1.15% 
BB-   - 1.32% 
BB+   3.06% 0.65% 
BBB-   0.63% 2.57% 
C   - 0.89% 
CC   - 0.98% 
CCC   2.70% 1.64% 
   10.13% 12.58% 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(b) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Master Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
arising from its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, or 
that such obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to the Master Fund. 
 
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Master Fund could be required 
to pay its liabilities or redeem its shares earlier than expected. 
 
The following table summarizes the maturity of the Master Fund’s financial instruments based on 
contractual maturities. 
 

 
 

Less than 1 
month 

1 month to 1 
year 

 
1 to 5 years 

 
>5 years 

 
Total 

As at 31 December 2015 $ $ $ $ $ 
Due from brokers 41,362,920 - - - 41,362,920 
Financial assets at fair value       
  through profit or loss 13,881,286 574,017 792,108 4,097,789 19,345,200 
Dividend receivable 36,284 4,324 14,779  55,387 
Interest receivable 26,927 65,994 - - 92,921 
Due from affiliated entities 31,500 - - - 31,500 
Other receivables and 
prepayments 169,923 - - - 169,923 
Total financial assets 55,508,840 644,335 806,887 4,097,789 61,057,851 

      
Due to brokers 735,457 - - - 735,457 
Financial liabilities at fair value       
through profit or loss 6,846,355 - - - 6,846,355 
Net assets attributable to       
  holders of redeemable      
    participating shares 53,393,338 - - - 53,393,338 
Interest payable 2,489 - - - 2,489 
Professional fees payable 80,140 - - - 80,140 
Other payables and accrued   - - -  
  expenses 72 - - - 72 

Total financial liabilities 61,057,851 - - - 61,057,851 
      

Liquidity gap (5,549,011) 644,335 806,887 4,097,789 - 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 

 
 
 

Less than 1 
month 

1 month to 
1 year 

 
1 to 5 years 

 
>5 years 

 
Total 

As at 31 December 2014 $ $ $ $ $ 
Due from brokers 52,187,862 - - - 52,187,862 
Financial assets at fair value       
  through profit or loss 15,807,167 4,352,596 9,870,143 3,135,061 33,164,967 
Interest receivable 32,974 167,178 - - 200,152 
Other receivables and prepayments 222,604 - - - 222,604 
Total financial assets 68,250,607 4,519,774 9,870,143 3,135,061 85,775,585 

      
Due to brokers 620,223 - - - 620,223 
Financial liabilities at fair value       
through profit or loss 2,498,240 7,018,303 4,581,266 - 14,097,809 
Net assets attributable to       
  holders of redeemable      
    participating shares 71,002,929 - - - 71,002,929 
Interest payable 1,538 - - - 1,538 
Professional fees payable 51,410 - - - 51,410 
Other payables and accrued       
  expenses 1,676 - - - 1,676 
Total financial liabilities 74,176,016 7,018,303 4,581,266 - 85,775,585 

      
Liquidity gap (5,925,409) (2,498,529) 5,288,877 3,135,061 - 

 
Management of liquidity risk 
The Master Fund’s policy and the Investment Manager’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, including estimated redemptions of shares, as and 
when due, without incurring due losses or risking damage to the Master Fund’s reputation 
 
The Master Fund’s prospectus provides for the monthly subscription and redemption of 
redeemable participating shares, as described in note 8. The Master Fund is therefore exposed 
to the liquidity risk of meeting Shareholder redemptions at each redemption date. The Master 
Fund typically holds a large percentage of the net assets in liquid assets. At 31 December 2015, 
the Master Fund has $41,362,920 due from brokers, which represents 77.47% of net assets. 

 
(c) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign 
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit 
standing) will affect the Master Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 
The Master Fund’s Market risks are managed on a daily basis by the Investment Manager as set 
out below. Strict and dynamic risk management techniques are applied to the portfolio based on 
quantitative signals, risk indicators (VaR, stress tests, Greeks) and qualitative appreciation of 
market conditions (e.g. liquidity). These risk constraints are applied prior to any trade 
implementation and are strictly monitored intraday at the portfolio level by the Investment 
Manager and independently by the risk controller of the Investment Manager.   
 
Overall Sensitivity 
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure of the Master Fund is a 
Value-at-Risk analysis (VaR).The VaR of the Master Fund’s portfolio is the estimated loss that 
may arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse 
market movement within a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the 
Master Fund is based on a 98% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. The VaR 
model is based mainly on historical simulations, taking into account market data from previous 
day's trading and observed relationships between different markets and prices. The model can 
generate a wide range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements, and is 
measured daily by the Investment Manager.  
 
The use of VaR has limitations because it is a “point-in-time” calculation, reflecting positions held 
at 31 December 2015, which does not necessarily reflect the risk inherent in positions at other 
time. VaR is a statistical estimation and therefore it is possible that there could be, in any period, 
a greater number of days in which losses could exceed the calculated VaR. In addition, losses 
on those days might be substantially greater than the calculated VaR. The VaR model is based 
on historical data and does not take into account future market price movements, correlation 
between markets and levels of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may bear no 
relation to historical patterns. Losses that may be incurred due to exchange rate fluctuations are 
included in the VaR results. 

 
A summary of the VaR position of the Master Fund at 31 December 2015 and during the year to 
31 December 2015 is as follows per the below table: 
 
 Credit  Equity  FX  Rates  Total 
          
Americas 0.07%  0.35%  0.19%  0.09%  0.70% 
Asia 0.02%  0.47%  0.03%  0.06%  0.58% 
EMEA 0.13%  1.08%  0.14%  0.02%  1.37% 
          

Total 0.22% 1.90% 0.36% 0.17% 2.65% 
 
*Value-at-Risk at 98% confidence interval, 1 day horizon.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 
A summary of the VaR position of the Master Fund at 31 December 2014 and during the period 
to 31 December 2014 is as follows per the below table: 
 
 Credit  Equity  FX  Rates  Total 
          
Americas 0.01%  0.01%  0.22%  -  0.24% 
Asia -  0.14%  0.23%  -  0.37% 
EMEA 0.06%  0.48%  0.12%  -  0.66% 
          

Total 0.07% 0.63% 0.57% - 1.27% 
 
*Value-at-Risk at 98% confidence interval, 1 day horizon.  

 
(d) Currency risk  

 
The Master Fund may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are 
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Master Fund 
may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other foreign 
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse impact on the fair value or future cash 
flows of that portion of the Master Fund’s financial assets or liabilities. 
 
The Master Fund’s currency risk is monitored on an on-going basis by the Investment Manager. 
Where Shares are subscribed for in a share class denominated in a currency other than US 
Dollars, the Investment Manager will enter into a forward foreign exchange contract (a “forward”) 
in order to hedge the currency risk of that specific share class. Forward currency contracts are 
entered into to mitigate the foreign exchange exposure of these specific share classes and the 
related gains and losses on these contracts are applied to the specific share classes only. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

146



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(d) Currency risk (continued) 

 
At the reporting date the carrying value of the Master Fund’s financial assets and liabilities held 
in foreign currencies were as follows: 
 
 
 
2015 

  
Monetary 

Asset 

  
Monetary 
Liability 

 Non- 
Monetary 

Asset 

 Non- 
Monetary 
Liability 

  
Net 

Exposure 
  $  $  $  $  $ 
BRL  -  -  395,925  (310,844)  85,081 
CHF  127  (127)  -  -  - 
EUR  945,903  (731,300)  1,024,890  (1,829,628)  (590,135) 
GBP  -  (4,025)  457,167  (15,469)  437,673 
JPY  -  -  571  -  571 
MXN  -  -  -  (38,671)  (38,671) 
PLN  -  -  20,641  -  20,641 
RUB  -  -  -  (47,641)  (47,641) 
SGD  -  (5)  -  -  (5) 
TRY  -  -  327,728  -  327,728 
ZAR  -  -  1,225,105  (3,641)  1,221,464 
  946,030  (735,457)  3,452,027  (2,245,894)  1,416,706 

 
 
 
2014 

  
Monetary 

Asset 

  
Monetary 
Liability 

 Non- 
Monetary 

Asset 

 Non- 
Monetary 
Liability 

  
Net 

Exposure 
  $  $  $  $  $ 
CHF  -  (89)  40,054  -  39,965 
EUR  842,502  (17,052)  1,423,449  (1,147,946)  1,100,953 
GBP  8,710  (1,709)  2,318,283  (2,006,431)  318,853 
HKD  24  -  -  -  24 
HUF  -  -  -  (3,257)  (3,257) 
JPY  178,005  (100,247)  355,773  -  433,531 
MXN  184,247  -  -  -  184,247 
SGD  747  (750)  -  -  (3) 
THB  -  (130)  -  -  (130) 
TRY  76  (80)  1,768,087  -  1,768,083 
ZAR  166  (166)  1,334,777  (1,595,865)  (261,088) 
  1,214,477  (120,223)  7,240,423  (4,753,499)  3,581,178 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(d) Currency risk (continued) 
 
The following exchange rates were used to convert investments, assets and liabilities to the 
functional currency of the Master Fund: 
 

 As at 31 
December 2015 

As at 31 
December 2014 

 

BRL 3.96 -  
CHF 1.00 0.99  
EUR 1.09 1.21  
GBP 1.47 1.56  
HKD 7.75 7.75  
HUF - 260.94  
ILS 3.89 -  
JPY 120.30 119.9  
MXN 17.27 14.74  
PLN 3.95 -  
RON 4.16 -  
RSD 111.67 -  
RUB 73.04 -  
SGD 1.42 1.33  
THB 35.99 32.9  
TRY 2.92 2.34  
ZAR 15.50 11.57  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(f) Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities or equity-linked 
derivatives as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 
shares. Equity price risk arises as a result of the Master Fund’s investments in equity securities, 
equity securities sold short and equity-linked derivatives. 
 
The following table analyses the Master Fund’s concentration of equities by geographical 
location as a percentage of net assets attributable to shareholders; 
 
2015 
Brazil 
Britain 
Cayman Islands 
Germany 
Jersey 
Mexico 
Russia 
United Arab Emirates 
United States 

2.16% 
0.57% 

(0.03)% 
1.71% 
0.17% 
0.56% 
7.93% 
0.46% 

11.98% 
Total  25.51% 
 
2014 
Emerging Markets 
United Arab Emirates 

0.28% 
0.45% 

Total  0.73% 
 
(g) Capital management 
 
Redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund provide an investor with the right to 
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Master Fund’s 
net assets at each monthly redemption date and are classified as liabilities. See note 8 for a 
description of the terms of the redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund. 
The Master Fund’s objective in managing the redeemable participating shares is to ensure a 
stable base to maximize returns to all investors, and to manage liquidity risk arising from 
redemptions. The Master Fund’s management of the liquidity risk arising from redeemable 
participating shares is discussed in note 4. 

 
The Master Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Valuation of financial instruments 
The Master Fund measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 
 
(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are  

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived from 
prices (Level 2). 

 
(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are based on unobservable data  (Level 3). 
 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its 
entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the 
fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that 
require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. 
 
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgement by the Master 
Fund. The Master Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, 
regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by 
independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 

 
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

           $        $ 
 2015  2014 
Financial assets held for trading    
Investments in Securities    
       Listed equity securities 10,679,047  695,543 
       ETF 1,773,559  - 
       UCIT Fund -  13,493,910 
       Preferred securities 915,343  - 
       Debt securities 5,315,493  8,737,626 
 18,683,442  22,927,079 
Derivative financial instruments    
       Futures 20,641  430,278 
       Options 99,790  3,828,340 
       Currency Options 116,023  5,519,480 
       Forward Contracts -  453,265 
       CFDs 276,882  - 
       Interest rate swaps 70,655  - 
       Variance Swaps 77,767  6,525 
 661,758  10,237,888 
 Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19,345,200  33,164,967 
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

                     $                  $ 
 2015  2014 
Financial liabilities held for trading    

    
Investments in Securities    
       Listed equity securities -  182,850 
 -  182,850 
    
Derivative financial instruments    
       Options 3,771,610  4,016,191 
       Currency Options 2,558,650  7,740,141 
       Forward Contracts 425,345  1,712,308 
       Futures 75,281  - 
       CFDs 15,469  - 
       Variance Swaps -  446,319 
 6,846,355  13,914,959 
Total Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6,846,355  14,097,809 
    

 
(c) Realised gain/(loss) and change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on financial 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 
2015 Realised Gain Realised Loss Unrealised Gain Unrealised Loss 

        
Investments in Securities        1,297,908         (4,515,205)          3,121,525      (3,425,510) 
Derivatives       16,353,518        (18,963,865)         11,016,428    (10,173,658) 
Foreign Exchange             99,768              (96,818)               36,130                (24) 
Total       17,751,194        (23,575,888)         14,174,083    (13,599,192) 

 
2014 Realised Gain Realised Loss Unrealised Gain Unrealised Loss 

        
Investments in Securities         1,025,590          (3,054,141)               661,552             (3,606,368) 
Derivatives        29,847,035         (23,604,292)            9,902,955           (13,630,459) 
Foreign Exchange            197,041               (84,184)                  5,342                  (29,842) 
Total        31,069,666         (26,742,617)          10,569,849           (17,266,669) 

 
Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and are therefore 
classified within Level 1, include active listed equities, exchange traded funds and exchange traded 
derivatives such as future contracts and listed equity options. The Master Fund does not adjust the 
quoted mid-price obtained from Bloomberg for these instruments. 
 
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based 
on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable 
inputs are classified within Level 2. The Master Fund invests in investment-grade corporate bonds 
and preferred equity securities. In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, they are valued 
using observable inputs such as recently executed transaction prices in securities of the issuer or 
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
comparable issuers and yield curves. Adjustments are made to the valuations when necessary to 
recognise differences in the instrument’s terms. The Master Fund uses widely recognised 
valuation models for determining fair values of over-the-counter contracts for difference, interest 
rate swaps, variance swaps, currency options and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present 
value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including both credit and debit 
valuation adjustments for counterparty and own credit risk, foreign exchange spot and forward 
rates and interest rate curves. To the extent that the significant inputs are observable, the Master 
Fund categorises these investments as Level 2. 
 
Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade 
infrequently. 

 
During the year, the Master Fund did not hold any instruments that were deemed to be Level 3 
instruments and no instruments were transferred between levels during the year. 
 
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is 
categorized. 
 
  31 December 2015  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through     
profit or loss $ $ $ $ 
Investments     
     
Equities     

Listed equity securities 10,679,047  -  - 10,679,047 
Preferred securities -  915,343 -  915,343 
ETF 1,773,559 - - 1,773,559 
     

Interest bearing investments     
Debt Securities - 5,315,493  - 5,315,493 

     
Derivative contracts     

Currency Options - 116,023 - 116,023 
Equity Options 99,790 - - 99,790 
Futures  20,641  - -  20,641  
CFDs - 276,882 - 276,882 
Variance Swaps  -  77,767 - 77,767 
Interest Rate Swaps  -  70,655 - 70,655 

Forward Contracts     
Total 12,573,037 6,772,163 -  19,345,200 
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
 

  31 December 2015  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial liabilities at fair value      
through profit or loss $ $ $ $ 
     
Derivative contracts     

Currency Options - 2,558,650 - 2,558,650 
Equity Options 3,771,610 - - 3,771,610 
Futures  75,281 - - 75,281 
CFDs  - 15,469 -  15,469 
Forward Contracts -  425,345 - 425,345 

 Total  3,846,891 2,999,464  -  6,846,355 
 
 

  31 December 2014  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through     
profit or loss $ $ $ $ 
     
Equities     

Listed equity securities   695,543 - - 695,543  
     
Interest bearing investments     

Debt Securities - 8,737,626 - 8,737,626   
     

Fund Investments     
UCIT Fund - 13,493,910 - 13,493,910 
     

Derivatives financial assets     
Currency Options - 5,519,480 - 5,519,480 
Forward Contracts - 453,265 - 453,265 
Futures 430,278  - - 430,278 
Options 2,610,858 1,217,482 - 3,828,340 
Variance Swaps - 6,525 - 6,525 

Total Derivatives 3,041,136 7,196,752 - 10,237,888 
    3,736,679     29,428,288 -  33,164,967 
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
  31 December 2014  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial liabilities at fair value      
through profit or loss $ $ $ $ 
     
Equities      

Listed equity securities 182,850  - - 182,850  
     
Derivatives financial liabilities     

Currency Options - 7,740,141 - 7,740,141 
Forward Contracts - 1,712,308 - 1,712,308 
Options 4,016,191 - - 4,016,191 
Variance Swaps - 446,319 - 446,319 

Total Derivatives 4,016,191 9,898,768 - 13,914,959 
    4,199,041      9,898,768 - 14,097,809 
     
     

 
6. Derivative contracts 

 
Typically, derivative contracts serve as components of the Master Fund’s investment strategy and 
are utilised primarily to structure and hedge investments, to enhance performance and reduce 
risk to the Master Fund (the Master Fund does not designate any derivative as a hedging 
instrument for hedge accounting purposes). The derivative contracts that the Master Fund holds 
include forwards, futures, exchange traded options and foreign exchange options. 
 
The Master Fund uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks associated primarily with 
foreign currency fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments may also be used for trading 
purposes where the Investment Manager believes this would be more effective than investing 
directly in the underlying financial instruments. 
 
Derivatives often reflect at their inception only a mutual exchange of promises with little or no 
transfer of tangible consideration. However, these instruments frequently involve a high degree of 
leverage and are very volatile. A relatively small movement in the underlying of a derivative 
contract may have a significant impact on the profit or loss of the Master Fund. 
 
During the year/period, the Master Fund had positions in the following types of derivatives: 
 
Forwards and futures 
Forward and futures contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial 
instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customized contracts 
transacted in the OTC market. Futures contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on 
regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash margin requirements. The main differences in 
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6. Derivative contracts (continued) 

 
Forwards and futures (continued) 
the risk associated with forward and futures contracts are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Master 
Fund has credit exposure to the counterparties of forward contracts. The credit risk related to 
future contracts is considered minimal because the exchange ensures that these contracts are 
always honored. Forward contracts are settled gross and, therefore, considered to bear a higher 
liquidity risk than the future contracts which are settled on a net basis. Both types of contracts 
result in market risk exposure. 
 
Options 
Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser 
either to buy or sell a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed 
future date or at any time within a specified period. 
 
The Master Fund purchases and sells put and call options through regulated exchanges and OTC 
markets. Options purchased by the Master Fund provide the Master Fund with the opportunity to 
purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either 
on or before the expiration of the option. The Master Fund is exposed to credit risk on purchased 
options only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value. Options written by the 
Master Fund provide the purchaser the opportunity to purchase from or sell to the Master Fund 
the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before the expiration of the option. 
None of the options at the yearend were covered. Options are generally settled on a net basis. 
 
Swaps 
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over 
time based on specified notional amounts. Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the 
Master Fund with major brokers in which the Master Fund either receives or pays a floating rate 
note of interest in return for paying or receiving a fixed rate of interest. The payment flows are 
usually netted against each other, with the difference being paid by one party to the other.  
 
Contracts for difference (“CFD”) which trade on an exchange or whose underlying securities are 
traded on an exchange are valued at the closing market value of the underlying security. CFD’s 
are valued based on the difference between the notional long/short position of the underlying 
security calculated from a reference price on the date of entering the contract and the market 
value at the date of closing the trade, or the reporting date if prior to terminating the contract. For 
unsettled positions, unrealized gains/losses for the year are included in the Statement of 
Financial Condition and the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Realized gains and losses are 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Variance swaps relate to contracts taken out by the Master Fund with major brokers in which the 
Master Fund trades future realised volatility against current implied volatility. 
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6. Derivative contracts (continued) 

 
The following table shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or 
liabilities, together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the 
amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which 
changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of 
transactions outstanding at the reporting dates and are indicative of neither the market risk nor 
the credit risk. 
 

As at 31 December 2015 
 $ $ $ 

Assets Liabilities Notional Amount 
Derivatives primarily held 
for trading purposes 
Futures 20,641 75,281 8,240,210 
Options 99,790 3,771,610 3,871,400 
Currency Options 116,023 2,558,650 2,674,673 
Forward Contracts - 425,345 7,535,519 
CFDs 276,882 15,469 4,065,819 
Interest Rate Swaps 70,655 - 39,324,884 
Variance Swaps 77,767 - 234,733 

661,758 6,846,355 65,947,238 
 
 As at 31 December 2014 
 $ $ $ 

Assets Liabilities Notional Amount 
Derivatives primarily held 
for trading purposes 
Futures 430,278 - 10,224,778 
Options 3,828,340 4,016,191 191,632,900 
Currency Options 5,519,480 7,740,141 2,293,835,925 
Forward Contracts 453,265 1,712,308 30,415,015 
Variance Swaps 6,525 446,319 22,500,000 

10,237,888 13,914,959 2,548,608,618 
 
7. Offsetting assets and liabilities  

 
The Master Fund is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities presentation 
the Statement of Financial Position, in order to enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the effect, or potential effect, of netting arrangements. These recognised assets and 
liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are either subject to an 
enforceable master-netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following right of set off 
criteria: the amounts owed by the Master Fund to another party are determinable, the Master 
Fund has the right to set off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the 
Master Fund intends to set off, and the Master Fund’s right of setoff is enforceable at law.  

 
7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 
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As of 31 December 2015, the Master Fund held financial instruments and derivative instruments 
that were eligible for offset in the Statement of Financial Position and were subject to a master-
netting arrangement. The master-netting arrangement allows the counterparty to net applicable 
collateral held on behalf of the Master Fund against applicable liabilities or payment obligations of 
the Master Fund to the counterparty. These arrangements also allow the counterparty to net any 
of its applicable liabilities or payment obligations they have to the Master Fund against any 
collateral sent to the Master Fund. 
 
The following tables provide disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognised 
assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Financial Position: 

 
 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 

As at 31 December 2015 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized Assets 

Gross Amounts Offset in 
the Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of Assets 
presented in the 

Statement of Financial 
Position 

Derivative Assets $     $     $ 
Options 99,790 - 99,790 
Variance Swaps 77,767 - 77,767 
Futures 20,641 - 20,641 
CFDs 276,882 - 276,882 
Interest Rate Swaps 70,655 - 70,655 
Currency Options 116,023 - 116,023 
    
Total  661,758 - 661,758 

    
 

As at 31 December 
2015 

(iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 
–(iv) 

  Gross Amounts Not offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position 

 

 Net Amounts of 
Assets presented 
in the Statement 

of Financial 
Position 

Financial 
Instruments 

Cash Collateral 
Received 

Net 
Amount 

Counterparties             $ $ $ $ 
Citigroup Inc. 297,523 284,817 - 12,706 
Deutsche Bank AG 300,879 300,879 - - 
HSBC 63,356 - - 63,356 
     
Total 661,758 585,696 - 76,062 
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
 
 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
As at 31 December 2015  

 
Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Liabilities 

 
Gross Amounts 

Offset in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of 
Liabilities presented 
in the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Derivative Liabilities    $ $    $ 
Forward Contracts 425,345 - 425,345 
Futures 75,281 - 75,281 
Options 3,771,610 - 3,771,610 
CFDs 15,469 - 15,469 
Currency Options 2,558,650 - 2,558,650 
    
Total  6,846,355 - 6,846,355 
 
  
 
As at 31 December 2015 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 

–(iv) 
  Gross Amounts Not offset in the 

Statement of Financial Position 
 

 Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
Financial 

Instruments 
Cash Collateral 

Pledged 
Net 

Amount 
Counterparties $ $   $ $ 
Citigroup Inc. 284,817 284,817 - - 
Deutsche Bank AG 5,367,538 300,879 5,066,659 - 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 1,194,000 - 1,194,000 - 

     
Total 6,846,355 585,696 6,260,659 - 
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 

As at 31 December 2014 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized Assets 

Gross Amounts Offset in 
the Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of Assets 
presented in the 

Statement of Financial 
Position 

Derivative Assets $     $     $ 
Options 3,828,340 - 3,828,340 
Variance Swaps 6,525 - 6,525 
Futures 430,278 - 430,278 
Forward Contracts 453,265 - 453,265 
Currency Options 5,519,480 - 5,519,480 
    
Total  10,237,888 - 10,237,888 

    
 

 
As at 31 December 2014 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 

–(iv) 
  Gross Amounts Not offset in the 

Statement of Financial Position 
 

 Net Amounts of 
Assets presented 
in the Statement 

of Financial 
Position 

Financial 
Instruments 

Cash Collateral 
Received 

Net 
Amount 

Counterparties             $ $ $ $ 
Citigroup Inc. 1,217,482 - - 1,217,482 
Deutsche Bank AG 8,735,881 8,735,881 - - 
Goldman Sachs 6,525 - - 6,525 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 278,000 278,000 - - 
     
Total 10,237,888 9,013,881 - 1,224,007 
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
As at 31 
December 
2014 

 
 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Liabilities 

 
Gross Amounts Offset in 

the Statement of Financial 
Position 

Net Amounts of Liabilities 
presented in the Statement of 

Financial Position 
Derivative 
Liabilities 

   $ $    $ 

Forward 
Contracts 1,712,308 

- 
1,712,308 

Options 4,016,191 - 4,016,191 
Variance 
Swaps 446,319 

- 
446,319 

Currency 
Options 7,740,141 

- 
7,740,141 

    
Total  13,914,959 - 13,914,959 
 
  
As at 31 December 2014 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 

–(iv) 
  Gross Amounts Not offset in the 

Statement of Financial Position 
 

 Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
Financial 

Instruments 
Cash Collateral 

Pledged 
Net 

Amount 
Counterparties $ $   $ $ 
Bank of America 179,012 - 179,012 - 
Deutsche Bank AG 12,829,902 8,735,881 4,094,021 - 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 906,045 278,000 628,045 - 

     
Total 13,914,959 9,013,881 4,901,078 - 

 
 
8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares 
 

The authorised share capital of the Master Fund is $50,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares 
of $0.01 par value each, €50,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 par value each, 
£50,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 par value each and ¥5,000,000 divided 
into 5,000,000 ordinary shares of ¥1.00 par value each. 
 
The redeemable participating shares provide investors with the right to require redemption for 
cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Master Fund’s net assets at each 
monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Master Fund’s liquidation. 
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8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 

 
The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows: 
 
Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each month; on 
the provision that day is a business day for the Master Fund, at the net asset value per share of 
the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Master Fund, shares may be 
redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder must request such 
redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed redemption day or such other day as 
the Investment Manager may determine. Redeemable shares in voting classes have the right to 
receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Master Fund. The classes in issue 
which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B GBP. Gains/losses from forward 
foreign exchange contracts held for share class hedging purposes are attributed to the relevant 
share class only. 
 
The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable shares during the year was as follows: 
 

 
Outstanding at 01 

January 2015 Issued Redeemed 
Outstanding at 31 
December 2015 

USD Class A  
 

723,266.75  202,520.19  (327,902.09) 597,884.85  
GBP Class B 11,953.28  621.95  (2,188.22)  10,387.01  
 735,220.03 203,142.14 (330,090.31) 608,271.86 
 
 
 

 
Outstanding at 01 

January 2014 Issued Redeemed 
Outstanding at 31 
December 2014 

USD Class A  
 

990,713.52 7,841.96 (275,288.73) 723,266.75 
GBP Class B 3,010.92 8,942.36 - 11,953.28 
 993,724.44 16,784.32 (275,288.73) 735,220.03 
 

Capital management 
As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Master Fund can vary 
depending on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Master Fund. The Master 
Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on the 
issue or redemption of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Master Fund’s 
constitution. 
 
The Master Fund’s objectives for managing capital are: 
 
� To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected 

return indicated in its Prospectus 
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8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 
 

Capital management (continued) 
 
� To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified portfolio, 

by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using various investment 
strategies and hedging techniques 

� To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Master Fund, and to meet 
redemption requests as they arise 

� To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Master Fund cost-efficient 
 
Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes applied 
by the Master Fund in managing its capital. 
 
 

9. Commitments and contingencies 
 
There are no commitments or contingencies as at 31 December 2015. (There were no 
commitments or contingencies as at 31 December 2014.) 

 
10. Related parties 

 
Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to the 
Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director equally prorated across both 
the Master Fund and the Feeder Fund. In addition, the Chairman of each Board of Directors 
receives an annual fee with respect to each of the Fund and the Master Fund of up to $25,000. 
This is payable in advance, together with their out of pocket expenses. Director Fees and 
Expenses charged to the Master Fund for 2015 were $28,060 (2014: $36,309). 
 
HighWater Limited provides corporate secretarial services to the Master Fund. Gary Linford and 
Todd Groome are directors of both HighWater Limited and the Master Fund. Corporate 
secretarial fees for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to $6,500 (2014: $7,560). The 
prepaid fee at year end was $1,083 (2014: $1,083). 
 

 
Manager 
APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”), is an exempted company incorporated with 
limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Tuva Mountains Limited hold 80% (2014: 
80%) of the shares of APQ Capital Management Limited and the underlying beneficial owner of 
these shares is Bart Turtelboom. Bart Turtelboom is also a beneficial investor in the Feeder Fund. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
10. Related parties (continued) 
 

Administrator  
The Master Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company incorporated 
in the Republic Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Master Fund. Administration fees 
charged during the year amounted to $314,700 (2014: $300,000). 

 
Founder Shares 
All Founder Shares are held by APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”). 

 
Investment in other funds 
During the year the Master Fund disposed of an investment for $11.9m (150,000 shares at 
US$79.33 per share) in Merrill Lynch Investment Solutions - APQ Emerging Markets UCITS 
Fund, a UCITS fund also managed by the Investment Manager of the Master Fund. The 
investment originally cost $15m when first acquired. 
 

11. Indemnification 
 

The Master Fund enters into contracts that contain a variety of indemnifications. The Master 
Fund’s maximum exposures under these arrangements are unknown.  However, the Master Fund 
has not had prior claims or losses pursuant to these contracts and considers the risk of loss to be 
remote. 
 
 

12. Subsequent events 
 

Subsequent to year end, the Master Fund paid out redemptions of $39,914,992 and £83,722.62. 
 
 

13. Approval of financial statements 
 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Master Fund on 11 May 
2016. 
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APPENDIX I - GENERAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) 
 
 

 

 
Manager  
APQ Capital Management Limited 
c/o MourantOzannes Corporate Services 
(Cayman) 
Limited 
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay 
PO Box 1348 
Grand Cayman KY-1108 
Cayman Islands 

 
Registered Office 
c/o MourantOzannes Corporate Services 
(Cayman) Limited 
94 Solaris Avenue 
Camana Bay PO Box 1348 
Grand Cayman KY-1108 
Cayman Islands 

 
Investment Manager 
APQ Partners LLP 
3rd Floor 
22-23 Old Burlington St 
London W1s 2JJ 
United Kingdom 
 
 
 

 
Auditors 
Ernst & Young Ltd. 
Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane 
Camana Bay 
PO Box 510 
Grand Cayman 
KY1-1106 
Cayman Islands 

Non-executive Independent Directors of the 
Master Fund 
Mr. Todd Groome  
Mr. Gary Linford  
 
 
Prime Brokers 
Deutsche Bank AG 
1 Great Winchester Street 
London EC2N 2DB 
United Kingdom 
 
Citigroup Global Markets Limited 
Citigroup Centre, Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 
London E14 5LB 
United Kingdom 
 

Legal Advisers 
Stephenson Harwood  
1 Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7SH 
 
 
MourantOzannes (in Cayman) 
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay 
PO Box 1348 
Grand Cayman KY1-1108 
Cayman Islands 
 

Administrator 
HedgeServ Limited 
75 St. Stephen’s Green 
Dublin 2 
Ireland 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
 
 

APPENDIX II - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) 
 
 

 

 
Remuneration disclosure required under AIFM Directive 
 
APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment Manager”) is a regulated alternative investment fund manager 
(“AIFM”). For the year ended 31 December 2015 the total remuneration of the entire staff of the 
Investment Manager was £95,000 divided into £95,000 fixed remuneration and £0 variable 
remuneration. There were 2 beneficiaries. The aggregate amount of remuneration of senior 
management and members of staff of the Investment Manager whose actions have a material 
impact on the risk profile of the APQ Alexandria Fund Limited and the APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited during the year was £0. An allocation or breakdown of the total remuneration figures in 
relation to the APQ Alexandria Fund Limited and the APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited does not 
exist and is not readily available. 
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Ernst & Young Ltd. 
62 Forum Lane 
Camana Bay 
P.O. Box 510 
Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
CAYMAN ISLANDS 

 Main tel: +1 345 949 8444 
Fax: +1 345 949 8529 
ey.com 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 
APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund 
Limited (the “Master Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2014, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Master Fund and the directors as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

As at 31 December 2014 

Notes 2014  2013 
Assets $ $

Due from brokers 3 52,187,862  94,021,803 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 33,164,967 16,672,086 
Interest receivable 200,152 181,480 
Other receivables and prepayments 222,604 282,560 

Total assets  $85,775,585  111,157,929 
   
   

Liabilities:    
Due to brokers 3 620,223  425,921 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 5 14,097,809 12,539,199 
Interest payable 1,538 4,570 
Administration fees payable - 25,000 
Custodian fees payable - 10,177 
Professional fees payable 51,410 51,225 
Other payables and accrued expenses 1,676 4,849 

Total Liabilities $14,772,656 13,060,941 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable    
participating shares $71,002,929 $98,096,988

   
   

Net asset value per share by class    
as at 31 December 2014 No of shares  NAV per share

Class A USD 723,266.75 $ 95.67 
Class B GBP 11,953.28 £ 96.91 

Net asset value per share by class    
as at 31 December 2013 No of shares  NAV per share

Class A USD 990,713.52 $ 98.52 
Class B GBP 3,010.92 £ 99.50 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

Notes 2014  2013* 
Investment income/(loss) $ $
Net realised gain(loss) on financial assets and liabilities    
   at fair value through profit or loss 5 $4,214,192  (2,872,982)
Net realised gain(loss) on foreign currency exchange  112,857  (78,415)
Net change in unrealised (depreciation)/appreciation on     
   financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit     
     or loss 5 (6,672,320)  1,101,632
Net change in unrealised depreciation on foreign     
   currency exchange  (24,500)  (3,656)
Interest income  947,806  1,138,917
Dividend income(net of withholding, tax 2014, $15,518    
   2013:$18,294)  133,214  109,984
Other income  3,750  3,500

 (1,285,001)  (601,020)
   
Expenses 
   Professional fees  90,750  67,020 
   Directorsʼ fees  36,309  23,598 
   Interest expense  145,795  131,123 
   Dividend expense  123,237  106,506 
   Administration fees 11 300,000  191,500
   Custodian fees  59,580  48,000 
   Organization Expenses  59,987  60,327
   Other expenses  211,144  158,600

 1,026,802  786,674
   
Operating loss (2,311,803) (1,387,694)
   
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of  
  redeemable participating shares from operations (2,311,803) (1,387,694)
   
   

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE 

PARTICIPATING SHARES 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

 2014   2013* 
$ $

As at 01 January 2014  98,096,988  -
    
Issue of redeemable participating shares  2,291,627  100,903,897
Redemption of redeemable participating shares  (27,073,883)  (1,419,215)
    
(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to holders of     
 redeemable participating shares from transactions in shares  (24,782,256)  99,484,682
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable     
  participating shares from operations  (2,311,803)  (1,387,694)
    
As at 31 December 2014 71,002,929 98,096,988

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
      

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

For the year ended 31 December 2014 

2014  2013* 
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities    
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable    
  participating shares from operations  (2,311,803)  (1,387,694)
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets attributable to    
holders of redeemable participating shares from operations to     
net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:    

Payments for purchase of financial instruments at fair     
  value through profit or loss  (210,161,207)  (214,665,774)
Proceeds from sale of financial instruments at fair value     
  through profit or loss  192,768,808  208,761,537
Net realised (gain)loss on financial instruments  (4,214,192)  2,872,982
Net change in unrealised depreciation/(appreciation)     
  on financial instruments  6,672,320  (1,101,632)
Due from brokers  41,833,941  (94,021,803)
Due to brokers  194,302  425,921
Interest receivable  (18,672)  (181,480)
Other receivables and prepayments  59,956  (282,560)
Interest payable  (3,032)  4,570 
Administration fees payable  (25,000)  25,000 
Custodian fees payable  (10,177)  10,177 
Professional fees payable  185  51,225 
Other payables and accrued expenses  (3,173)  4,849 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  24,782,256  (99,484,682)
    

    
Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares  2,291,627  100,903,897 
Payments on redemption of redeemable participating     
  shares  (27,073,883)  (1,419,215)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (24,782,256)  99,484,682
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -  -
   

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year/period  -  -
   

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year/period  -  -
   

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    
Cash paid during the year for interest  (21,707)  (26,766)

* For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

1. Reporting entity  

APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled 
and incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Master Fund was incorporated on 14 March 2013 
and commenced operations on 15 May 2013. The Master Fundʼs registered office is at 94 
Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman. 

APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Feeder Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and 
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Feeder Fund was incorporated on 
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) on 22 
April 2013. The Feeder Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013. 

The Feeder Fund will invest substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in 
the Master Fund which is also a Cayman Islands regulated mutual fund. The Master Fund is 
100% owned by the Feeder Fund as at 31 December 2014. 

The investment objective of the Master Fund is to generate long-term returns through 
investments in global and emerging markets. The Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds, 
foreign exchange, commodities and their derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern 
Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the developed markets. 

The Master Fundʼs investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment 
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is regulated by 
the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”). 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Master Fund for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”). The financial statements are presented in 
US Dollars. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured 
at fair value.  
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the Master Fundʼs financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

(b) Foreign currency 

The Master Fundʼs functional and presentation currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates i.e. US Dollars. The Master Fund receives its investing capital 
primarily in US Dollars. For this reason, management has determined that the functional currency 
of the Master Fund should be US Dollars.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.   

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the date 
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. 

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss in the “net 
realised gain/(loss) on foreign currency exchange” and “net change in unrealised depreciation on 
foreign currency exchange” lines, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss which is recognized in profit or loss in the “net realised gain/(loss) on 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” and “net change in unrealised 
appreciation/(depreciation) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” 
lines. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Interest

Interest income and expenses are recognized in profit or loss on an accruals basis. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, short term deposits in 
banks and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash. There were no cash and cash equivalents held by the Master Fund at 31 December 2014. 

(e) Income taxes 

The Master Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including income, 
capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and 
capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Master 
Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment income in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash inflows from 
investments are presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable.

(f) Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading or 
designated upon initial recognition as ʻat fair value through profit or lossʼ and excludes interest 
and dividend income and expense. 

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the 
period and from reversal of prior periodʼs unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments 
which were realised in the reporting period. 

Realised gains or losses on disposals of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit 
or loss are calculated using first in, first out (“FIFO”) method. They represent the difference 
between an instrumentʼs initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or 
receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin 
accounts for such instruments). 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Fees, commission and other expenses 

Fees, commission and other expenses are recognised in profit or loss on an accruals basis.  

(h) Financial Instruments 

(i) Classification 

The Master Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and financial 
liabilities: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 
The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and/or repurchasing in the near term.  

This category includes listed equity securities, debt securities, fund investments and 
derivatives. Derivative financial assets held for trading include futures, interest rate swaps, 
variance swaps, equity and index options, currency options and forward contracts. These 
assets are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term 
fluctuations in price. All derivatives and liabilities from short sales of financial instruments are 
classified as held for trading. The Master Fundʼs policy is not to apply hedge accounting 

Other financial liabilities 
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified fair value through 
profit or loss. The Master Fund includes in this category amounts relating to short-term 
payables. 

(ii) Recognition  

The Master Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade 
date, i.e., the date that the Master Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

(iii) Initial measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the 
Statement of Financial Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are 
recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

(iv) Subsequent measurement 

After initial measurement, the Master Fund measures financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an armʼs length 
transaction on the measurement date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those 
financial instruments are recorded in ʻNet change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or lossʼ. Interest and dividend earned 
or paid on such instruments are recorded separately in Interest income or expense and 
Dividend income or expense. 

When available, the Master Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted 
prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices 
are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an armʼs length basis. When fair values of listed equity securities as well as 
publicly traded derivatives at the reporting date are based on quoted market prices without 
any deduction for transaction costs, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 

For all other financial instruments the Master Fund establishes fair value using industry 
standard valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include using recent armʼs length 
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair 
value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses 
and option pricing models. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market 
inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Master Fund, incorporates all 
factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with 
accepted economic methodologies for pricing such financial instruments. Inputs to valuation 
techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors 
inherent in the financial instrument. The Master Fund classifies securities valued in this 
manner within Level 2 of the Fair Value hierarchy.  

The Master Fund at the reporting date did not hold any Level 3 securities. 

(v) Derecognition 

The Master Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred or in which the Master Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership but transfers control of the financial asset. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

(v) Derecognition (continued)

Master Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The Master Fund derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 

(i) Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are presented gross in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Information about where the Master Fund has the right to offset financial assets and liabilities is 
described in note 7. 

(j) Dividend income and expense 

Dividend income is recognized when the Master Fundʼs right to receive payment is established. 
Dividend income is presented net of any non-recoverable withholding taxes in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognized 
when the shareholders right to receive payment is established. 

(k) Redeemable participating shares 

Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at the 
redemption amounts representing the investorʼs right to a residual interest in the Master Funds 
assets. In accordance with the Master Fundʼs prospectus, the redemption amounts of the 
redeemable participating shares are calculated using the closing prices of the Master Fundʼs 
underlying investments/short positions. 

(l) Founder shares 

The Master Fundʼs founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form part 
of the net assets of the Master Fund and are disclosed in the financial statements by way of this 
note only. 
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Taxes 

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in 
tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences 
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to 
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The 
Master Fund establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences 
of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such 
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such 
differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions 
prevailing in their respective investmentʼs domicile. As the Master Fund assesses the probability 
for litigation and subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability 
has been recognised.

(n) Going Concern 

The Master Fundʼs management has made an assessment of the Master Fundʼs ability to 
continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Master Fund has the resources to continue 
in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Master Fundʼs ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

(o) Comparative information 

Certain comparative amounts used in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform 
to current year presentation. Such reclassifications do not have any impact on previously 
reported Net Asset Value or profit/loss. 

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations 

(i)New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting period: 

IFRS 10, ʻConsolidated financial statements – Investment Entitiesʼ 

A parent entity will need to make an assessment of whether it meets the definition of an 
investment entity. 
An Investment Entity is defined as an entity that: 

(a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with 
investment management services; 
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2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

(i)New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the current reporting period 
(continued):

(b) commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from 
capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and 

(c) measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value 
basis. 

A parent entity will also need to consider a set of typical characteristics. These, combined with the 
above definition, are intended to allow for an appropriate balance between creating a clear scope 
and allowing judgment in assessing whether an entity is an investment entity. The characteristics 
are:

(a) holding more than one investment; 

(b) having more than one investor; 

(c) having investors that are not related parties of the entity; and 

(d) having ownership interests in the form of equity or similar interests. 

The above standard has no impact in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2014.

There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for 
the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2014 that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the Master Fundʼs financial statements. 

(ii)New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after the current reporting period: 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments-Classification and Measurement 

IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASBʼs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and 
applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in 
IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. In 
subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. 
The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and 
measurement of the Master Fundʼs financial assets but will potentially have no impact on 
classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The Master Fund will quantify the effect in 
conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 
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3. Balances due from/to brokers 

Balances due from brokers result from margin cash balances held as collateral by the brokers 
against derivative positions. Amounts due to brokers include margin and collateral accounts, 
amounts payable for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been 
contracted for, but not yet delivered, as at the reporting date. Amounts due from brokers include 
margin accounts and amounts receivable for securities sold (in a regular way transaction) that 
have been contracted for, but not yet delivered, on the reporting date. Margin accounts represent 
cash deposits held with brokers as collateral against open futures contracts. 

At 31 December 2014, due from/to brokers comprised of the following balances: 

As at 
31 December 2014 

Amounts Due 
from Broker 

Amounts Due  
to Broker 

Collateral Cash 9,518,694 500,000
Margin 17,857,936 18,830
Cash at Broker 24,811,232 101,393

52,187,862 620,223

      At 31 December 2013, due from/to brokers comprised of the following balances: 

As at 
31 December 2013 

Amounts Due 
from Broker 

Amounts Due  
to Broker 

Collateral Cash 15,136,674 -
Margin 6,101,083 24,486
Cash at Broker 72,784,046 401,435

94,021,803 425,921
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4. Financial risk management 

The Master Fundʼs risk management objective is to create and protect shareholder value. Risk is 
inherent in the Master Fundʼs activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring. The Master Fund is exposed to credit risk, market 
risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk) and liquidity risk arising from 
the financial instruments it holds. 

Risk management framework 
The Master Fund maintains positions in a variety of derivative financial instruments in 
accordance with its investment objectives. The Master Fundʼs investment portfolio is comprised 
of both quoted, OTC derivative financial instruments and forward foreign exchange contracts. 

Asset purchases and sales are determined by the Investment Manager, who has been given 
discretionary authority to manage the distribution of the assets to achieve the Master Fundʼs 
investment objectives. Compliance of the composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Master 
Fundʼs Board of Directors. 

(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk  

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Master Fund, resulting in a financial 
loss to the Master Fund. The Master Fund has the credit risk in relation to transactions it enters 
with brokers, banks and third parties if the counterparty was to fail to complete any transaction to 
which the Master Fund is party. The Master Fund restricts its exposure to credit losses on 
derivative instruments by entering into master-netting arrangements with major counterparties 
with whom a significant volume of transactions are undertaken. Such arrangements provides for 
a single net settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreement in the event of 
default on any one contract. Master-netting arrangements do not result in the offset of assets 
and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position unless certain conditions for offsetting under 
IFRS 7 apply. Refer to Note 7 for details on offsetting arrangements. 

For risk management reporting purposes the Master Fund considers and consolidates all 
elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligator risk, country and sector risk).

Management of credit risk/counterparty risk 
The Master Fundʼs policy over credit risk is to minimize its exposure to counterparties with 
perceived higher risk of default by dealing only with counterparties meeting the credit standards 
set out in the Master Fundʼs prospectus and taking collateral where it can. The Master Fund may 
enter into transactions with counterparties for OTC financial derivative instruments, wherein cash 
or other assets belonging to the Master Fund may be passed outside the custodial network of 
the Master Fund to an unlimited extent in order to support the Master Fundʼs transactions. 

The Master Fundʼs maximum credit risk exposure at the Statement of Financial Position date is 
represented by the respective carrying amounts of the financial assets in the Statement of 
Financial Position. This amounted to $85,775,585 as at 31 December 2014.   
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk arising from derivative assets 
The Master Fund enters into two types of derivative transactions – exchange-traded derivatives 
and over the counter (“OTC”) derivatives. Credit risks arising from exchange-traded derivatives 
are mitigated as the clearing houses of each futures exchange guarantee the settlement of all 
futures contracts for market participants. OTC derivatives expose the Master Fund to the risk 
that the counterparties to these OTC derivatives might default on their obligations to the Master 
Fund.

Settlement risk 
The Master Fundʼs activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions. 
Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver 
cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 

The Investment Manager also manages the Master Fundʼs exposure to price risk by analysing 
the investment portfolio by region and sector. The Investment Managerʼs policy is to concentrate 
the investment portfolio in sectors and regions where the Investment Manager believes the 
Master Fund can maximize the returns derived for the level of risk to which the Master Fund is 
exposed. 

For all transactions the Master Fund mitigates credit risk by conducting settlements through a 
broker to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual 
settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring 
process. The Master Fund has two major counterparties with A (2013: A) rating, making up 
79.14% of NAV, at 31 December 2014. A major counterparty is defined as any counterparty that 
holds portfolio positions and cash that in the aggregate, are greater than 10% of net assets 

Portfolio Credit risk 

The tables below summarise the significant region concentrations within the Master Fundʼs debt 
portfolio:

Concentration of credit risk by geographical region  

% of net assets 
31 December  

2014 

% of net assets 
31 December 

2013 

Americas 3% 4%
Asia 1% 
EMEA 9% 4%

13% 8%
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk/counterparty risk (continued) 

Concentration of credit risk by geographical region (continued) 

Sector % of net assets % of net assets 
31 December 

2014 
31 December 

2013 
Banks 8% -
Consumer, Non-cyclical - 1%
Energy - 4%
Financial 1% 2%
Government - 1%
Oil&Gas 2% -
Real Estate 1% -
Utilities 1% -

13% 8%

The following table analyses the Master Fundʼs Portfolio of debt securities by rating agency 
category. 

Bloomberg Composite/Fitch Credit rating table 

% of net assets 
31 December  

2014 

% of net assets 
31 December 

2013 
Credit rating 
B 1% 1%
B+ 2% 5%
BB 1% -
BB- 1% 1%
BB+ 1% -
BBB- 3% -
C 1% -
CC 1% -
CCC 2% 1%

13% 8%
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Master Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
arising from its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, or 
that such obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to the Master Fund. 

Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Master Fund could be required 
to pay its liabilities or redeem its shares earlier than expected. 

The following table summarizes the maturity of the Master Fundʼs financial instruments based on 
contractual maturities. 

Less than 1 
month 

1 month to 1 
year 1 to 5 years >5 years Total 

As at 31 December 2014 $ $ $ $ $
Due from brokers 52,187,862 - - - 52,187,862 
Financial assets at fair value       
  through profit or loss 15,807,167 4,352,596 9,870,143 3,135,061 33,164,967 
Interest receivable 32,974 167,178 - - 200,152 
Total financial assets 68,028,003 4,519,774 9,870,143 3,135,061 85,552,981

Due to brokers 620,223 - - - 620,223 
Financial liabilities at fair value      
through profit or loss 2,498,240 7,018,303 4,581,266 - 14,097,809
Net assets attributable to       
  holders of redeemable      
    participating shares 71,002,929 - - - 71,002,929 
Interest payable 1,538 - - - 1,538 
Professional fees payable 51,410 - - - 51,410 
Other payables and accrued   
  expenses 1,676 - - - 1,676 

Total financial liabilities 74,176,016 7,018,303 4,581,266 - 85,775,585

Liquidity gap (6,148,013) (2,498,529) 5,288,877 3,135,061 (222,604) 
      

186



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 Less than 1 
month 

1 month to 
1 year 1 to 5 years >5 years Total 

As at 31 December 2013 $ $ $ $ $ 
Due from brokers 94,021,803 - - - 94,021,803 
Financial assets at fair value       
  through profit or loss 3,775,900 6,133,409 5,970,875 791,902 16,672,086 
Interest receivable 108,059 73,421 - - 181,480 
Total financial assets 97,905,762 6,206,830 5,970,875 791,902 110,875,369

     
Due to brokers 425,921 - - - 425,921 
Financial liabilities at fair value      
  through profit or loss 6,406,054 5,440,553 521,936 170,656 12,539,199
Net assets attributable to holders of       
  redeemable participating shares 98,096,988 - - - 98,096,988 
Interest payable 4,570 - - - 4,570 
Administration fees payable 25,000 - - - 25,000 
Custodian fees payable 10,177 - - - 10,177 
Professional fees payable 51,225 - - - 51,225 
Other payables and accrued      
  expenses 4,849 - - - 4,849 

Total financial liabilities 105,024,784 5,440,553 521,936 170,656 111,157,929

Liquidity gap (7,119,022) 766,277 5,448,939 621,246 (282,560)

Management of liquidity risk 
The Master Fundʼs policy and the Investment Managerʼs approach to managing liquidity is to 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, including estimated redemptions of shares, as and 
when due, without incurring due losses or risking damage to the Master Fundʼs reputation 

The Master Fundʼs prospectus provides for the monthly subscription and redemption of 
redeemable participating shares, as described in note 8. The Master Fund is therefore exposed 
to the liquidity risk of meeting Shareholder redemptions at each redemption date. The Master 
Fund typically holds a large percentage of the net assets in cash. At 31 December 2014, the 
Master Fund has $52,187,862 due from brokers, which represents 73.50% of net assets. 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign 
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligorʼs/issuerʼs credit 
standing) will affect the Master Fundʼs income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

The Master Fundʼs Market risks are managed on a daily basis by the Investment Manager as set 
out below. Strict and dynamic risk management techniques are applied to the portfolio based on 
quantitative signals, risk indicators (VaR, stress tests, Greeks) and qualitative appreciation of 
market conditions (e.g. liquidity). These risk constraints are applied prior to any trade 
implementation and are strictly monitored intraday at the portfolio level by the Investment 
Manager and independently by the risk controller of the Investment Manager.   

Overall Sensitivity 
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure of the Master Fund is a 
Value-at-Risk analysis (VaR).The VaR of the Master Fundʼs portfolio is the estimated loss that 
may arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse 
market movement within a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the 
Master Fund is based on a 98% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. The VaR 
model is based mainly on historical simulations, taking into account market data from previous 
day's trading and observed relationships between different markets and prices. The model can 
generate a wide range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements, and is 
measured daily by the Investment Manager.  

The use of VaR has limitations because it is a “point-in-time” calculation, reflecting positions held 
at 31 December 2014, which does not necessarily reflect the risk inherent in positions at other 
time. VaR is a statistical estimation and therefore it is possible that there could be, in any period, 
a greater number of days in which losses could exceed the calculated VaR. In addition, losses 
on those days might be substantially greater than the calculated VaR. The VaR model is based 
on historical data and does not take into account future market price movements, correlation 
between markets and levels of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may bear no 
relation to historical patterns. Losses that may be incurred due to exchange rate fluctuations are 
included in the VaR results. 

A summary of the VaR position of the Master Fund at 31 December 2014 and during the year to 
31 December 2014 is as follows per the below table: 

Credit  Equity  FX  Rates  Total 
    
Americas 0.01% 0.01% 0.22% -  0.24%
Asia - 0.14% 0.23% -  0.37%
EMEA 0.06% 0.48% 0.12% -  0.66%

         

Total 0.07% 0.63% 0.57%% - 1.27%

*Value-at-Risk at 98% confidence interval, 1 day horizon.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
A summary of the VaR position of the Master Fund at 31 December 2013 and during the period 
to 31 December 2013 is as follows per the below table: 

Credit  Equity  FX  Rates  Total 
    
Americas 0.01% 0.01% 0.16% 0.04%  0.22%
Asia - 0.11% 0.07% -  0.18%
EMEA 0.01% 0.08% 0.17% 0.09%  0.35%

         

Total 0.02% 0.20% 0.40% 0.13% 0.75%

*Value-at-Risk at 98% confidence interval, 1 day horizon.  

(d) Currency risk  

The Master Fund may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are 
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Master Fund 
may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other foreign 
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse impact on the fair value or future cash 
flows of that portion of the Master Fundʼs financial assets or liabilities. 

The Master Fundʼs currency risk is monitored on an on-going basis by the Investment Manager. 
Where Shares are subscribed for in a share class denominated in a currency other than US 
Dollars, the Investment Manager will enter into a forward foreign exchange contract (a “forward”) 
in order to hedge the currency risk of that specific share class. Forward currency contracts are 
entered into to mitigate the foreign exchange exposure of these specific share classes and the 
related gains and losses on these contracts are applied to the specific share classes only. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Currency risk (continued) 
At the reporting date the carrying value of the Master Fundʼs financial assets and liabilities held 
in foreign currencies were as follows: 

2014
Monetary 

Asset 
Monetary 
Liability 

 Non- 
Monetary 

Asset 

 Non- 
Monetary 
Liability 

Net 
Exposure

  $ $ $ $  $ 
CHF - (89) 40,054 - 39,965
EUR 842,502 (17,052) 1,423,449 (1,147,946) 1,100,953
GBP 8,710 (1,709) 2,318,283 (2,006,431) 318,853
HKD  24 - - -  24
HUF - - - (3,257) (3,257)
JPY  178,005 (100,247) 355,773 -  433,531
MXN 184,247 - - - 184,247
SGD  747 (750) - -  (3)
THB - (130) - - (130)
TRY 76 (80) 1,768,087 - 1,768,083
ZAR 166 (166) 1,334,777 (1,595,865) (261,088)

1,214,477 (120,223) 7,240,423 (4,753,499)  3,581,178 

2013
Monetary 

Asset 
Monetary 
Liability 

 Non- 
Monetary 

Asset 

 Non- 
Monetary 
Liability 

Net 
Exposure 

  $ $ $ $  $ 
BRL  - - - (93,176)  (93,176)
CHF - (202,404) 8,006 (553,985) (748,383)
EUR 294,533 (114,343) 788,746 (366,729) 602,207
GBP 123,481 (68,503) - (646,574) (591,596)
HKD  307,868 - - -  307,868
HUF - - 15,652 (122,036) (106,384)
ILS - (18,291) - - (18,291)
JPY  - (2,980) 154,132 -  151,152
MXN 26 - - - 26
PLN 30,639 - 242,636 (149,261) 124,014
RSD - - 38,146 - 38,146
SGD  - (783) - -  (783)
THB - (124) - - (124)
TRY 18,363 (18,494) 255,419 - 255,288
ZAR 201,460 - 523,436 (208,511) 516,385

976,370 (425,922) 2,026,173 (2,140,272) 436,349
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Currency risk (continued) 

The following exchange rates were used to convert investments, assets and liabilities to the 
functional currency of the Master Fund: 

 As at 31 
December 2014 

As at 31 
December 2013

BRL - 2.36  
CHF 0.99 0.89  
EUR 1.21 1.38  
GBP 1.56 1.66  
HKD 7.75 7.75  
HUF 260.94 215.59  
ILS - 3.47  
JPY 119.9 105.11  
MXN 14.74 13.10  
PLN - 3.02  
RSD - 83.19  
SGD 1.33 1.26  
THB 32.9 32.86  
TRY 2.34 2.15  
ZAR 11.57 10.47  
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(f) Equity price risk 

Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities or equity-linked 
derivatives as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 
shares. Equity price risk arises as a result of the Master Fundʼs investments in equity securities, 
equity securities sold short and equity-linked derivatives. 

The following table analyses the Master Fundʼs concentration of equity price by geographical 
location as a percentage of net assets attributable to shareholders; 

2014
Emerging Markets 
United Arab Emirates 

0.28% 
0.45% 

Total 0.73% 

2013
Brazil
China
Emerging Markets 

(1)% 
1%
2%

United States (5)% 
Total (3)% 

(g) Capital management

Redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund provide an investor with the right to 
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Master Fundʼs 
net assets at each monthly redemption date and are classified as liabilities. See note 8 for a 
description of the terms of the redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund. 
The Master Fundʼs objective in managing the redeemable participating shares is to ensure a 
stable base to maximize returns to all investors, and to manage liquidity risk arising from 
redemptions. The Master Fundʼs management of the liquidity risk arising from redeemable 
participating shares is discussed in note 4(b). 

The Master Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Valuation of financial instruments 
The Master Fund measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of inputs used in making the measurements: 

(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 

(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are  
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived from 
prices (Level 2). 

(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are not based on observable data (unobservable  
 data) (Level 3). 

When fair values of listed equity and debt securities as well as publicly traded derivatives at the 
reporting date are based on quoted market prices without any deduction for transaction costs, the 
instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. When the Master Fund has assets and 
liabilities with offsetting market risks, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair 
values for the off-setting risk positions and applies the bid or ask price to the net open position as 
appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

           $        $ 
2014  2013 

Financial assets held for trading  
Equities
       Listed equity securities 695,543 3,049,000
Debentures and other interest bearing investments  
       Debt securities 8,737,626 8,037,500

   

Fund Investments  
       UCIT Fund 13,493,910  -

   

Derivative financial instruments 
       Futures 430,278  154,132
       Options 3,828,340 1,300,600
       Currency Options 5,519,480 2,456,487
       Forward Contracts 453,265 516,511
       Interest rate swaps - 306,427
       Variance Swaps 6,525 851,429

10,237,888 5,585,586
 Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 33,164,967 16,672,086
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
                     $                  $ 

2014  2013 
Financial liabilities held for trading 

Equities
       Listed equity securities 182,850 5,827,800

182,850  5,827,800

Derivative financial instruments 
       Options 4,016,191 412,000
       Currency Options 7,740,141 4,961,949
       Forward Contracts 1,712,308 803,267
       Interest Rate Swaps - 358,952
       Variance Swaps 446,319 175,231

13,914,959 6,711,399
Total Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 14,097,809 12,539,199

(c) Net realised gain (loss) and net change in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 

2014   
Realised Unrealised

Investments in Securities (2,028,551) (2,944,815) 
Derivatives 6,242,743 (3,727,505)
Total 4,214,192 (6,672,320)

2013   
 Realised Unrealised

Investments in Securities (1,626,779) (394,215)
Derivatives (1,246,203) 1,495,847
Total (2,872,982) 1,101,632

The Master Fund invests in listed debt securities and corporate bonds as part of the portfolio 
holdings. When these instruments are not measured at the quoted price in an active market they 
are valued using observable inputs, such as recently executed transaction prices in securities of 
the issuer or comparable issuers and yield curves. To the extent that these inputs are observable, 
the Master Fund classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 2. Investments in other 
funds are carried at fair value. Fair value is based on the latest Net Asset Value (NAV) of the 
shares as calculated by the underlying fund administrator. Because of inherent uncertainty of 
valuation, these values may differ from the values that would have been used had a ready market 
for the investments existed and such differences could be material. 

196



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The Master Fund uses widely recognized valuation models for determining fair values of over-the-
counter interest rate swaps, currency options, index options, variance swaps and forward 
contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap 
models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including the 
credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. 
For these financial instruments, inputs into models are market observable and are therefore 
included within curves.  

For these financial instruments, inputs into models are market observable and are therefore 
included within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of over-the-counter options on 
traded equity securities are calculated using an option pricing model by reference to the following 
market-based inputs: (i) expected volatility; (ii) expected dividends yield; and (iii) the risk-free rate 
of interest, which are all considered to be market observable. Therefore, the fair values of over-
the counter-options on traded equity securities are included within Level 2. 

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is 
categorized. 

During the year/period, the Master Fund did not hold any instruments that were deemed to be 
Level 3 instruments and no instruments were transferred between levels during the year/period. 

  31 December 2014  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss $ $ $ $ 

Equities
Listed equity securities   695,543 - - 695,543  

Interest bearing investments  
Debt Securities - 8,737,626 - 8,737,626 

Fund Investments  
UCIT Fund - 13,493,910 - 13,493,910

Derivatives financial assets  
Currency Options - 5,519,480 - 5,519,480
Forward Contracts - 453,265 - 453,265
Futures 430,278 - - 430,278
Options 2,610,858 1,217,482 - 3,828,340
Variance Swaps - 6,525 - 6,525

Total Derivatives 3,041,136 7,196,752 - 10,237,888
   3,736,679     29,428,288 -  33,164,967
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

  31 December 2014  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss $ $ $ $ 

Equities 
Listed equity securities 182,850 - - 182,850 

Derivatives financial liabilities  
Currency Options - 7,740,141 - 7,740,141
Forward Contracts - 1,712,308 - 1,712,308
Options 4,016,191 - 4,016,191
Variance Swaps - 446,319 - 446,319

Total Derivatives 4,016,191 9,898,768 - 13,914,959
   4,199,041      9,898,768 - 14,097,809

 31 December 2013 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss $ $ $ $ 

Equities 
Listed equity securities    3,049,000 - -    3,049,000

Interest bearing investments  
Corporate bonds -       8,037,500 -    8,037,500

Derivatives financial assets  
Futures 154,132 - - 154,132
Options 248,850 1,051,750 - 1,300,600
Currency Options - 2,456,487 - 2,456,487
Forward Contracts - 516,511 - 516,511
Interest Rate Swaps - 306,427 - 306,427
Variance Swaps - 851,429 - 851,429

Total Derivatives 402,982 5,182,604 - 5,585,586
   3,451,982    13,220,104 - 16,672,086
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5. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

31 December 2013 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial liabilities at fair value  $ $ $ $ 
through profit or loss 

Equities
Listed equity securities    5,827,800 - -    5,827,800

Derivatives financial liabilities  
Options 399,900 12,100 - 412,000
Currency Options - 4,961,949 - 4,961,949
Forward Contracts - 803,267 - 803,267
Interest Rate Swaps - 358,952 - 358,952
Variance Swaps - 175,231 - 175,231

Total Derivatives 399,900 6,311,499 - 6,711,399
   6,227,700     6,311,499 -  12,539,199

6. Derivative contracts 

Typically, derivative contracts serve as components of the Master Fundʼs investment strategy and 
are utilised primarily to structure and hedge investments, to enhance performance and reduce 
risk to the Master Fund (the Master Fund does not designate any derivative as a hedging 
instrument for hedge accounting purposes). The derivative contracts that the Master Fund holds 
include forwards, futures, exchange traded options and foreign exchange options. 

The Master Fund uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks associated primarily with 
foreign currency fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments may also be used for trading 
purposes where the Investment Manager believes this would be more effective than investing 
directly in the underlying financial instruments. 

Derivatives often reflect at their inception only a mutual exchange of promises with little or no 
transfer of tangible consideration. However, these instruments frequently involve a high degree of 
leverage and are very volatile. A relatively small movement in the underlying of a derivative 
contract may have a significant impact on the profit or loss of the Master Fund. 

During the year/period, the Master Fund had positions in the following types of derivatives:

Forwards and futures 
Forward and futures contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial 
instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customized contracts 
transacted in the OTC market. Futures contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on 
regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash margin requirements. The main differences in 
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6. Derivative contracts (continued) 

Forwards and futures (continued) 
the risk associated with forward and futures contracts are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Master 
Fund has credit exposure to the counterparties of forward contracts. The credit risk related to 
future contracts is considered minimal because the exchange ensures that these contracts are 
always honored. Forward contracts are settled gross and, therefore, considered to bear a higher 
liquidity risk than the future contracts which are settled on a net basis. Both types of contracts 
result in market risk exposure. 

Options 
Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser 
either to buy or sell a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed 
future date or at any time within a specified period. 

The Master Fund purchases and sells put and call options through regulated exchanges and OTC 
markets. Options purchased by the Master Fund provide the Master Fund with the opportunity to 
purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either 
on or before the expiration of the option. The Master Fund is exposed to credit risk on purchased 
options only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value. Options written by the 
Master Fund provide the purchaser the opportunity to purchase from or sell to the Master Fund 
the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before the expiration of the option. 
None of the options at the yearend were covered. Options are generally settled on a net basis. 

Swaps 
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over 
time based on specified notional amounts. Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the 
Master Fund with major brokers in which the Master Fund either receives or pays a floating rate 
note of interest in return for paying or receiving a fixed rate of interest. The payment flows are 
usually netted against each other, with the difference being paid by one party to the other.  

Variance swaps relate to contracts taken out by the Master Fund with major brokers in which the 
Master Fund trades future realised volatility against current implied volatility. 

The following table shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or 
liabilities, together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the 
amount of a derivativeʼs underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which 
changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of 
transactions outstanding at the reporting dates and are indicative of neither the market risk nor 
the credit risk. 
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6. Derivative contract(continued)

As at 31 December 2014 
$ $ $ 

Assets Liabilities Notional Amount 
Derivatives primarily held 
for trading purposes 
Futures 430,278 - 10,224,778
Options 3,828,340 4,016,191 191,632,900
Currency Options 5,519,480 7,740,141 2,293,835,925
Forward Contracts 453,265 1,712,308 30,415,015
Variance Swaps 6,525 446,319 22,500,000

10,237,888 13,914,959 2,548,608,618

As at 31 December 2013 
$ $ $ 

Assets Liabilities Notional Amount 
Derivatives primarily held 
for trading purposes 
Futures 154,132 - 38
Options 1,300,600 412,000 17,101,104
Currency Options 2,456,487 4,961,949 224,082,500
Forward Contracts 516,511 803,267 897,361,135
Interest Rate Swaps 306,427 358,952 211,350,164
Variance Swaps 851,429 175,231 14,062

5,585,586 6,711,399 1,349,909,003

7. Offsetting assets and liabilities  

The Master Fund is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities presentation 
the Statement of Financial Position, in order to enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the effect, or potential effect, of netting arrangements. These recognised assets and 
liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are either subject to an 
enforceable master-netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following right of set off 
criteria: the amounts owed by the Master Fund to another party are determinable, the Master 
Fund has the right to set off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the 
Master Fund intends to set off, and the Master Fundʼs right of setoff is enforceable at law. 

As of 31 December 2014, the Master Fund held financial instruments and derivative instruments 
that were eligible for offset in the Statement of Financial Position and were subject to a master-
netting arrangement. The master-netting arrangement allows the counterparty to net applicable 
collateral held on behalf of the Master Fund against applicable liabilities or payment obligations of 
the Master Fund to the counterparty. These arrangements also allow the counterparty to net any 
of its applicable liabilities or payment obligations they have to the Master Fund against any 
collateral sent to the Master Fund. 
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued)

The following tables provide disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognised 
liabilities presented in the Statement of Financial Position: 

 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
As at 31 December 2014 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Assets 

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of 
Assets presented in 

the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Derivative Assets $    $     $ 
Options 3,828,340 - 3,828,340 
Variance Swaps 6,525 - 6,525 
Futures 430,278 - 430,278 
Forward Contracts 453,265 - 453,265 
Currency Options 5,519,480 - 5,519,480 

Total  10,237,888 - 10,237,888 

     As at 31 December 2014 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 
–(iv) 

 Gross Amounts Not offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position 

 Net Amounts of 
Assets presented 

in the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Financial 
Instruments 

Cash Collateral 
Received 

Net 
Amount 

Counterparties             $ $ $ $
Citigroup Inc. 1,217,482 - - 1,217,482 
Deutsche Bank AG 8,735,881 8,735,881 - - 
Goldman Sachs 6,525 - - 6,525 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 278,000 278,000 - - 

Total 10,237,888 9,013,881 - 1,224,007

202



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 

 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
As at 31 December 2014 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Liabilities 

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

Derivative Liabilities    $ $    $ 
Forward Contracts 1,712,308 - 1,712,308 
Options 4,016,191 - 4,016,191 
Variance Swaps 446,319 - 446,319 
Currency Options 7,740,141 - 7,740,141 

Total  13,914,959 - 13,914,959 

As at 31 December 2014 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 
–(iv) 

 Gross Amounts Not offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position 

 Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
Financial 

Instruments 
Cash Collateral 

Pledged 
Net 

Amount 
Counterparties $ $   $ $
Bank of America 179,012 - 179,012 - 
Deutsche Bank AG 12,829,902 8,735,881 4,094,021 - 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 906,045 278,000 628,045 - 

Total 13,914,959 9,013,881 4,901,078 -
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued) 

(i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
      As at 31 December 2013 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Assets 

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of 
Assets presented in 

the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Derivative Assets $ $ $ 
Interest Rate Swaps 306,427 - 306,427 
Options 1,300,600 - 1,300,600 
Variance Swaps 851,429 - 851,429 
Futures 154,132 - 154,132 
Forward Contracts 516,511 - 516,511 
Currency Options 2,456,487 - 2,456,487 

Total  5,585,586 - 5,585,586 

As at 31 December 2013 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 
–(iv) 

 Gross Amounts Not offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position 

 Net Amounts of 
Assets presented 

in the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Financial 
Instruments 

Cash Collateral 
Received 

Net 
Amount 

Counterparties $ $ $ $
Bank of America 81,114 39,469 - 41,645 
Citigroup Inc. 378,167 - - 378,167 
Deutsche Bank AG 3,409,708 3,409,708 - - 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 863,322 318,889 - 544,433 
Morgan Stanley 853,275 12,100 - 841,175 

Total 5,585,586 3,780,166 - 1,805,420
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7. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued)

 (i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii) 
As at 31 December 2013 

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Liabilities 

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 

Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

Derivative Liabilities $ $ $ 
Forward Contracts 803,267 - 803,267 
Interest Rate Swaps 358,952 - 358,952 
Options 412,000 - 412,000 
Variance Swaps 175,231 - 175,231 
Currency Options 4,961,949 - 4,961,949 

Total  6,711,399 - 6,711,399 

    As at 31 December 2013 (iii) (iv) (v) = (iii) 
–(iv) 

 Gross Amounts Not offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position 

 Net Amounts of 
Liabilities 

presented in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
Financial 

Instruments 
Cash Collateral 

Pledged 
Net 

Amount 
Counterparties $ $ $ $ 
Bank of America 39,469 39,469 - - 
Deutsche Bank AG 6,236,827 3,409,709 2,827,118 - 
HSBC Holdings PLC 104,114 - - 104,114 
JP Morgan Chase & Co 318,889 318,889 - - 
Morgan Stanley 12,100 12,100 - - 

Total 6,711,399 3,780,167 2,827,118 104,114

8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares

The authorised share capital of the Master Fund is $50,000 divided into 10 founder shares of $1 
par value each and 4,999,000 ordinary shares of $0.01 par value each, €50,000 divided into 
5,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 par value each, £50,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary 
shares of £0.01 par value each and ¥5,000,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares of ¥1.00 
par value each. 

The redeemable participating shares provide investors with the right to require redemption for 
cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Master Fundʼs net assets at each 
monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Master Fundʼs liquidation. 
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8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows: 

Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each month; on 
the provision that day is a business day for the Master Fund, at the net asset value per share of 
the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Master Fund, shares may be 
redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder must request such 
redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed redemption day or such other day as 
the Investment Manager may determine. Redeemable Shares in voting classes have the right to 
receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Master Fund. The classes in issue 
which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B GBP. Gains/losses from forward 
foreign exchange contracts held for share class hedging purposes are attributed to the relevant 
share class only. 

The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable Shares during the year/period was as 
follows: 

Outstanding at 
January 1 2014 Issued Redeemed 

Outstanding at 31 
December 2014 

USD Class A  990,713.52 7,841.96 (275,288.73) 723,266.75
GBP Class B 3,010.92 8,942.36 - 11,953.28

993,724.44 16,784.32 (275,288.73) 735,220.03

Outstanding at 
14 March 2013 Issued Redeemed 

Outstanding at 31 
December 2013 

USD Class A  - 1,004,836.70 (14,123.18) 990,713.52
GBP Class B - 3,010.92 - 3,010.92

- 1,007,847.62 (14,123.18) 993,724.44

Capital management 
As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Master Fund can vary 
depending on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Master Fund. The Master 
Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on the 
issue or redemption of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Master Fundʼs 
constitution. 

The Master Fundʼs objectives for managing capital are: 

 To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected 
return indicated in its Prospectus 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

8. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

Capital management 

 To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified portfolio, 
by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using various investment 
strategies and hedging techniques 

 To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Master Fund, and to meet 
redemption requests as they arise 

 To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Master Fund cost-efficient 

Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes applied 
by the Master Fund in managing its capital. 

9. Commitments and contingencies

There are no commitments or contingencies as at 31 December 2014. (There were no 
commitments or contingencies as at 31 December 2013.) 

10. Related parties

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to the 
Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director prorated across both the 
Master Fund and the Feeder Fund. This is payable in advance, together with their out of pocket 
expenses. In addition, the Chairman of each Board of Directors receives an annual fee with 
respect to each of the Fund and the Master Fund of up to $25,000, payable in advance. 

HighWater Limited provides corporate secretarial services to the Master Fund. Gary Linford is 
one of the directors of both HighWater Limited and the Master Fund. Corporate secretarial fees 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to $7,560 (2013: $9,857). The prepaid fee at 
year end was $1,083 (2013: $2,143). 

Manager 
APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”), is an exempted company incorporated with 
limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Tuva Mountains Limited hold 80% of the 
shares of APQ Capital Management Limited and the underlying beneficial owner of these shares 
is Bart Turtelboom. Bart Turtelboom is also a beneficial investor in the APQ Alexandria Fund. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

10. Related parties (continued) 

Administrator  
The Master Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company incorporated 
in the Republic Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Master Fund. Administration fees 
charged during the year amounted to $300,000 (2013: $191,500).

Founder Shares 
All Founder Shares are held by APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”). 

Investment in other funds 
The Master Fund made an investment of $15m (150,000 shares at US$100 per share) in Merrill 
Lynch Investment Solutions - APQ Emerging Markets UCITS Fund, a UCITS fund also managed 
by the Investment Manager of the Master Fund. 

11. Subsequent events

Subsequent to year end, the Master Fund received subscriptions of $19,000,000 and £120,000 
and paid out redemptions of $31,229,602 and £45,962. 

12. Approval of financial statements 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Master Fund on 8 May 
2015. 
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Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited 
c/o MourantOzannes Corporate Services 
(Cayman) 
Limited 
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay 
PO Box 1348 
Grand Cayman KY-1108 
Cayman Islands 

Registered Office 
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94 Solaris Avenue 
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Grand Cayman KY-1108 
Cayman Islands 

Investment Manager 
APQ Partners LLP 
3rd Floor 
22-23 Old Burlington St 
London W1s 2JJ 
United Kingdom 
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PO Box 510 
Grand Cayman 
KY1-1106 
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75 St. Stephenʼs Green 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of APQ Alexandria Master Fund
Limited (the “Master Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net
assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for
the period from 14 March 2013 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2013, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

This report is made solely to the directors, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Master Fund and the directors as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Ernst & Young Ltd.
62 Forum Lane
Camana Bay
P.O. Box 510
Grand Cayman KY1-1106
CAYMAN ISLANDS

Tel: +1 345 949 8444
Fax: +1 345 949 8529
ey.com
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited as at 31 December 2013, and its
financial performance and cash flows for the period from 14 March 2013 (date of incorporation)
to 31 December 2013, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

15 April 2014
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

As at 31 December 2013

Assets
Due from brokers $ 94,021,803
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16,672,086
Interest receivable 181,480
Other receivables and prepayments 282,560

Total assets $ 111,157,929

Liabilities:
Due to brokers $ 425,921
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 12,539,199
Interest payable 4,570
Administration fees payable 25,000
Custodian fees payable 10,177
Professional fees payable 51,225
Other payables and accrued expenses 4,849

Total Liabilities 13,060,941

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares $ 98,096,988

Net asset value per share by class
As at 31 December 2013 No of shares NAV per share

Class A USD 990,713.52 $ 98.52
Class B GBP 3,010.92 £ 99.50

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013

Investment income/(loss)
Net realized loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss $ (2,872,982)
Net realized loss on foreign currency exchange (78,415)
Net change in unrealized appreciation on financial assets and liabilities

at fair value through profit or loss 1,101,632
Net change in unrealized depreciation on foreign currency exchange (3,656)
Interest income 1,138,917
Dividend income 109,984
Other income 3,500

(601,020)

Expense
Professional fees 67,020
Directorsʼ fees 23,598
Interest expense 131,123
Dividend expense 106,506
Administration fees 191,500
Custodian fees 48,000
Organization Expenses 60,327
Other expenses 158,600

786,674

Operating loss (1,387,694)

Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares from operations $ (1,387,694)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE

PARTICIPATING SHARES

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

For the period from 14 March 2013 to 31 December 2013

Total

As at 14 March 2013 $ -

Issue of redeemable participating shares 100,903,897
Redemption of redeemable participating shares (1,419,215)

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares
from transactions in shares 99,484,682
Decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares
from operations (1,387,694)

As at 31 December 2013 $ 98,096,988

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

For the period from March 14 2013 to 31 December 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares from operations to net cash used in $ (1,387,694)

Payments for purchase of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss (214,665,774)
Proceeds from sale of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 208,761,537
Net realized loss on financial investments 2,872,982
Net change in unrealized gain on financial investments (1,101,632)
Due from brokers (93,595,882)
Due to brokers
Interest receivable (181,480)
Other receivables and prepayments (282,560)
Interest payable 4,570
Administration fees payable 25,000
Custodian fees payable 10,177
Professional fees payable 51,225
Other payables and accrued expenses 4,849

Net cash used in operating activities (99,484,682)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 100,903,897
Payments on redemption of redeemable participating shares (1,419,215)

Net cash provided by financing activities 99,484,682

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period -
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period $ -
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ (26,766)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction
therewith.

215



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

1. Reporting entity

APQ Alexandria Master Fund Limited (the “Master Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled
and incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Master Fund was incorporated on 14 March 2013
and commenced operations on 15 May 2013.

APQ Alexandria Fund Limited (the “Feeder Fund”) is a regulated mutual fund domiciled and
incorporated, with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Feeder Fund was incorporated on
14 March 2013 and was registered with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) on 22
April 2013. The Feeder Fund commenced operations on 15 May 2013.

The Feeder Fund will invest substantially all of its capital through a “master-feeder” structure in
the Master Fund which is also a Cayman Islands regulated mutual fund. The Master Fund was
100% owned by the Fund as at 31 December 2013.

The investment objective of the Master Fund is to generate long-term returns through
investments in global and emerging markets. The Master Fund will invest in stocks, bonds,
foreign exchange, commodities and their derivatives across Asia, Latin America, Eastern
Europe, Middle East, Africa, and the developed markets.

The Master Fundʼs investment activities are managed by APQ Partners LLP (the “Investment
Manager”). The Investment Manager is an English limited liability partnership and is regulated by
the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”).

2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Master Fund for the period ended 31 December 2013 have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”). The financial statements are presented in
US Dollars.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial
assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured
at fair value.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the Master Fundʼs financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected.

(b) Foreign currency

The Master Fundʼs functional and presentation currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Master Fund receives its investing capital primarily in US
Dollars manages shareholder funds in this currency also. For this reason, management has
determined that the functional currency of the Master Fund should be US Dollars.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at that date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value through profit or loss are translated into US Dollars at the spot exchange rate at the date
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss in the “net
realized loss on foreign currency exchange” and “net change in unrealized depreciation on
foreign currency exchange” lines, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss which is recognized in profit or loss in the “net realized loss and financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” and “net change in unrealized
depreciation on foreign currency exchange” lines.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Interest

Interest income and expenses are recognized in profit or loss on an accruals basis.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, short term deposits in
banks and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash. There were no cash and cash equivalents held by the Master Fund at 31 December 2013.

(e) Income taxes

The Master Fund is exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands (including income,
capital gains and withholding taxes). However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and
capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Master
Fund presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment income in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash inflows from
investments are presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable.

(f) Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading or
designated upon initial recognition as ʻat fair value through profit or lossʼ and excludes interest
and dividend income and expense.

Unrealized gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the
period and from reversal of prior periodʼs unrealized gains and losses for financial instruments
which were realized in the reporting period.

Realized gains or losses on disposals of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit
or loss are calculated using first in, first out (“FIFO”) method. They represent the difference
between an instrumentʼs initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or
receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin
accounts for such instruments).
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Fees, commission and other expenses

Fees, commission and other expenses are recognised in profit or loss on an accruals basis.

(h) Financial Instruments

(i) Classification

The Master Fund has adopted the following classifications for financial assets and financial
liabilities:

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading:
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term.

This category includes equity securities, debt instruments and derivatives. Derivative financial
assets held for trading include futures, interest rate swaps, variance swaps, equity index
options, foreign exchange options and forward foreign exchange contracts. These assets are
acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price.
All derivatives and liabilities from short sales of financial instruments are classified as held for
trading. The Master Fundʼs policy is not to apply hedge accounting.

(ii) Recognition

The Master Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade
date, i.e., the date that the Master Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(iii) Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the
Statement of Financial Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are
recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iv) Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Master Fund measures financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an armʼs length
transaction on the measurement date.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement (continued)

When available, the Master Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted
prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an armʼs length basis. When fair values of listed equity securities as well as
publicly traded derivatives at the reporting date are based on quoted market prices without
any deduction for transaction costs, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments the Master Fund establishes fair value using industry
standard valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include using recent armʼs length
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair
value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses
and option pricing models. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market
inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Master Fund, incorporates all
factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with
accepted economic methodologies for pricing such financial instruments. Inputs to valuation
techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors
inherent in the financial instrument. The Master Fund classifies securities valued in this
manner within Level 2 of the Fair Value hierarchy.

The Master Fund at the reporting date did not hold any Level 3 securities.

(v) De-recognition

The Master Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Master Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the
Master Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the Statement of Financial
Position. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of
the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and the
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Master Fund derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (continued)

(vi) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are presented gross in the Statement of Financial Position.
Information about where the Master Fund has the right to offset financial assets and liabilities
is described in note 6.

(i) Balances Due from brokers / Due to Brokers

Amounts due to brokers include amounts payable for securities purchased (in a regular way
transaction) that have been contracted for, but not yet delivered, as at the reporting date.

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and amounts receivable for securities
sold (in a regular way transaction) that have been contracted for, but not yet delivered, on the
reporting date.

Margin accounts represent cash deposits held with brokers as collateral against open futures
contracts.

At 31 December 2013, due from/to brokers comprised of the following balances:

As at
31 December 2013

Amounts Due
from Broker

Amounts Due
to Broker

Collateral Cash 15,136,674 -
Margin 6,101,083 24,486
Cash at Broker 72,784,046 401,435

94,021,803 425,921

(j) Dividend revenue and expense

Dividend revenue is recognized when the Master Fundʼs right to receive payment is
established. Dividend revenue is presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes,
which are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Dividend
expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognized when the shareholders right to
receive payment is established.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Redeemable participating shares

Redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at the
redemption amounts representing the investorʼs right to a residual interest in the Master Funds
assets. In accordance with the Master Fundʼs prospectus, the redemption amounts of the
redeemable participating shares are calculated using the closing prices of the Master Fundʼs
underlying investments/short positions.

The Master Fundʼs founder shares are classified as equity. The founder shares do not form part
of the net assets of the Master Fund and are disclosed in the financial statements by way of this
note only.

(l) Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in
tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The
Fund establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of
audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such
differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in their respective investmentʼs domicile. As the Fund assesses the probability for
litigation and subsequent cash outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has
been recognised.

(m)Going Concern

The Master Fundʼs management has made an assessment of the Master Fundʼs ability to
continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Master Fund has the resources to continue
in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Master Fundʼs ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2.3. New and amended standards and interpretations

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after the current reporting period

IFRS 9, ʻFinancial instrumentsʼ, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39
that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires
financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value
and those measured at amortized cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The
classification depends on the entityʼs business model for managing its financial instruments and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard
retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value
option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entityʼs own credit
risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The Master Fund will also consider the
impactof the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the International Accounting
Standards Board. Management of the Master Fund is currently assessing the standardʼs full
impact.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 on Investment Entities are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and have not been early adopted by the Master
Fund. The amendments define an investment entity and introduce an exception to consolidating
particular subsidiaries for investment entities. These amendments require an investment entity to
measure those subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its consolidated and separate
financial statements. The amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements for
investment entities in IFRS 12 and IAS 27. Management of the Master Fund is currently
assessing the standardʼs full impact.

Amendments to IAS 32, ʻOffsetting financial assets and financial liabilitiesʼ is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and has not been early adopted by the Master
Fund. These amendments clarify the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 and address inconsistencies in
their application. This includes clarifying the meaning of ʻcurrently has a legally enforceable right
of set-offʼ and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net
settlement. Management of the Master Fund is currently assessing the standardʼs full impact.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. Financial risk management

The Master Fundʼs risk management objective is to create and protect shareholder value. Risk is
inherent in the Master Fundʼs activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing
identification, measurement and monitoring. The Fund is exposed to credit risk, market risk
(which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk) and liquidity risk arising from the
financial instruments it holds.

Risk management framework
The Master Fund maintains positions in a variety of derivative financial instruments in
accordance with its investment objectives. The Master Fundʼs investment portfolio is comprised
of both quoted, OTC derivative financial instruments and forward foreign exchange contracts.

Asset purchases and sales are determined by the Investment Manager, who has been given
discretionary authority to manage the distribution of the assets to achieve the Master Fundʼs
investment objectives. Compliance of the composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Master
Fundʼs Board of Directors.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Master Fund, resulting in a financial
loss to the Master Fund. The Master Fund has the credit risk in relation to transactions it enters
with brokers, banks and third parties if the counterparty was to fail to complete any transaction to
which the Master Fund is party.
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APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3.  Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The Master Fund restricts its exposure to credit losses on derivative instruments by entering into
master-netting arrangements with major counterparties with whom a significant volume of
transactions are undertaken. Such arrangements provides for a single net settlement of all
financial instruments covered by the agreement in the event of default on any one contract.
Master-netting arrangements do not result in the offset of assets and liabilities in the Statement
of Financial Position unless certain conditions for offsetting under IFRS 7 apply.

For risk management reporting purposes the Master Fund considers and consolidates all
elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligator risk, country and sector risk).

Management of credit risk
The Master Fundʼs policy over credit risk is to minimize its exposure to counterparties with
perceived higher risk of default by dealing only with counterparties meeting the credit standards
set out in the Master Fundʼs prospectus and taking collateral where it can. The Master Fund may
enter into transactions with counterparties for OTC financial derivative instruments, wherein cash
or other assets belonging to the Master Fund may be passed outside the custodial network of
the Master Fund to an unlimited extent in order to support the Master Fundʼs transactions.

The Master Fundʼs maximum credit risk exposure at the Statement of Financial Position date is
represented by the respective carrying amounts of the financial assets in the Statement of
Financial Position. This amounted to $111,157,929 as at 31 December 2013.

Exposure to credit risk arising from derivative assets
The Master Fund enters into two types of derivative transactions – exchange-traded derivatives
and over the counter (“OTC”) derivatives. Credit risks arising from exchange-traded derivatives
are mitigated as the clearing houses of each futures exchange guarantee the settlement of all
futures contracts for market participants. OTC derivatives expose the Master Fund to the risk
that the counterparties to these OTC derivatives might default on their obligations to the Master
Fund.

Balances due from brokers
Balances due from brokers result from margin cash balances held as collateral by the brokers
against derivative positions. As at 31 December 2013 $94,021,803 was due from brokers.
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3.  Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Settlement risk
The Master Fundʼs activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions.
Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver
cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed.

The Investment Manager also manages the Master Fundʼs exposure to price risk by analysing
the investment portfolio by region and sector. The Investment Managerʼs policy is to concentrate
the investment portfolio in sectors and regions where the Investment Manager believes the
Master Fund can maximize the returns derived for the level of risk to which the Master Fund is
exposed.

The tables below summarise the significant region concentrations within the Master Fundʼs
investment and derivatives portfolios:

For all transactions the Master Fund mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a
broker to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual
settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring
process. The Fund has three major counterparties with A rating, making up 91.01% of NAV, at
31 December 2013. A major counterparty is defined as any counterparty that holds portfolio
positions and cash that in the aggregate, are greater than10%of net assets.

Fitch Credit rating table
% of net assets
attributable to
shareholders

31 December 2013
Credit rating
B 1%
B+ 5%
BB- 1%
CCC 1%

8%

Concentration of credit risk by geographical region
% of net assets
attributable to
shareholders

31 December 2013

Americas 4%
EMEA 4%

8%
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Master Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
arising from its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, or
that such obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to the Master Fund.

Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Master Fund could be required
to pay its liabilities or redeem its shares earlier than expected.

The following table summarizes the maturity of the Master Fundʼs financial instruments based on
contractual maturities.

Less than 1
month

1 month to
1 year

1 to 5
years >5 years Total

As at 31 December 2013 $ $ $ $ $
Due from brokers 94,021,803 - - - 94,021,803
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 3,775,900 6,133,409 5,970,875 791,902 16,672,086
Interest receivable 108,059 73,421 - - 181,480
Other receivables and
prepayments 282,560 - - - 282,560

Total financial assets 98,188,322 6,206,830 5,970,875 791,902 111,157,929

Due to brokers 425,921 - - - 425,921
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 6,406,054 5,440,553 521,936 170,656 12,539,199
Net assets attributable to

holders of redeemable
participating shares 98,096,988 98,096,988

Interest payable 4,570 - - - 4,570
Administration fees payable 25,000 - - - 25,000
Custodian fees payable 10,177 - - - 10,177
Professional fees payable 51,225 - - - 51,225
Other payables and accrued

expenses 4,849 - - - 4,849
Total financial liabilities 105,024,784 5,440,553 521,936 170,656 111,157,929

Liquidity gap (6,836,462) 766,277 5,448,939 621,246 -

Management of liquidity risk
The Master Fundʼs policy and the Investment Managerʼs approach to managing liquidity is to
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, including estimated redemptions of shares, as and
when due, without incurring due losses or risking damage to the Master Fundʼs reputation.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Master Fundʼs prospectus provides for the monthly subscription and redemption of
redeemable participating shares, as described in note 9. The Master Fund is therefore exposed
to the liquidity risk of meeting Shareholder redemptions at each redemption date. The Master
Fund typically holds a large percentage of the net assets in cash. At 31 December 2013, the
Master Fund has $94,021,803 due from brokers, which represents 95.85% of net assets.

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligorʼs/issuerʼs credit
standing) will affect the Master Fundʼs income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.

The Master Fundʼs Market risks are managed on a daily basis by the Investment Manager as set
out below.

Strict and dynamic risk management techniques are applied to the portfolio based on
quantitative signals, risk indicators (VaR, stress tests, Greeks) and qualitative appreciation of
market conditions (e.g. liquidity). These risk constraints are applied prior to any trade
implementation and are strictly monitored intraday at the portfolio level by the Investment
Manager and independently by the risk controller of the Investment Manager.

Overall Sensitivity
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure of the Master Fund is a
Value-at-Risk analysis (VaR).The VaR of the Master Fundʼs portfolio is the estimated loss that
may arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse
market movement within a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the
Master Fund is based on a 98% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. The VaR
model is based mainly on historical simulations, taking into account market data from previous
day's trading and observed relationships between different markets and prices. The model can
generate a wide range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements, and is
measured daily by the Investment Manager.

The use of VaR has limitations because it is a “point-in-time” calculation, reflecting positions held
at 31 December 2013, which does not necessarily reflect the risk inherent in positions at other
time. VaR is a statistical estimation and therefore it is possible that there could be, in any period,
a greater number of days in which losses could exceed the calculated VaR. In addition, losses
on those days might be substantially greater than the calculated VaR. The VaR model is based
on historical data and does not take into account future market price movements, correlation
between markets and levels of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may bear no
relation to historical patterns. Losses that be incurred due to exchange rate fluctuations are
included in the VaR results.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

A summary of the VaR position of the Master Fund at 31 December 2013 and during the period
to 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Credit Equity FX Rates Total

Americas 0.01% 0.01% 0.16% 0.04% 0.22%
Asia 0.11% 0.07% 0.18%
EMEA 0.01% 0.08% 0.17% 0.09% 0.35%
Total 0.02% 0.20% 0.40% 0.13% 0.75%

*Value-at-Risk at 98% confidence interval, 1 day horizon.

(d) Currency risk

The Master Fund may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Master Fund
may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other foreign
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse impact on the fair value or future cash
flows of that portion of the Master Fundʼs financial assets or liabilities.

The Master Fundʼs currency risk is monitored on an on-going basis by the Investment Manager.
Where Shares are subscribed for in a share class denominated in a currency other than US
Dollars, the investment manager will enter into a forward foreign exchange contract (a “forward”)
in order to hedge the currency risk of that specific share class. Forward currency contracts are
entered into to mitigate the foreign exchange exposure of these specific share classes and the
related gains and losses on these contracts are applied to the specific share classes only.

229



APQ ALEXANDRIA MASTER FUND LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

3. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

At the reporting date the carrying value of the Master Fundʼs financial assets and liabilities held
in foreign currencies were as follows:

Monetary
Asset

Monetary
Liability

Non-
Monetary

Asset

Non-
Monetary
Liability

Net
Exposure

BRL - - - (93,176) (93,176)
CHF - (202,404) 8,006 (553,985) (748,383)
EUR 294,533 (114,343) 788,746 (366,729) 602,207
GBP 123,481 (68,503) - (646,574) (591,596)
HKD 307,868 - 307,868
HUF - - 15,652 (122,036) (106,384)
ILS - (18,291) (18,291)
JPY - (2,980) 154,132 - 151,152
MXN 26 - 26
PLN 30,639 - 242,636 (149,261) 124,014
RSD - - 38,146 - 38,146
SGD - (783) (783)
THB - (124) (124)
TRY 18,363 (18,494) 255,419 - 255,288
ZAR 201,460 - 523,436 (208,511) 516,385

976,370 (425,922) 2,026,173 (2,140,272) 436,349

The following exchange rates were used to convert investments, assets and liabilities to the
functional currency of the Master Fund:

As at 31
December 2013

BRL 2.36
CHF 0.89
EUR 1.38
GBP 1.66
HKD 7.75
HUF 215.59
ILS 3.47
JPY 105.11
MXN 13.10
PLN 3.02
RSD 83.19
SGD 1.26
THB 32.86
TRY 2.15
ZAR 10.47
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

(f) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities or equity-linked
derivatives as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
shares. Equity price risk arises as a result of the Master Fundʼs investments in equity securities,
equity securities sold short and equity-linked derivatives.

The following table analyses the Master Fundʼs concentration of equity price by geographical
location as a percentage of net assets attributable to shareholders;

Brazil
China
Emerging Markets

(1)%
1%
2%

United States (5)%
Total (3)%

(g) Capital management

Redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund provide an investor with the right to
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Master Fundʼs
net assets at each monthly redemption date and are classified as liabilities. See note 9 for a
description of the terms of the redeemable participating shares issued by the Master Fund.
The Master Fundʼs objective in managing the redeemable participating shares is to ensure a
stable base to maximize returns to all investors, and to manage liquidity risk arising from
redemptions. The Master Fundʼs management of the liquidity risk arising from redeemable
participating shares is discussed in note 3(b).

The Master Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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4. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Valuation of financial instruments
The Master Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of inputs used in making the measurements:

(i) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

(ii) Securities valued using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly derived from prices
(Level 2).

(iii) Securities valued using inputs that are not based on observable data (unobservable
data) (Level 3).

When fair values of listed equity and debt securities as well as publicly traded derivatives at the
reporting date are based on quoted market prices without any deduction for transaction costs, the
instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. When the Master Fund has assets and
liabilities with offsetting market risks, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair
values for the off-setting risk positions and applies the bid or ask price to the net open position as
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading $
2013

Equities
Listed equity securities            3,049,000

Debentures and other interest bearing investments
Debt Securities            8,037,500

        11,086,500
Derivative financial instruments

Futures               154,132
Options               1,300,600
Currency Option                  2,456,487
Forward Contract               516,511
Interest Rate Swaps 306,427
Variance Swaps 851,429

           5,585,586
 Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss         16,672,086
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4. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities held for trading $
2013

Equities
Listed equity securities 5,827,800

        5,827,800

Derivative financial instruments
Options 412,000
Currency Options 4,961,949
Forward Contracts 803,267
Interest Rate Swaps 358,952
Variance Swaps 175,231

6,711,399
 Total Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 12,539,199

(c) Net changes in fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities through profit or loss

Realised Unrealised
Investments in Securities (1,626,779) (394,215)
Derivatives (1,246,203) 1,495,847
Total (2,872,982) 1,101,632

The Master Fund invests in listed debt securities and corporate bonds. When these instruments
are not measured at the quoted price in an active market they are valued using observable
inputs, such as recently executed transaction prices in securities of the issuer or comparable
issuers and yield curves. To the extent that these inputs are observable, the Master Fund
classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 2.

The Master Fund uses widely recognized valuation models for determining fair values of over-
the-counter interest rate swaps, FX options, variance swaps, currency swaps and forward
foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward
pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various
inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and
interest rate curves. For these financial instruments, inputs into models are market observable
and are therefore included within curves.
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4. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

For these financial instruments, inputs into models are market observable and are therefore
included within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of over-the-counter options on
traded equity securities are calculated using an option pricing model by reference to the following
market-based inputs: (i) expected volatility; (ii) expected dividends yield; and (iii) the risk-free rate
of interest, which are all considered to be market observable. Therefore, the fair values of over-
the counter-options on traded equity securities are included within Level 2.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is
categorized.

During the period, the Master Fund did not hold any instruments that were deemed to be Level 3
instruments and no instruments were transferred between levels during the period.
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4. Fair Value of Assets and Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

31December 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Equities and managed funds
Exchange Traded Funds $   3,049,000 - - $   3,049,000

Interest bearing securities
Corporate bonds - 8,037,500 - 8,037,500

Derivatives financial assets
Futures 154,132 - - 154,132
Options 248,850 1,051,750 - 1,300,600
Currency Options - 2,456,487 - 2,456,487
Forward Contracts - 516,511 - 516,511
Interest Rate Swaps - 306,427 - 306,427
Variance Swaps - 851,429 - 851,429

Total Derivatives 402,982 5,182,604 - 5,585,586

$ 3,451,982 $   13,220,104 - $ 16,672,086

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Equities and managed funds
Exchange traded funds $   5,827,800 - - $   5,827,800

Derivatives financial assets
Options 399,900 12,100 - 412,000
Currency Options - 4,961,949 - 4,961,949
Forward Contracts - 803,267 - 803,267
Interest Rate Swaps - 358,952 - 358,952
Variance Swaps - 175,231 - 175,231

Total Derivatives 399,900 6,311,499 - 6,711,399

$ 6,227,700 $    6,311,499 - $ 12,539,199
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5. Derivative contracts

Typically, derivative contracts serve as components of the Master Fundʼs investment strategy and
are utilised primarily to structure and hedge investments, to enhance performance and reduce
risk to the Master Fund (the Master Fund does not designate any derivative as a hedging
instrument for hedge accounting purposes). The derivative contracts that the Master Fund holds
include forwards, futures, exchange traded options and foreign exchange options.

The Master Fund uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks associated primarily with
foreign currency fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments may also be used for trading
purposes where the Investment Manager believes this would be more effective than investing
directly in the underlying financial instruments.

Derivatives often reflect at their inception only a mutual exchange of promises with little or no
transfer of tangible consideration. However, these instruments frequently involve a high degree of
leverage and are very volatile. A relatively small movement in the underlying of a derivative
contract may have a significant impact on the profit or loss of the Master Fund.

During the period, the Master Fund had positions in the following types of derivatives:

Forwards and futures
Forward and futures contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial
instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customized contracts
transacted in the OTC market. Futures contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on
regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash margin requirements. The main differences in
the risk associated with forward and futures contracts are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Master
Fund has credit exposure to the counterparties of forward contracts. The credit risk related to
future contracts is considered minimal because the exchange ensures that these contracts are
always honored. Forward contracts are settled gross and, therefore, considered to bear a higher
liquidity risk than the future contracts which are settled on a net basis. Both types of contracts
result in market risk exposure.

Options
Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser
either to buy or sell a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed
future date or at any time within a specified period.

The Master Fund purchases and sells put and call options through regulated exchanges and
OTC markets. Options purchased by the Master Fund provide the Master Fund with the
opportunity to purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed-upon
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5. Derivative contracts (continued)

Options (continued)
value either on or before the expiration of the option. The Master Fund is exposed to credit risk on
purchased options only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value.

Options written by the Master Fund provide the purchaser the opportunity to purchase from or sell
to the Master Fund the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before the
expiration of the option. None of the options at the period end were covered. Options are
generally settled on a net basis.

Swaps
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over
time based on specified notional amounts. Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the
Master Fund with major brokers in which the Master Fund either receives or pays a floating rate
note of interest in return for paying or receiving a fixed rate of interest. The payment flows are
usually netted against each other, with the difference being paid by one party to the other.

Variance swaps relate to contracts taken out by the Master Fund with major brokers in which the
Master Fund trades future realised volatility against current implied volatility.

2013
$ $ $

Assets Liabilities Notional Amount
Derivatives primarily held
for trading purposes
Futures 154,132 - 38
Options 1,300,600 412,000 17,101,104
Currency Options 2,456,487 4,961,949 224,082,500
Forward Contracts 516,511 803,267 897,361,135
Interest Rate Swaps 306,427 358,952 211,350,164
Variance Swaps 851,429 175,231 14,062

5,585,586 6,711,399 1,349,909,003
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6. Offsetting assets and liabilities

The Master Fund is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities presentation
the Statement of Financial Position, in order to enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements. These recognised assets and
liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are either subject to an
enforceable master-netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following right of set off
criteria: the amounts owed by the Master Fund to another party are determinable, the Master
Fund has the right to set off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the
Master Fund intends to set off, and the Master Fundʼs right of setoff is enforceable at law.

As of 31 December 2013, the Master Fund held financial instruments and derivative instruments
that were eligible for offset in the Statement of Financial Position and were subject to a master-
netting arrangement. The master-netting arrangement allows the counterparty to net applicable
collateral held on behalf of the Master Fund against applicable liabilities or payment obligations of
the Master Fund to the counterparty. These arrangements also allow the counterparty to net any
of its applicable liabilities or payment obligations they have to the Master Fund against any
collateral sent to the Master Fund.

The following tables provide disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognised
liabilities presented in the Statement of Financial Position:

(i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii)
As at 31December
2013 Gross Amounts

of Recognized
Assets

Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Statement of

Financial Position

Net Amounts of
Assets presented in

the Statement of
Financial Position

Derivative Assets USD USD USD
Interest Rate Swaps 306,427 - 306,427
Options 1,300,600 - 1,300,600
Variance Swaps 851,429 - 851,429
Future Contracts 154,132 - 154,132
Forward Contract 516,511 - 516,511
Currency Option 2,456,487 - 2,456,487

Total 5,585,586 - 5,585,586
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6. Offsetting assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) (iv) (v) = (iii)
–(iv)

Gross Amounts Not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

Net Amounts of
Assets presented

in the Statement of
Financial Position

Financial
Instruments

Cash Collateral
Received

Net
Amount

Counterparties USD USD USD USD
Bank of America 81,114 39,469 - 41,645
Citigroup Inc. 378,167 - - 378,167
Deutsche Bank AG 3,409,708 3,409,708 - -
JP Morgan Chase & Co 863,322 318,889 - 544,433
Morgan Stanley 853,275 12,100 - 841,175

Total 5,585,586 3,780,166 - 1,805,420

(i) (ii) (iii) = (i) – (ii)
As at 31December 2013

Gross Amounts
of Recognized

Liabilities

Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Statement of

Financial Position

Net Amounts of
Liabilities

presented in the
Statement of

Financial
Position

Derivative Liabilities USD USD USD
Forward Contracts 803,267 - 803,267
Interest Rate Swaps 358,952 - 358,952
Options 412,000 - 412,000
Variance Swaps 175,231 - 175,231
Currency Options 4,961,949 - 4,961,949

Total 6,711,399 - 6,711,399

(iii) (iv) (v) = (iii)
–(iv)

Gross Amounts Not offset in the
Statement of Financial Position

Net Amounts of
Liabilities

presented in the
Statement of

Financial Position
Financial

Instruments
Cash Collateral

Pledged
Net

Amount
Counterparties USD USD USD USD
Bank of America 39,469 39,469 - -
Deutsche Bank AG 6,236,827 3,409,709 2,827,118 -
HSBC Holdings PLC 104,114 - - 104,114
JP Morgan Chase & Co 318,889 318,889 - -
Morgan Stanley 12,100 12,100 - -

Total 6,711,399 3,780,167 2,827,118 104,114
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7. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares

The authorised share capital of the Master Fund is $50,000 divided into 10 founder shares of $1
par value each and 4,999,000 ordinary shares of $0.01 par value each, €50,000 divided into
5,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 par value each, £50,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary
shares of £0.01 par value each and ¥5,000,000 divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares of ¥1.00
par value each.

The redeemable participating shares provide investors with the right to require redemption for
cash at a value proportionate to the investorʼs share in the Master Fundʼs net assets at each
monthly redemption date and also in the event of the Master Fundʼs liquidation.

The rights attaching to the redeemable participating shares are as follows:

Redeemable participating shares may be redeemed on the last business day of each month; on
the provision that day is a business day for the Master Fund, at the net asset value per share of
the respective share class. If that day is not a business day for the Master Fund, shares may be
redeemed on the immediately preceding business day. The Shareholder must request such
redemption at least 30 calendar days prior to the proposed redemption day or such other day as
the Investment Manager may determine. Redeemable Shares in voting classes have the right to
receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Master Fund. The classes in issue
which have voting rights are classes Class A USD and Class B GBP. Gains/losses from forward
foreign exchange contracts held for share class hedging purposes are attributed to the relevant
share class only.

The analysis of movements in the number of redeemable Shares and net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable Shares during the period was as follows:

Outstanding at
14 March 2013 Issued Redeemed

Outstanding at 31
December 2013

USD Class A - 1,004,836.70 (14,123.18) 990,713.52
GBP Class B - 3,010.92 - 3,010.92

- 1,007,847.62 (14,123.18) 993,724.44
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7. Share Capital and Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

Capital management
As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Fund can vary depending
on the demand for redemptions and subscriptions to the Fund. The Fund is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements and has no legal restrictions on the issue or redemption
of redeemable shares beyond those included in the Fundʼs constitution.

The Fundʼs objectives for managing capital are:

 To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected
return indicated in its prospectus

 To achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in diversified portfolio,
by participating in derivative and other capital markets and by using various investment
strategies and hedging techniques

 To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Fund, and to meet redemption
requests as they arise

 To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Fund cost-efficient

Refer to Financial risk management objectives and policies for the policies and processes applied
by the Fund in managing its capital.

8. Commitments and contingencies

There are no commitments or contingencies as at 31 December 2013.

9. Organisation Costs

As set out in the Offering Memorandum, expenses associated with the organisation of the Master
Fund were not expected to exceed $160,000, which will be amortised over 60 months. However,
actual expenses incurred by the Master Fund, for organisation costs, were $331,196 and have
been approved by the board of directors of the Master Fund.
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10. Related parties

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is entitled to remuneration for their services. Fees will be paid to the
Directors in an amount up to $25,000 each per annum per Director prorated across both the
Master Fund and the Fund. This is payable in advance, together with their out of pocket
expenses.

Administrator
The Master Fund has appointed HedgeServ Limited, a fund administration company incorporated
in the Republic Ireland, to provide administrative services to the Master Fund. Administration fees
charged during the period amounted to $191,500, of which $25,000 were payable at year end.

Custodian
The Master Fund appointed RBC Investor Services Bank S.A, a company incorporated with
limited liability in Luxembourg to provide custodial services to the Master Fund. The custodian
fees charged during the period amounted to $48,000,and as at 31 December 2013 the fees
payable were $10,177.

Founder Shares
All Founder Shares are held by APQ Capital Management Limited (the “Manager”).

11. Subsequent events

Subsequent to year end, the Master Fund received subscriptions of $992,424 and paid out
redemptions of $16,362,088.

12. Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Master Fund on 15 April
2014.
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Manager
APQ Capital Management Limited
c/o MourantOzannes Corporate Services
(Cayman)
Limited
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay
PO Box 1348
Grand Cayman KY-1108
Cayman Islands

Registered Office
c/o MourantOzannes Corporate Services
(Cayman) Limited
94 Solaris Avenue
Camana Bay PO Box 1348
Grand Cayman KY-1108
Cayman Islands

Investment Manager
APQ Partners LLP
3rd Floor
22-23 Old Burlington St
London W1s 2JJ
United Kingdom

Auditors
Ernst & Young Ltd.
Suite 6401, 62 Forum Lane
Camana Bay
PO Box 510
Grand Cayman
KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

Non-executive Directors of the Master Fund
Mr. Todd Groome (appointed 21/03/2013)
Mr. Gary Linford (appointed 14/03/2013)
Mr. Ian C. Cadby (resigned 27/03/2013)

Prime Brokers
Deutsche Bank AG
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB
United Kingdom

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Citigroup Centre, Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5LB
United Kingdom

Legal Advisers to the Trust
Akin Gump LLP (for United Kingdom)
Eighth Floor, Ten Bishops Square
London
E1 6EG
United Kingdom

MourantOzannes (in Cayman)
94 Solaris Avenue, Camana Bay
PO Box 1348
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

Custodian
RBC Investor Services Bank S.A.
Dublin Branch
Georgeʼs Quay House
43 Townsend Street

Administrator
HedgeServ Limited
75 St. Stephenʼs Green
Dublin 2
Ireland

244



Perivan Financial Print  241943


	241943 Project Albert pp001-pp019
	241943 Project Albert pp020-pp027
	241943 Project Albert pp028-pp049
	241943 Project Albert pp050-pp061
	241943 Project Albert pp062-pp066
	241943 Project Albert pp067-pp087
	241943 Project Albert pp088-pp106
	241943 Project Albert pp107-pp124
	241943 Project Albert pp125-pp167
	241943 Project Albert pp168-pp209
	241943 Project Albert pp210-imp

